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The DDM Holding AG  
2022 Annual Report 
 
DDM Holding AG (“DDM” or the 
“Company”) is a Swiss company 
headquartered in Zug. Corporate 
registration number CHE-115906312. 
DDM together with its subsidiaries are 
referred to as the “Group”. 
 
Values are expressed in euro (EUR), 
thousands of euros as EUR 000s and 
millions of euros as EUR M. Unless 
otherwise stated, figures in 
parentheses relate to the preceding 
financial year, 2021. 
 
Data on markets and competitors are 
DDM’s own estimates, unless another 
source is specified. This report 
contains forward-looking statements 
that are based on the current 
expectations of DDM’s management. 
Although management believes that 
the expectations reflected in such 
forward-looking statements are 
reasonable, no assurance can be 
given that such expectations will prove 
correct. Accordingly, results could 
differ materially from those implied in 
the forward-looking statements as a 
result of factors including changes in 
economic, market and competitive 
conditions, changes in the regulatory 
environment and other government 
actions, fluctuations in exchange rates 
and other factors. 
 
Arctic Securities AS, Sweden branch 
is DDM Holding AG’s Certified 
Adviser. 
 
DDM’s annual and interim reports are 
available in English from the 
Company’s website >>.  
 
Any questions regarding financial data 
published by DDM may be submitted 
to: DDM’s Investor Relations, tel. +41 
41 766 1420 or email: investor@ddm-
group.ch 
 
Photos: Shutterstock (cover),  
Jacqueline Fellmann (pages 5, 16 & 
17). Illustration: Idéfolket (page 8). 
 
© 2023 DDM Holding AG.  
   All rights reserved. 

http://ddm-group.ch/investors/financial-reports
http://ddm-group.ch/investors/financial-reports
http://ddm-group.ch/investors/financial-reports
http://ddm-group.ch/investors/financial-reports
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2022 Highlights 

 

 
 

This is DDM  

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For more information, see 
Accounting policies, page 34. 
Glossary and Financial definitions 
can be found on page 81. 
 

  2022 
 

Extended the maturity of the 
EUR 18m senior secured notes 
from 30 June 2022 to 31 March 
2023, with a partial repayment of 
EUR 12.5m made on 7 July 2022 
 
Acquired 50.2% of AxFina 
Holding SA, a pan European 
debt servicing provider and a key 
partner for DDM’s loan 
portfolios in July 
 
 
 
 

    
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

A well-diversified platform across financial assets and services  
 

DDM is a specialized multinational investor in situations arising out of the general strategic 
challenges in the European banking markets. This includes investments into assets and 
companies previously held by financial institutions, including performing and non-performing 
loans and special situations. DDM strives to create value for its stakeholders by combining 
significant expertise in financial services, credit underwriting and technology with a focus on 
operational excellence. DDM Holding AG is domiciled in Switzerland and was founded in 2007; 
its shares are listed on Nasdaq First North Growth Market, Stockholm (ticker symbol: DDM). 
 

DDM has developed state-of-the-art processes for analysis, pricing and management of the 
acquired portfolios through its deep industry experience. In 2019 we launched a servicing 
platform for secured portfolios to increase the focus on portfolio management and business 
development services. This servicing platform complements our partnerships with leading local 
collection agencies to optimize collections from each portfolio, ensuring increased control and 
enabling DDM to be closer to the market. Consequently, DDM has developed a successful 
business model allowing for flexibility, automated processes and speed in decision-making. 
 

For sellers, management of distressed assets is a sensitive issue as it concerns the relationship 
with their customers and therefore their brand reputation. It is therefore critical for sellers that 
the acquirer handles the underlying individual debtors professionally, ethically and with respect. 
DDM has longstanding relations with sellers of distressed assets, based on trust and the 
company’s status as a credible acquirer. DDM’s expertise is key to assess the portfolios, as well 
as to decide how to open up a dialogue with the debtors. The goal is to establish an instalment 
plan and, in the end, achieve an amicable settlement where the debtor has repaid the outstanding 
amount. DDM evaluates a significant number of investment opportunities every year, resulting 
in a deep understanding of the market and the ability to identify the best investment 
opportunities.  
 

The past year has been marked by challenges with borrowers across Europe being faced with 
rising interest rates and an increasingly uncertain macroeconomic and geopolitical environments. 
Banks and other holders of credit exposures are therefore expected to again take a more pro-
active approach to managing their NPL portfolios. We therefore expect the NPL investment 
market to become more attractive again in the course of 2023. We will continue to be disciplined 
in the sourcing of new business and monitor investment opportunities across our region on an 
opportunistic basis. The DDM Debt Group has positioned itself well for growth in by actively 
working both in existing and new markets. We have also entered new markets by teaming up 
with strategic partners and co-investors where we see significant investment opportunities at 
attractive prices.  
 
Key financial highlights below include non-IFRS alternative performance measures that represent underlying business 
performance. Further details including a reconciliation to IFRS can be found on page 80. 
 

Financial overview   
EUR M 2022 2021  

Income statement:   
Adjusted gross collections 71.9 61.7 
Collection and commission expenses (9.6) (11.6) 
Adjusted net collections 62.3 50.1 
Revenue from management fees 0.6 0.1 
Adjusted cash EBITDA 50.6 38.9 
Share of net profits of associate and joint venture 8.3 3.6 
Operating profit 17.3 13.7 
Adjusted net loss for the year (5.0) (2.9) 
Earnings per share, EUR (0.38) (0.50) 
Cash flow statement:   
Cash flow from operating activities before working capital changes 30.0 22.2 
Cash purchases net of financing of invested assets 35.4 39.5 
Balance sheet:   
Total assets 253.7 248.2 
Net debt 155.5 135.8 
Equity ratio 12.9% 13.7% 
Other:   
Total number of shares outstanding at the end of the year 13,560,447 13,560,447 
Proposed dividend per share, EUR 0.00 0.00 
Number of employees at the end of the year 174 11 
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2022 Highlights 

 

 

 

A well-diversified platform across 
financial assets and services  
DDM’s growth strategy has transformed from its core as an investor and manager of NPLs to a 
specialized multinational investor in situations arising out of the general strategic challenges in 
the European banking markets, including performing and non-performing loans and special 
situations. 
 
We act as an investor and partner for financial institutions in Europe, and during the year we 
have continued to broaden our investments and built up a pan-European investment company 
around Consumer Finance, FinTech, NPLs and Servicing with four key investment lines. 1. 
Consumer Finance & Embedded Finance, 2. Assets & Loans Investments, 3. Servicing & 
Digitalization and 4. Special Situations. The Consumer Finance & Embedded Finance 
investment lines include our investments into Addiko Bank where we hold about 9.9% and our 
investment in Omnio. The Assets & Loans Investments making acquisitions of under 
performing, non-core and non-performing loan portfolios in SEE/CEE markets where the 
company has a long and successful track record across different asset classes and jurisdictions 
with an expertise in complex and non-standard transactions. Servicing & Digitalization with 
captive and 3rd party loan portfolio servicing, business process outsourcing (“BPO”), and digital 
banking solutions to financial institutions and sponsors via AxFina. Special situations include 
opportunistic investment opportunities where for example our stake in Borgosesia gives access 
to Italian distressed (single) banking loans secured on failed/broken property developments with 
a proven local management team and access to proprietary deal flow. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

58%

14%

9%

8%

7%
2%

2%

Net collections* by country 2022

Croatia Hungary Romania Slovenia Poland Czech Republic Other

DDM’s progress 
 
2007 - 2016 
• Listing of DDM Holding AG on  

Nasdaq First North Growth Market, 
Stockholm in 2014 

• Broadened geographic scope: entered 
Czech Republic, Macedonia, Poland, 
Romania, Slovenia and Slovakia 

• In cooperation with large investment 
partners, DDM made significant 
investments in Hungary 

• New issue of 1,940,298 shares, raising 
approximately EUR 7M (SEK 65M) 
before transaction costs 
 

2017  
• EUR 85M of senior secured bonds 

issued at 9.5% to refinance existing debt 
and acquire portfolios, with listing on 
Nasdaq Stockholm 

• New issue of 4,520,149 shares, raising 
approximately EUR 11M (SEK 104M) 
before transaction costs 

• Entered Greece, Croatia and Serbia 
• EUR 10M bridge financing raised 
• EUR 50M of senior secured bonds 

issued at 8%, with listing on Nasdaq 
Stockholm 
 

2018 
• Strategic shift to invest in secured 

corporate portfolios with further 
investments in the Balkans, Hungary and 
the Czech Republic  

• Refinancing raised EUR 12M of senior 
secured bonds 
 

2019 
• Significant investment in Croatia made 

through a 50/50 joint venture with 
B2Holding 

• Further significant investment in Croatia 
and buy-out of co-investor in Greece 

• EUR 27M RCF secured 
• EUR 100M of senior secured bonds 

issued at 9.25% to refinance existing 
bonds and make acquisitions, with listing 
on Nasdaq Stockholm 

• Refinancing raised EUR 18M of senior 
secured bonds 

• Launch of servicing platform for secured 
portfolios  
 

2020 
• Acquired 9.9% stake in Addiko Bank AG  
• Buy-out of majority share co-investor in 

Hungary 
• Restructured Greek transaction resulting 

in accelerated collections of 
approximately EUR 60M  
 

2021 
• EUR 200M of senior secured bonds 

issued at 9% to refinance existing debt 
and make acquisitions, with listing on 
Nasdaq Stockholm 

• Further investments in Romania and 
Croatia 

• Investments in Luxembourg 
• Entered Italy and re-entered Poland 
 
2022 
• Acquired 50.2% of AxFina Holding SA, 

a pan European debt servicing 
provider  

*Adjusted net collections includes the incremental net distribution from associate and joint venture, see page 80 alternative 
performance measures 
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“We have a well-
diversified pan-European 
investment platform 
around Consumer 
Finance, FinTech, NPLs 
and Servicing” 
 

Andreas Tuczka, 
CEO of DDM 
 

 
 
 
 
All figures are in EUR million, unless 
stated otherwise.  
 
* Adjusted gross collections includes 
EUR 22.8M (2021 EUR 15.6M, 2020 
EUR 10.1M, 2019: 7.2M) incremental 
gross distribution from associate and 
joint venture, EUR 3.4M (2021 EUR 
1.0M) distributions from financial 
assets at fair value and EUR nil (2021: 
EUR nil, 2020: EUR nil, 2019: 4.5M) 
sale of invested assets.  
Adjusted cash EBITDA includes EUR 
18.6M (2021 EUR 10.2M, 2020 EUR 
5.3M, 2019: 3.8M) incremental net 
distribution from associate and joint 
venture, EUR 3.4M (2021 EUR 1.0M) 
distributions from financial assets at 
fair value and EUR nil (2020: EUR nil, 
2019: 4.5M) sale of invested assets. 
See Alternative Performance 
Measures on page 80 for further 
details. 

** The equity ratio of the DDM Debt 
Group according to the senior 
secured bond terms. 

 
 

195 204 196

248 254

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total assets

36 36 43
34 33

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total equity

Income statement Balance sheet 

Leverage 

1.5x

2.9x

1.0x

3.6x
3.1x

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Net debt / Adjusted cash EBITDA

22% 21%

30%

22% 22%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Equity ratio**

75%

55%

68%

52%
57%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Operating margin

Efficiency 

Adjusted gross collections 

36%

46%
41%

45%

55%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

LTV (Net debt / ERC)

* 

Adjusted cash EBITDA* 
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CEO’S REPORT   

 

 

 

A well-diversified platform across 
financial assets and services  
 
I am pleased to have been appointed interim CEO of DDM in April 2023 after having 
contributed to the continued success of the DDM Group in various capacities for the past 
couple of years. I have strong and aligned interest of continued success of the group being on 
the UBOs. I have extensive experience in banking and NPL markets and as well as capital 
markets and investment banking. 
 
A well-diversified platform across financial assets and services 
During the year we have continued to broaden our investments and build up a pan-European 
investment company around Consumer Finance, NPLs, Servicing, and FinTech with four key 
investment lines, 1. Consumer Finance & Embedded Finance, 2. Assets & Loans Investments, 
3. Servicing & Digitalization and 4. Special Situations. The Consumer Finance & Embedded 
Finance investment lines include our investments into Addiko Bank where we hold about 9.9% 
and our investment in Omnio. The Assets & Loans Investments making acquisitions of under 
performing, non-core and non-performing loan portfolios in SEE/CEE markets where the 
company has a long and successful track record across different asset classes and jurisdictions 
with an expertise in complex and non-standard transactions. Servicing & Digitalization with 
captive and 3rd party loan portfolio servicing, business process outsourcing (“BPO”), and digital 
banking solutions to financial institutions and sponsors. Special situations include opportunistic 
investment opportunities where our stake in Borgosesia gives access to Italian distressed (single) 
banking loans secured on failed/broken property developments with a proven local 
management team and access to proprietary deal flow. 
 
Agreement for acquisition in Switzerland  
In December 2021 we entered into an agreement to acquire 100% of the share capital of Swiss 
Bankers Prepaid Services AG (“Swiss Bankers”), with closing subject to regulatory approval and 
in October 2022 DDM reached an agreement to combine the acquisition of Swiss Bankers and 
its investment in Omnio with Nordiska Kreditmarknadsaktiebolaget (publ) ("Nordiska"). This 
transaction followed DDM’s strategy to act as an investor and partner for financial institutions 
in Europe and to acquire assets and participations in companies previously held by banks. As 
part of this transaction, DDM would acquire a minority stake in Nordiska. DDM also extended 
its agreement to acquire 100% of the share capital of Swiss Bankers which was initially signed in 
December 2021 and would be assumed by Nordiska. However, on 7 April, DDM have been 
informed by Nordiska that it unfortunately is aborting the process regarding a combination of 
Nordiska with Swiss Bankers and Omnio. DDM has been working on these transactions jointly 
with Nordiska for the previous eight months and was surprised and disappointed about 
Nordiska’s unilateral decision to abandon the transactions. DDM is therefore currently 
evaluation its options on how to proceed. 
 
Strategic acquisition of stake in AxFina 
During the year we acquired about a 50% stake and in debt servicing and business outsourcing 
company AxFina. The company is a pan European debt servicing provider and a key partner for 
DDM’s loan portfolios. In addition to its core debt servicing solutions, AxFina is also providing 
business outsourcing services and digital debt management solutions (“Finastic”) to multiple 
industries. It is active in 7 countries and has c. 160 employees. DDM expects to profit from the 
intended growth of the service revenues of AxFina, both in (third party) debt servicing as well 
as in digital solutions, which complement the asset intensive business of DDM. AxFina will also 
facilitate new market entries for DDM (e.g. in Poland, where AxFina has recently established a 
presence). By taking a direct stake in its key debt servicing partner, DDM is following a well-
established industry practice and expects its core NPL business to benefit from a closer 
collaboration between DDM and AxFina. AxFina will remain an independently run company. 
The acquisition strengthens DDM’s equity story to accelerate into a pan-European investment 
company around NPLs, Servicing, Consumer Finance and FinTech. 
 
 
   
 

  

Andreas Tuczka,  
CEO of DDM 
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“DDM is well-
positioned with 
approximately EUR 
52m of cash available 
to invest at 31 
December” 
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Earnings 2022 
 

Adjusted gross collections amounted to EUR 71.9m for the full year 2022, higher than the 
corresponding period last year mainly due to stronger incremental gross distribution from 
associate and joint venture. After deducting commission and collection fees to third parties this 
resulted in. After deducting commission and collection fees to third parties this resulted in EUR 
62.3m of adjusted net collections being received for the full year 2022. Operating expenses were 
EUR 12.3m for the full year 2022, and as a result, adjusted cash EBITDA totaled EUR 50.6m 
for the full year 2022, equating to a high cash conversion ratio of above 80% for FY 2022 as a 
percentage of adjusted net collections. Operating profit includes EUR 2.4m of upwards 
revaluation recognized on portfolios located in Slovenia and Czech Republic. 
 
Share of net profits of joint venture and financial assets at fair value  
The results for the full year 2022 include EUR 8.3m share of net profits of joint venture under 
the equity method of accounting, following a strong performance of the Solaris joint venture. 
The incremental net distribution from the joint venture was EUR 19.7M that has been received 
as a cash distribution during the full year 2022. 
 

Estimated Remaining Collections 
ERC in relation to invested assets at 31 December 2022 stands at EUR 284m, corresponding to 
a decrease of 5% compared to 31 December 2021, as a result of investments acquired partially 
offset by the collections that have been received during 2022 but is expected to increase during 
2023 as available funds are being invested. About 70% of the collections are expected to be 
received within the next three years and the composition of the portfolios that are secured is 
approximately two thirds of the ERC over the next three years at 31 December 2022. 
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DDM is a specialized multinational investor in situations arising out of the 
general strategic challenges in the European banking markets. This includes 
investments into assets and companies previously held by financial 
institutions, including performing and non-performing loans and special 
situations. DDM strives to create value for its stakeholders by combining 
significant expertise in financial services, credit underwriting and technology 
with a focus on operational excellence. We work in close and longstanding 
relations with banks and financial institutions and provide solutions to recover 
outstanding distressed assets.  
Revenues in the non-performing loans industry stem from the margin created by acquiring loan 
portfolios at a discount and then collecting the outstanding debt. There are two main categories 
of distressed assets. Corporate is made up of distressed obligations held by one company against 
another. Some of the major international investment banks are active as acquirers of this type of 
portfolios. 

The second category is distressed consumer debt, i.e. debt held against consumers that for some 
reason is not fully and/or promptly served. The traditional way for a company that holds such 
debt has been to give an assignment to a collection company. The collection company would 
then, acting as an agent, attempt to collect as much as possible and for this service charge a 
commission based on the collected amount. 

DDM’s investments mainly have an investment value of EUR 5–100M. Sellers are primarily 
financial institutions, typically international banks with presence in several countries in Southern, 
Central and Eastern Europe. We have established relationships with sellers throughout the 
industry and as DDM is able to take on a leading position, we get repeat business as well as access 
to financial co-investors. Since 2015 significant portfolio acquisitions have been made containing 
secured assets in addition to corporate receivables. These acquisitions have accelerated the 
collection profile with the majority of collections expected to be received in the first three years 
of investment. Co-investment structures with third parties are opportunities for DDM to grow 
and gain access to invest in larger NPL portfolios across the SCEE market, whilst sharing the 
risks and returns with the co-investment partner. 
 

DDM key market segments, performing and non-performing assets  
 

 
1 

DDM’s (in orange) and AxFina’s (blue) activites are focusing on specific segments of the overall market. 

Our business model is supporting sellers and debtors  
DDM’s business model is based on our extensive experience and expertise from the NPL 
industry and proprietary data in combination with in-house and independent debt collection 
agencies providing the services according to DDM’s specifications.  

In general, the market players can be divided into two strategic groups by the business models 
prevalent, namely: debt collection through in-house or external collection agencies. DDM is 
different from most of its peers due to our business model, which is based on partially 
outsourcing debt collection to external collection agencies and access to a portfolio management, 
business development, servicing and technology platform that it launched during 2019. 

 

 

 

Incentives for sellers to use DDM 
 
Banks in Southern, Central and 
Eastern Europe are generally subject 
to the same driving forces as Western 
European banks when it comes to 
selling their distressed assets. These 
include their need to focus on their 
core operations and to improve their 
capital adequacy ratios and cash 
positions. 
 
 
Incentive 1 
In many cases, removing distressed 
assets from their balance sheets 
helps banks meet regulatory 
requirements. 
 
We acquire distressed assets 
outright, removing them from our 
clients’ balance sheets, and providing 
immediate liquidity and freeing up 
reserves. Generally, selling to us 
enables clients to recover capital 
much faster than through a traditional 
debt collection company. 
 
Incentive 2 
Selling distressed assets allows 
banks to focus on their core activities 
as distressed asset management can 
be difficult and divert management 
focus and other scarce resources. 
 
Incentive 3 
By selling distressed assets to a 
respected debt purchaser such as 
DDM, banks reduce their reputational 
risk. Banks and financial institutions 
seeking to sell distressed assets often 
work directly with us. 
 
This is attributable to our track-record, 
experience in closing transactions 
and our method of both managing the 
performance of our portfolios, and of 
carefully selecting our collection 
partners. 

Capabilities to manage assets 
 
 

BUSINESS MODEL 
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The acquiring and managing of debt and the subsequent collection on debts, together the 
distressed assets industry, is an integral part of the finance and credit systems. As an experienced 
investor and manager DDM understands the sellers’ demands and expectations. In combination 
with a strict ethical approach throughout the process, DDM has gained a strong reputation within 
this growing industry and enjoys strong business relationships with sellers, mainly major banks 
and other financial institutions in the countries in which we are operating. 

DDM has created a proprietary software system that drives efficiency and productivity, as well 
as providing significant intellectual property to further provide time and cost-efficient processes. 
This enables DDM to deliver effective and reliable solutions to assure the sellers’ their reputation 
and successfully manage and support the debt recovery process. 

An open dialogue with the debtor is key to reaching an amicable settlement. DDM’s goal is to 
reach mutual understanding of the situation in order to offer an affordable instalment plan for 
the debtor. There are different reasons for each debtor to become delinquent, however the 
majority want to overcome their difficulties. With a professional approach, we are able to resolve 
their financial condition and the former debtor is again a potential consumer.  

Key drivers and trends 
2022 continued to be a challenging year across the world as a result of the ongoing adverse impact 
on global business and economic activity. Borrowers across Europe was faced with rising interest 
rates and an increasingly uncertain macroeconomic and geopolitical environments. Banks and 
other holders of credit exposures are therefore expected to again take a more pro-active approach 
to managing their NPL portfolios. We therefore expect the NPL investment market to become 
more attractive again in the course of 2023. We will continue to be disciplined in the sourcing of 
new business and monitor investment opportunities across our region on an opportunistic basis. 
 

Competition overview  
Southern, Central and Eastern European NPL markets continue to offer opportunities for 
growth and have held up well during the past couple of years despite the Covid-19 pandemic. 
These core regions are expected to continue to be supportive and DDM is well-positioned to 
capitalize on the NPL volumes expected in the future at attractive prices. 

Since 2007, DDM has built a successful platform in the SCEE region and has acquired more 
than 2 million receivables with a nominal value of over EUR 4 billion. Initially DDM invested in 
consumer, unsecured debt and gradually shifted towards being an investor and manager of 
secured, corporate debt. DDM has identified two further strategic areas that are complementary 
to its core NPL business, being consumer finance following the strategic investments in Addiko 
Bank and agreement to acquire Swiss Bankers, fintech with its investment in Omnio and debt 
servicing following the launch of a servicing platform. DDM previously worked with a large 
network of trusted debt collection agencies that collected the assets on behalf of DDM and in 
2019 launched a platform for the work-out and servicing of secured debt that subsequently 
became a related third-party debt servicer, outsourcing and digital partner, before 50.2% of the 
platform was acquired by DDM in 2022 and another part at the beginning of 2023 bringing the 
total to about 75%. These factors together with a highly skilled experienced organization and 
strong relationships with selling banks that view DDM as a trusted and reputable partner puts us 
in a strong position.  

 

 

 

Business 
drivers 

BUSINESS MODEL 
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DDM focuses on the most profitable part of the distressed asset value chain – 
the acquisition and recovery management of assets mainly sold by financial 
institutions in Southern, Central and Eastern Europe.   

DDM’s view that Southern, Central and Eastern Europe is a more immature market, where 
flexibility, speed in decision-making, and reputation while maintaining standardized processes are 
key success factors. As a result, Southern, Central and Eastern Europe presents an interesting 
potential, as the adoption of selling loan portfolios is a relatively new and increasing feature in 
comparison to mature Western European markets.  

Below is an illustration of the value chain with DDM key activities marked in orange. To be 
successful in the acquisition process, DDM has developed state-of-the-art processes for analysis, 
pricing and management of the acquired portfolios based on the team’s deep industry experience. 

To manage the acquired portfolios, DDM’s strategy is to access a platform of portfolio 
management servicing that it launched during 2019 for certain portfolios and to partner up with 
outsourced collection agencies in certain local markets, in order to optimize collections from each 
portfolio. These processes are built into DDM’s proprietary IT system FUSION, either as 
business rules or as an automated process. As a result of DDM partially outsourcing the collection 
process and having access to a platform of portfolio management servicing, the Company can 
select the best-suited collection agency for a specific group of receivables, ensuring increased 
control and enabling DDM to be closer to the market. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acquisition of distressed assets 
Historically, banks have sold loan portfolios in larger chunks, which require significant resources 
available for investment and capacity to hold the portfolio for the duration between investment 
and collection. Although banks have started to split these in smaller portions, the business 
experiences idiosyncratic risks, which promotes the need for enterprises to invest heavily in 
different prospects for diversification purposes. 

As a reference on the cost and size of portfolios, DDM typically targets portfolios with an 
investment value of EUR 5-50M. In addition to having access to capital, enterprises engaged in 
loan portfolio transactions need to have the knowledge and resources to evaluate potential 
prospects to be successful. This holds especially true during the turmoil associated with 
recessions, where increases in NPLs drive portfolio prices down, while at the same time increasing 
the risks of not being able to collect the outstanding debt. To address this issue, advanced 
integrated systems are used to evaluate loan portfolio attractiveness. 

Asset management 
DDM manages this through its proprietary IT system called FUSION. One of the most critical 
factors when acquiring portfolios is that enterprises must have access to an efficient collection 
process, which includes the correct and ethical treatment of debtors, since selling banks and 
financial institutions are concerned about maintaining their reputation and relationship with 
clients, as well as debtors. Consequently, this implies that even though an enterprise has the 
required cash and enough knowledge to enter the industry, it may prove impossible to actually 
acquire and initiate a relationship with selling financial institutions if unable to ensure that it can 
handle debtors appropriately. 

 

The value 
chain 

Overview of the value chain – DDM’s activities are marked in orange. 

 

BUSINESS MODEL 

 

         Debt                               

Favoured partner:  
DDM is the expert 
providing know-how and 
best practice 

Managing the process: 
Strong controls via 
automated processes 
for performance and 
compliance 

Outsourcing:  
Established debt collection 
network throughout SCEE 
AxFina Servicing platform:  
Work out for larger secured 
portfolios 

Acquisition and collection of distressed assets 

Asset management Acquisition of 
distressed assets  

Distressed assets 
Performing &  

Non-performing 

Consumer and  
corporate  

assets collection                               
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Asset acquisition process 
In essence, the sales process for a distressed asset portfolio can be conducted as an open tender, 
direct sales or forward-flow transaction. 

Open tender 
In an open tender, the Group bids on a particular portfolio which is openly offered to several 
potential acquirers.  
 
Direct sales 
In a direct sales process, DDM engages with the relevant seller bilaterally and negotiates tailored 
terms. Direct sales transactions are generally beneficial for DDM as price transparency and price 
pressure are generally low, and as they give DDM a greater influence over the final composition 
of the portfolio and thereby the possibility to tailor it to fit the prevailing investment appetite. 
 
For some sellers of portfolios, the sales process is highly sensitive from a marketing perspective 
and therefore the seller sometimes prefers to perform sales on a bilateral basis rather than 
through an open tender. DDM has made a significant part of its past historical investments from 
such bilateral transactions, something that highlights its deep and extensive contact-network and 
deal-making capability in its core markets.  
 
Forward-flow transactions 
In forward-flow transactions, an agreement is made for purchases of distressed asset portfolios 
that fulfil certain criteria on an on-going, regular basis. Forward-flow transactions might be a 
part of building long-term business relationships, as well as reducing transaction costs. 
Historically DDM acquired some portfolios through forward-flow transactions, however there 
are no such transactions currently in place. 
 
Portfolio management process 
Operating in the distressed asset industry, DDM is aware of the importance of managing its 
collection-partner relations for various reasons, including but not limited to, protecting the 
seller’s reputation and ensuring correct and ethical debtor treatment as well as data 
confidentiality. 

Referral 
As DDM partially outsources the collections process it can select a collection agency suitable for 
collection of a particular asset. Stemming from its geographic focus on Southern, Central and 
Eastern Europe and early presence in some of these markets, DDM has strong relationships 
with top collectors in its markets and knows their relative strengths. Examples of selection 
criteria of a debt collector include size, age, type and geography of the acquired asset portfolio. 

Monitoring 
After a portfolio has been placed with a collection agency, DDM monitors the collection 
performance, in order to optimize the conversion level within the required cost budget and time 
frame.  

 

Our 
processes 

BUSINESS MODEL 

 

When DDM is presented with an 
opportunity to acquire a portfolio, an 
analysis of the available data is 
performed and an indicative price is 
calculated. Typical data requested 
includes: 
• Outstanding principal, interest and 

fees amount per debtor and case, 
age of debt and monthly payment 
history per case, date of birth and 
other related debtor information, co-
debtors and/or guarantor information 

• Vendors underwriting standards; 
historical collection approach and 
current collection stage (pre-legal, 
legal, etc.), number of ongoing 
instalment programs 

• Detailed information about 
collaterals or other securities (if 
applicable), types, age, location and 
related values 

 
With the above input data, an analysis 
is performed with emphasis on: 
• Checking all of the data, searching 

for and reconciling inconsistencies  
• Considering the key factors 

affecting success rates in 
collection, including age and scale 
of the assets, collateral, bailiff 
procedures as well as  availability 
and completeness of underlying 
documentation 

• Analyzing the reported recovery 
rates, looking for trends, inconsist-
encies and potential to improve 

• Assessing underlying collaterals 
and projecting estimated recoveries 

• Considering what collection strategy 
has been applied, and for how long  

• Taking existing payment plans into 
account and how they have been 
serviced 

  
Based on this analysis, we evaluate 
the portfolio and produce a forecast for 
future collections on case level. Key 
factors include: 
• Conducting scenario analysis (i.e. 

best case, worst case) based on 
underlying asset valuation, 
collection history as well as internal 
and external benchmarks 

• Enhancing the current collection 
strategy by applying the best tool 
and selecting the best agent for 
every case   

• Looking for seasonality, i.e. a 
predictable change in a time series 
that recurs or repeats over a one-
year period, and applying these in 
the forecast  

• Capturing recurring patterns that 
could affect the performance of the 
portfolio (holidays, additional 
monthly salary/bonuses, tax 
refunds)  
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1. The starting point is the face (nominal) value of the acquired asset portfolios times the price paid as a 
percentage of the nominal value, which typically is at a significant discount to the face value. Multiplying the 
purchase price with the assumed gross cash multiple results in the anticipated future cash flows which equals 
the gross Estimated Remaining Collections (“ERC”). The gross ERC is the sum of future, undiscounted 
projected cash collections before commission & fees from acquired portfolios and future reasonably expected 
dividends, distributions or other payments from investments, in each case for the next following 120 months, 
either directly or as a result of any rights to collect or any rights to participate in amounts generated from 
portfolios or investments. This includes the Group’s share of proceeds on all portfolios purchased or other 
investments made, however adjusted for any profit-sharing arrangements entered into by any member of the 
Group and where available the market value of any portfolio acquired or investment made. ERC is not a 
balance sheet item, however it is provided for informational purposes as a common measure in the debt 
purchasing industry. ERC may be calculated differently by other companies and may not be comparable. 

2. If deducting the collection costs (commission & fees) and operating expenses from the gross ERC it results 
in the adjusted cash EBITDA (net collections including the sale of invested assets, incremental net 
distributions from joint ventures and associates and revenue from management fees, less operating 
expenses). Adjusted cash EBITDA could also be described as the remaining amount the company has 
available to service its debt. 

If in addition, deducting amortization on the portfolios, financing costs and tax from adjusted cash EBITDA it 
results in the Adjusted net earnings. 

 

 
 

BUSINESS MODEL 

 The timing of cash flows and the rate of collections varies due to a number of 
factors including, but not limited to, year of origination, average age, average 
amount per case, type of underlying receivable and previous treatment. 
 

DDM’s business model can be explained in a simplified way according to the below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Illustrative 
economics 

1 

2 

Face 
value of 
acquired 
portfolios 

Price paid, % 
(significant 
discount to 
face value) 

Cash 
multiple 

Estimated 
remaining 
collections 
(ERC) 

Collection 
costs 

Operating 
expenses 

Financing 
costs & tax 

Amortization 
of portfolio  

Adjusted 
cash 
EBITDA 

x x = 

̶ ̶ 

̶ ̶ 

= 

= 

ESTIMATED 
REMAINING 

COLLECTIONS 
(ERC) 

ADJUSTED 
CASH  

EBITDA 

ADJUSTED 
NET 

EARNINGS 
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Market overview 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

Europe’s banking market and the non-performing loan (NPL) market are facing significant 
uncertainty on the back of tightening monetary policies and increasing interest rates as the 
macroeconomic outlook has worsened with increasing inflation driven by higher energy prices 
following the geopolitical uncertainty and war in Ukraine. This is expected to result in increasing 
default rates and increasing NPL volumes that the banking sector will have to address.  
 

The amount of NPLs across Europe will depend on the economy and its ability to hold up and 
recover following the challenges with increasing inflation, unemployment, and worsening GDP 
outlook, the behavioural response by people and governments (e.g., consumer, business and 
government spending), and the idiosyncrasies of individual sectors (e.g., trends in travel for the 
hospitality and aviation sectors).  
 

Macroeconomics 
The economies across Europe also remain fragile after the pandemic and the geopolitical 
uncertainty following the start of the war in Ukraine. Inflation was fueled by increasing energy 
prices and supply disruptions to thereafter broaden out to wage and food price increases. These 
forces will weigh on already decelerating growth and weakness in real consumption growth.  
 

Continued deterioration in market conditions will prompt banks to scrutinise borrowers’ ability 
to make loan payments. It may also prompt asset value readjustments and a spike in banks’ NPL 
ratios. Ultimately, rising NPL ratios will either trigger a spike in NPL activity, restrict new lending, 
or some combination of the two. 
 

 
 

DDM is well-positioned to benefit from 
a NPL market recovery 

 

“DDM has positioned 
itself well for growth by 
actively working both in 
existing markets across the 
SCEE and by entering 
new markets where we see 
investment opportunities at 
attractive prices.” 

  

 

MARKET   
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DDM’s overarching goal for corporate responsibility is to build sustainable 
long-term values together with our key stakeholders.  

DDM’s primary stakeholders are sellers of distressed assets, employees, debtors, shareholders, 
investors, business partners, authorities and the local community. These groups are important 
for our long-term success. 

DDM’s stakeholders 
CORPORATE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

 

EMPLOYEES 
DDM is striving to attract  

committed colleagues,  
and to be a collaborative and  

effective organization. 

SOCIETY 
DDM strives to actively contribute  
to a well-structured management  
of distressed debt of corporations  
as well as individuals. 

DEBTORS 
DDM encourages a dialogue aimed at 
reaching an amicable, correct and quick 
settlement in a respectful manner. 

AUTHORITIES 
All business and other activities of DDM 
shall be carried out in compliance with 
applicable laws and under the principles  
of good corporate citizenship. 

SELLERS 
DDM is dedicated to  
managing our clients’  

reputation and ensuring  
a long-term relationship. 

BUSINESS PARTNERS 
In co-operation with our partners,  

DDM strives to implement  
best practice and sustainable  

collection methods. 

SHAREHOLDERS / 
BONDHOLDERS / INVESTORS 
DDM shall create enduring value for 
its investors by opportunistic deal 
sourcing and optimal management of 
distressed assets. 

 
 
 
Our approach to Corporate Responsibility 
We seek to be part of a solution in the credit market whereby we initiate opportunities for banks 
and financial institutions to divest their portfolios of distressed assets to better meet new and 
future regulations regarding capital adequacy. This, in turn, bolsters the stability of the banking 
sector by helping avoid artificially inflated balance sheets. By doing this, we not only help banks 
“cut their losses” vis-à-vis distressed assets, we also alleviate them of the burden of managing 
and collecting on those assets. 

Our ethical corporate culture embraced by the Executive Management Committee down to all 
levels in the Group, is essential and ensures that all employees perform good judgement and have 
the integrity necessary to handle difficult situations that may arise. Along with policies and 
procedures, our Code of Conduct sets the overall standard on what is and what is not an 
acceptable behavior. 

We select partner collection agencies carefully, making sure they apply professional, respectful 
and ethical methods. We work closely with them to determine which agencies are appropriate for 
collection on certain assets and what measures are appropriate. 

Respectful and ethical treatment of debtors is central to our efforts and the banks who sell their 
portfolios to us pay considerable attention to correct treatment of their customers. Over the 
years, we have demonstrated an ability to actively control the measures and processes 
implemented by the collection agencies. 

Sustainable economy 
 
Our objective is to provide a pivotal 
service in a sound and sustainable 
economy. Our role and position in the 
value chain enables us to add value 
for credit providers on the one hand, 
while alleviating debtors from 
imminent financial hardship and 
helping them settle their debts under 
terms they can afford. 
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Human resources  
DDM Group’s head office is located in Zug, Switzerland. The composition of the DDM team 
reflects the Group’s European outreach.  

At the end of 2022, DDM employed 174 people (2021: 11). The average age of DDM employees 
is 39 years (2021: 42). 

DDM’s policy is to hire the best possible talent and at the same time embrace diversity in all 
levels in the Group, including the Executive Management Committee and the Board of Directors. 

Code of Conduct 
DDM Holding AG, its business units and subsidiaries are committed to carrying out business in 
a sustainable way. According to DDM’s Code of Conduct, the DDM Group shall conduct its 
business in compliance with applicable laws, and under the principles of good corporate 
citizenship in each country where such activities take place. 

DDM offers a platform for economic growth by allowing banks and other financial institutions 
the opportunity to manage their credit exposure. DDM accepts its responsibility in society by 
helping businesses and consumers to restructure and optimize their lending and borrowing. The 
Company strives to maintain the highest legal and ethical standards in all its business practices. 

The Environment 
Due to the nature of business activities, DDM’s most significant impact on the environment is 
through business travel and the production of material. The Code of Conduct is in place to 
increase employee awareness of environmental issues and complies with relevant regulatory 
requirements. 

Anti-corruption 
No DDM company or any of its employees may, directly or indirectly, promise, offer, pay, solicit, 
or accept bribes or kickbacks of any kind, including money, benefits, services or anything of 
value. Such payments and favors may be considered bribery, which violates local legislation and 
internationally recognized principles for combating corruption and bribery. 

Each employee is expected to act responsibly and with integrity and honesty, and to comply with 
the Company’s Code of Conduct and its underlying policies and instructions. 

 

 

 

  

CORPORATE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

 

CEO 

Transactions 

Analysis 

CFO 

IT 

COO 

Finance 

Investing in Corporate and Social 
Responsibility 

Board of Directors 

GROUP FUNCTIONS  

DDM Group functions, which support 
both the Executive Management 
Committee and operations, 
strategically and in day-to-day 
operations, are divided into the 
following teams; Transactions, 
Analysis, Portfolio Management, 
Finance and IT. The teams work 
independently with defined goals and 
coordinate their work in dialogue with 
each other. 

CIO 

Portfolio Mgmt. 
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ERIK FÄLLSTRÖM • Board member since 2017 • Chairman of the investment committee • 
Chairman of the remuneration committee 
Born: 1961 • Nationality: Swedish 
Education: Stockholm School of Economics 
Other assignments: Chairman of AEDC Capital Limited and EDC Advisors Ltd. Member of 
the boards of directors of Omnio London Limited, Sivers Semiconductors AB and TLNT 
Holdings S.A. 
Previous assignments (last five years): Member of the boards of directors of European Digital 
Capital Ltd. 
Dependence: Dependent in relation to the company and its principal owners as a major 
shareholder 
Shareholding*: 12,909,873 shares** 
 
JOACHIM CATO • Board member since 2019 • Chairman of the nomination committee since 
2018 • Member of the audit committee since 2019 
Born: 1969 • Nationality: Swedish 
Education: M.Sc in Business and Economics, Växjö University and Oxford Brookes University 
Other assignments: Director of Fund Administration EDC Advisors Ltd, Member of the 
boards of directors of DDM Group Finance S.A., Omnio Sarl, Omnio Holding Sarl, TMS Bond 
TopCo Limited, TMS Bond UKholdco Ltd, Chronos Investment Sarl, Omnione S.A and TLNT 
Holdings S.A. 
Previous assignments (last five years): Head of International Clients in Luxembourg Danske 
Bank A/S 
Dependence: Dependent in relation to the company and its principal owners 
Shareholding*: 0 shares 
 
 

ANDREAS TUCZKA • Board member since 2021 • Chairman of the Board of Directors since 
2022*** 
Born: 1971 • Nationality: Austrian 
Education: PhD (with distinction) and Masters degree in Laws, the University of Vienna 
Other assignments: Managing Director and Co-Founder of AEDC Capital, non-executive 
Director & Chairman of AxFina Holding S.A. and member of the boards of directors of 
Omnione S.A, Aldridge Capital Partners GmbH and AEDC Capital Ltd. 
Previous assignments (last five years): None 
Dependence: Dependent in relation to the company and its principal owners as a major 
shareholder 
Shareholding*: 12,909,873 shares** 

 
 
 
* Shareholding (own and related party holdings) at 31.12.2022 
** Shares held by DDM Group Finance S.A, part of the AEDC Capital Group, which was co-founded by Erik 
Fällström and Andreas Tuczka 
*** Jörgen Durban stepped down from his role as chairman and from the board in the second half of 2022.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
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ANDREAS TUCZKA • Chief Executive Officer* 
Born: 1971 • Nationality: Austrian 
Employed: 2021 (Board member from 2019-2021) 
Education: PhD (with distinction) and Masters degree in Laws, the University of Vienna 
Other assignments: Managing Director and Co-Founder of AEDC Capital, non-executive 
Director & Chairman of AxFina Holding S.A. and member of the boards of directors of 
Omnione S.A, Aldridge Capital Partners GmbH and AEDC Capital Ltd. 
Previous assignments (last five years): None 
Shareholding**: 12,909,873 shares** 
 
 
 
 
FREDRIK OLSSON • Chief Financial Officer* 
Born: 1980 • Nationality: Swedish 
Employed: 2014 
Education: B.Sc. in Accounting and Finance, University of Lund 
Other assignments: None 
Previous assignments (last five years): None 
Shareholding**: 105,429 shares 
 
 
 
 
ALESSANDRO PAPPALARDO • Chief Investment Officer* • Member of the investment 
committee  
Born: 1975 • Nationality: Italian 
Employed: 2018 
Education: Bocconi University, Milan  
Other assignments: None  
Previous assignments (last five years): Chief Investment Officer and member of the Group 
Management Team of Intrum AB   
Shareholding**: 0 shares*** 
 
 
 

* Manager of DDM Holding AG 
** Shareholding (own and related party holdings) at 31.12.2022 
*** Shares held by DDM Group Finance S.A, part of the AEDC Capital Group, which was co-founded by Erik 
Fällström and Andreas Tuczka 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
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  Share data 

Market place: Nasdaq First North 
Growth Market, Stockholm 

Date of listing: 5 August 2014 

Ticker symbol: DDM 

ISIN code: CH0246292343 

Currency: SEK 

 
 
 
 
 

Key data per share 
EUR 2022  2021  
Earnings per 
share (0.38) (0.50) 
Proposed 
dividend / 
Dividend 0.00 0.00 
Number of 
shares at the end 
of year 13,560,447 13,560,447 
Average number 
of shares during 
the year 13,560,447 13,560,447 
 
Certified Adviser 

DDM Holding AG’s Certified Adviser 
on Nasdaq First North Growth Market 
is:  

Arctic Securities AS, Sweden branch 
Regeringsgatan 38 
S-111 56 Stockholm 
Sweden 
Telephone: +46 8 446 861 00 
E-mail: certifiedadviser@arctic.com 
 

 
 
Share capital 
On 31 December 2022, DDM Holding AG’s share capital amounted to CHF 13,560,447 
distributed among 13,560,447 shares with a nominal value per share of CHF 1. Each share entitles 
the holder to one vote and an equal share in the Company’s assets and earnings. 
 

DEVELOPMENT OF THE SHARE CAPITAL IN DDM HOLDING AG   

Date Description 

Change in the 
number of 

shares 

Change in 
share 

capital 

Total 
number of 

shares 

Total share 
capital 
(CHF) 

Nominal 
value 
(CHF) 

16 August 2010 Incorporation 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 1 

25 July 2012 
Ordinary  

capital increase 132,000 132,000 232,000 232,000 1 

10 October 2013 
Ordinary  

capital increase 4,268,000 4,268,000 4,500,000 4,500,000 1 

5 August 2014  
Ordinary  

capital increase 2,600,000 2,600,000 7,100,000 7,100,000 1 

2 June 2016  
Ordinary  

capital increase 1,940,298 1,940,298 9,040,298 9,040,298 1 

3 April 2017 
Ordinary  

capital increase 4,520,149 4,520,149 13,560,447 13,560,447 1 
 

Shareholders 
At the end of 2022 DDM had approximately 105 shareholders. At 31 December 2022, DDM 
Group Finance S.A* was the Company’s largest shareholder with a holding representing 95.2% 
of votes and share capital. The three members of the Executive Management Committee held a 
combined 105,429 shares in DDM at the end of 2022. DDM held 0 treasury shares at the end of 
2022. 
 

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE PER 31 DECEMBER 2022 

Name 
Total number of  

shares (thousands) 
Percentage of  

capital and votes 
DDM Group Finance S.A.*       12,910  95.2 
Nordnet Pensionsförsäkring AB 163  1.2 
Investment AB Öresund 126  0.9 
Olsson, Fredrik 105 0.8 
JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A.        54  0.4 
Söderberg, Jakob  35  0.3 
Stigwan, Lisbeth    30  0.2 
Avanza Pension 27 0.2 
IBKR Financial Services        20  0.1 
SEB Life International       10 0.1 
Total; ten largest owners  13,480  99.4 
Summary others 80 0.6 
Total  13,560  100.0 
Holdings include direct and indirect holdings.              Sources: Euroclear, Computershare and DDM Holding 
*  Part of the AEDC Capital Group  

                                                             
 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES PER 31 DECEMBER 2022 

Number of shares 
Number  

of shareholders 
Percentage of total 

number of shares, % 
1 – 1,000 73 0.1 
1,001 – 5,000 15 0.3 
5,001 – 10,000 5 0.3 
10,001 – 50,000 7 0.9 
50,001 – 100,000 1 0.4 
100,001 – 500,000 3 2.9 
500,001 –  1 95.2 
Total  105 100.0 

Sources: Euroclear, Computershare and DDM Holding 
 
 

 

DDM share and shareholders 
DDM SHARE AND SHAREHOLDERS 

 

mailto:certifiedadviser@arctic.com
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Financial calendar 
 

Interim report January–March 2023: 
30 May 2023 
 
Annual General Meeting 2023: 
29 June 2023 
 
Interim report January–June 2023: 
31 August 2023 
 
Interim report January–September 
2023:  
30 November 2023 
 
Q4 and full year report 2023:  
28 February 2024 
 
Annual report 2023:  
30 April 2024 

 

 

 

 
 
Stock option program  
DDM In July 2021, DDM Group Finance S.A., the parent company of DDM Holding AG, 
established an Employee Stock Option Plan (“ESOP 2021”). The ESOP 2021 is a share-based 
compensation plan where employees and certain members of the Executive Management of the 
wider DDM Group receive additional compensation in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby they render services as consideration for DDM Group Finance S.A’s equity instruments 
(equity-settled transactions). The ESOP is designed to provide long-term incentives for 
employees and members of the Executive Management to deliver long-term shareholder returns. 

Dividend policy and dividend for 2022 
Decisions relating to dividend proposals take into account DDM’s future revenues, financial 
position, capital requirements and the situation in general. The Company is in a phase in which 
exploiting identified opportunities for growth is prioritized. Consequently, shareholders should 
not expect to receive dividends in the next few years. The Board of Directors proposes that no 
dividend be paid for the 2022 financial year. 

Share price and trading 
DDM Holding AG’s share has been listed on Nasdaq First North Growth Market, Stockholm, 
since 5 August 2014. Opening price on the first day of trading was SEK 50.00. During the period 
from 1 January to 31 December 2022, 64,243 shares were traded, on average 253 shares per 
trading day. 

The highest closing price during the period from 1 January to 31 December 2022 was SEK 31.40 
on 10 January and the lowest was SEK 25.80 on 3 March. The share price on 31 December 2022 
was SEK 28 (last price paid). During the period from 1 January to 31 December 2022, DDM’s 
share price decreased by 9%. 

SHARE PRICE DEVELOPMENT, 1 JANUARY 2021 – 31 DECEMBER 2022, SEK  

   
 

>> Source: Nasdaq First North Growth Market 

Quiet periods 
DDM’s quiet period starts at least 20 days prior to publication of the year-end or interim report, 
and ends on the day of the report. During this period, the Company will not comment on its 
financials. Exceptions from this rule can be made in order to correct obvious errors or 
inaccuracies. Investor Relations will respond to questions related to press releases issued during 
this period. 
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DDM SHARE AND SHAREHOLDERS 

 

http://www.nasdaqomxnordic.com/aktier/microsite?Instrument=SSE102079&name=DDM%20Holding
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DDM Holding AG (or the “Company”) is a Swiss limited liability company with 
its shares admitted to trading on a multilateral trading facility, the Nasdaq First 
North Growth Market in Stockholm, Sweden. Thus, the corporate governance 
of DDM is subject to Swiss, Swedish and EU rules and regulations, including 
e.g. the EU Market Abuse Regulation, as further described below. 

Implementation of the Ordinance Against Excessive Compensation at Listed 
Companies 
The Swiss Federal Council (the executive branch of the Swiss federal government) has adopted 
rules against excessive remuneration in listed companies by implementing the Ordinance Against 
Excessive Compensation at Listed Companies (D. Verordnung gegen übermässige Vergütungen bei 
börsenkotierten Aktiengesellschaften) (the "VegüV"). The VegüV applies to corporations organized 
under Swiss law whose shares are listed on a stock exchange in or outside Switzerland. DDM 
implemented the VegüV in 2017.  

The Swedish Code of Corporate Governance  
The Swedish Code of Corporate Governance applies to all companies with shares listed on a 
regulated market in Sweden, such as the main market of Nasdaq Stockholm. The Swedish Code 
shall be fully applied from the time a company’s shares are admitted to trading. Non-Swedish 
companies listed on a regulated market in Sweden may however opt to apply the applicable 
corporate governance code in the country where the company is domiciled. However, although 
being a Swiss company and not listed on the Nasdaq Stockholm main market, DDM aims to 
comply with applicable rules in the Swedish Code. 

The EU Market Abuse Regulation  
The EU’s Market Abuse Regulation (“MAR”) has been applicable to DDM since 3 July 2016. 
MAR is supplemented by a series of delegated regulations and implementing regulations issued 
by the EU Commission and by guidelines issued by the European Securities and Markets 
Authority (ESMA). MAR aims to enhance market integrity and investor protection and applies 
in respect of e.g. issuers and financial instruments admitted to trading on regulated markets, 
multilateral trading facilities and organized trading facilities. 

MAR contains, among other things, rules regarding a prohibition on insider dealing, unlawful 
disclosure and market manipulation; rules prescribing the manner in which issuers are to handle 
and publicly disclose inside information; rules imposing an obligation on issuers to maintain an 
insider list (logbook); and rules regarding reporting obligations in respect of transactions 
performed by persons discharging managerial responsibilities at an issuer or persons closely 
associated with them. 

The Board of Directors of the Company has adopted internal policies to facilitate and safeguard 
DDM’s compliance with MAR and related rules and regulations. 

Governance of the DDM Group 
DDM Holding AG (CHE-115906312) is a company incorporated under Swiss law on 16 August 
2010, with its legal seat in Zug, canton Zug, Switzerland. DDM has twenty subsidiaries as of 31 
December 2022 (2021: fourteen), all of which are wholly-owned except for CE Partner S.à.r.l. 
and CE Holding Invest S.C.S which are partially-owned. DDM Debt AB (publ) is the issuer of 
the senior secured bonds issued in 2021. 

The purpose of corporate governance is to ensure that the Company is managed as effectively as 
possible in the interests of the shareholders, but also that DDM Holding AG complies with the 
rules required by legislators and the stock exchange, among other things in the form of corporate 
governance.  

In addition to compliance with rules and regulations, DDM Holding AG applies internal 
governance instruments, such as the Company Handbook, together with policies in a number of 
areas such as DDM’s Code of Conduct with which all employees must be familiar and in 
accordance with which they must conduct themselves. 

 

Corporate Governance  General Framework 

The aim of corporate governance is to 
ensure that DDM is managed as 
effectively as possible in the interest of 
its shareholders, but also in 
compliance with the rules required by 
legislators and the Nasdaq First North 
Growth Market Rulebook. 

This Corporate Governance section 
explains the principles of 
management and control at the 
highest level of the DDM Group. 

The information contained in this 
report for the financial year 2022 is 
valid as at 31 December 2022, unless 
stated otherwise. The principles and 
rules on corporate governance in 
DDM Holding AG are laid down in the 
articles of association (the “Articles”), 
the Business Rules for the Board of 
Directors (the “Board Rules”), the 
regulations of the Board of Directors’ 
committees and the internal corporate 
governance policies. 
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Articles of Association 
According to the Articles, the purpose of DDM Holding AG is to acquire, hold, administrate, 
finance and sell participations in enterprises in Switzerland and abroad.  

For further information see the Articles section on the Company’s website >>. 

Shareholders’ Meetings 
General 
Shareholders’ rights to resolve on company matters are exercised at the shareholders’ meeting. 
An ordinary shareholders’ meeting is to be held yearly within six months following the close of 
the business year. It is called by the Board of Directors or, if necessary, by the auditors. 

Extraordinary shareholders’ meetings may be called by the Board of Directors, the liquidators or 
the auditors as often as necessary to safeguard the interests of the Company. Shareholders’ 
meetings are held at the domicile of the Company or at such other place as the Board of Directors 
shall determine. 

The Board of Directors, the CEO and the Executive Management Committee, which assists the 
CEO, are responsible for the DDM Group’s administration and operations. 

The shareholders’ meetings will be held in English and information and material will be available 
in English only. The report from the shareholders’ meetings will be published on DDM’s website. 

Right to attend shareholders’ meetings 
All shareholders (i) who hold their DDM shares through Computershare Schweiz AG must be 
registered in the share register of DDM with voting rights or (ii) who hold their DDM shares 
through Euroclear Sweden AB must be registered in the register of shareholders kept by 
Euroclear Sweden AB and obtain an admission card from DDM in order to be entitled to attend 
the shareholders’ meeting and vote according to the number of DDM shares they hold. 

Shareholders may attend shareholders’ meetings in person or through a proxy. Shareholders may 
register for shareholders’ meetings in the ways described in the meeting convening letter. 

Notice of shareholders’ meetings and shareholder initiatives 
Notice of a shareholders’ meeting is given by means of a publication in the Swiss Commercial 
Gazette or by letter to the shareholders of record as well as through a press release. Between the 
day of the publication or the mailing of the notice and the day of the meeting there must be a 
time period of not less than 20 calendar days. The notice of the shareholders’ meeting must 
indicate the agenda and the motions. The notice will also be published on DDM’s website. 

Stating the purpose of the meeting and the agenda to be submitted, one or more shareholders 
representing at least ten percent of the share capital may request the Board of Directors, in writing 
to call an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting. In such case, the Board of Directors must call a 
shareholders’ meeting in due course. 

The Annual General Meeting 2022 
At the end of 2022, DDM had approximately 108 shareholders (end of 2021: approximately 107) 
and DDM Group Finance S.A was the Company’s largest shareholder with a holding 
representing 95.2% of the votes and share capital. For further information on the DDM 
shareholder structure, see page 18 of the Annual Report and DDM’s website >>. 

The AGM resolved: 
- To elect the Chairman for the Day 
- To approve the 2021 annual report, the statutory financial statements and the consolidated 

financial statements 
- To appropriate DDM’s available earnings in accordance with the Board of Directors’ 

proposal in the 2021 Annual Report 
- To discharge the Board of Directors and the Executive Management Committee from 

liability 
- To re-elect Jörgen Durban, Erik Fällström, Joachim Cato and Andreas Tuczka as members 

of the Board of Directors  
- To re-elect Jörgen Durban as Chairman of the Board of Directors 
- To re-elect Erik Fällström and Jörgen Durban as members of the remuneration committee  
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- To re-elect Bratschi AG as independent proxy 
- To re-elect PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Luzern, as the Company’s statutory auditors for 

the business year 2022 
- To approve the compensation report 2021, on a consultative basis and as proposed by the 

Board of Directors 
- To approve the compensation of the members of the Board of Directors for the period 

until the end of the 2023 annual general meeting, the variable compensation of the 
members of the executive management for the business year 2022 and the fixed 
compensation of the members of the executive management for the business year 2023 

- To approve the compensation of DDM Group Finance S.A for brokerage services 
provided by DDM Group Finance S.A to the Company during the business year 2021 as 
proposed by the Board of Directors 

- To extend the authorized share capital to 22 June 2024 

The 2023 Annual General Meeting will be held on 29 June 2023 in Zurich, Switzerland. 
 
The Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is appointed by DDM Holding AG’s owners to bear ultimate 
responsibility for the Company’s organization and the management of the Company’s affairs in 
the best interests of both DDM Holding AG and the shareholders.  

DDM’s Board of Directors are elected for a term of office of one year (or, in case of an election 
at an Extraordinary General Meeting, for a term of office until the next Annual General Meeting), 
with the possibility of repeated re-election. The term of office of a member of the Board of 
Directors will, however, end irrevocably on the date of the Annual General Meeting following 
the 70th birthday of the particular member of the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors constitutes itself, as set out in the Articles of Associations.  
 
The composition of the Board of Directors is set out in section “Board of Directors” on page 
16 in this Annual Report and the members of the Board were elected by the Shareholders’ 
Meeting for a term of office expiring at the Annual General Meeting 2023. 

The Chairman, DDM’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer also usually attend 
the meetings on behalf of the Executive Management Committee. Other members of the Group 
management and other executives may also attend and present reports on individual issues as 
required. 

The Board of Directors is entrusted with the ultimate management of the Company, as well as 
with the supervision and control of the management. 

The Board of Directors is the ultimate executive body of the Company and shall determine the 
principles of the business strategy and policies. The Board of Directors shall exercise its function 
as required by law, the Articles and the Board Rules. 

The Board of Directors shall be authorized to pass resolutions on all matters that are not reserved 
to the general meeting of shareholders or to other executive bodies by applicable law, the Articles 
or the Board Rules. 
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By Swiss law, the Board of Directors has the following non-transferable and inalienable duties: 

a) The ultimate management of the Company and the issuance of the necessary directive; 
b) The establishment of the organization; 
c) The structuring of the accounting system and of the financial controls as well as the financial 

planning insofar as this is necessary to manage the Company;  
d) The appointment and removal of the persons entrusted with the management and 

representation of the Company; 
e) The ultimate supervision of the persons entrusted with the management, in particular in 

relation to compliance with the law, the Articles, regulations, charters and directives; 
f) Preparation of the business report consisting of the annual financial statements and 

consolidated financial statements; 
g) The preparation of the general meeting of shareholders of the Company and the 

implementation of its resolutions; 
h) Notification to the judge in case of a capital loss (“Unterbilanz”) of the Company and in 

case of over indebtedness (“Überschuldung”; art. 725-725a CO); and 
i) Preparation of the remuneration report. 
 
By Swiss law, the Board of Directors also has the following non-transferable competencies: 
Decisions in connection with capital increases pursuant to art. 651a, 652g, 653g CO 
(acknowledgement of capital increase) and art. 651 IV CO (increase of share capital in the case 
of authorized capital); decisions pursuant to art. 634a I CO (shares not fully paid in) and 
resolutions pursuant to the Swiss Merger Act. 
 
The Board’s committees 
The overall responsibility of the Board of Directors cannot be delegated, however the Board may, 
within itself, set up committees which prepare, follow up on and evaluate issues within their 
respective spheres ahead of decisions by the Board. The Board set up an audit committee and a 
remuneration committee in March 2015, an investment committee in March 2016 and a 
nomination committee in February 2018. The committees’ members are appointed at the Board 
Meeting following election held after the Annual General Meeting and their work is governed by 
the committees’ formal work plans and instructions. 

Audit Committee 
The audit committee prepares a number of issues for consideration by the Board and thereby 
supports the Board in its endeavors to fulfil its responsibilities within the areas of auditing and 
internal control and with assuring the quality of DDM’s financial reporting. The audit committee 
meets on a regular basis. The audit committee was comprised of Jörgen Durban (chair) and 
Joachim Cato until Jörgen Durban stepped down from the board. The board then decided to 
perform the tasks of the committee. The committee’s meetings are also attended by DDM’s CFO.  
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Remuneration Committee 
The remuneration committee submits proposals for resolution by the Board regarding 
remuneration and other terms of employment for the Board and the Executive Management 
Committee. The remuneration committee is, furthermore, tasked with submitting proposals 
regarding remuneration principles for the Board and the Executive Management Committee – 
proposals which are then submitted to the Board. The application of the guidelines and relevant 
remuneration structures and levels within the Company is also followed up by the committee.  

The remuneration committee works on the basis of a set of “Instructions for the remuneration 
committee” adopted by the Board of Directors and reports back to the Board on the results of 
its work. The remuneration committee was comprised of Erik Fällström (chair) and Jörgen 
Durban, until Jörgen Durban stepped down from the board. The board then decided to perform 
the tasks of the committee. 

Investment Committee 
The investment committee has been delegated by the Board to assist the Board with selected 
investment-related matters, including strategy matters, significant investment approvals and 
supervision. The Committee is responsible for determining investment goals, reviewing the 
financial aspects of significant proposed transactions and for making specific investment 
decisions. The Committee is also responsible for review of compliance and performance relative 
to objectives, with a particular focus on risk identification and Management’s mitigation of such 
risks legally and/or commercially in the Sales and Purchase Agreements, both prior to signing 
and during execution.  

The investment committee works on the basis of a set of “Instructions for the investment 
committee” adopted by the Board of Directors and reports back to the Board on the results of 
its work. The investment committee was comprised of Erik Fällström (chair), Jörgen Durban – 
until he stepped down – and Alessandro Pappalardo.  

Nomination Committee 
The nomination committee is responsible for proposing candidates for the post of chair and 
other members of the board. In its assessment of the board’s evaluation, the nomination 
committee is to give particular consideration to the requirements regarding breadth and versatility 
on the board, as well as the requirement to strive for gender balance. The nomination committee 
is also to present proposals on the election of the statutory auditor. The nomination committee’s 
proposal to the shareholders’ meeting on the election of the auditor is to include the audit 
committee’s recommendation. If the proposal differs from the alternative preferred by the audit 
committee, the reasons for not following the committee’s recommendation are to be stated in 
the proposal.  

The nomination committee consisted of Joachim Cato (chair), and Jörgen Durban, until Jörgen 
Durban stepped down from the board. The board then decided to perform the tasks of the 
committee. 

Internal governance systems 
The most important internal steering instrument consists of the Articles that are adopted by the 
general meeting of shareholders. For the purpose of handling specific matters and exercising 
better supervision of DDM, the Board of Directors established an audit committee and a 
remuneration committee in March 2015, an investment committee in March 2016 and a 
nomination committee in February 2018. 

Other steering instruments include the Board Rules and the Board of Directors’ instructions for 
the CEO. In addition, from April 2015 the Board of Directors adopted a number of policies and 
instructions containing rules, including but not limited to: code of conduct, insider policy and 
guidelines, prevention of money laundering policy, outsourcing policy and IT policy for the entire 
Company’s operations.  
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Individuals with an insider position 
All persons who are employed and contracted by DDM that have access to non-public, price 
sensitive information (“insider information”) as determined by the CEO, including all persons 
listed as persons discharging managerial responsibilities receive an individual notice and are 
registered to an insider logbook. Each and every person registered as insiders in the logbook must 
adhere to the Company’s insider policy rules regarding a prohibition on trading in financial 
instruments in DDM Holding AG and DDM Debt AB during closed periods and receive an 
individual notice once the insider information has been informed to the public. These individuals 
are obligated in accordance with DDM’s rules governing notification prior to trading to report 
any changes in their holdings of financial instruments in DDM Holding AG and DDM Debt AB. 

External auditor  
The Annual General Meeting 2022 appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers AG (Robert-Zund-
Strasse 2, CH-6005 Luzern, Switzerland) as the independent auditor until the Annual General 
Meeting 2022.  

Valentin Studer, born 1985, a certified accountant, is the auditor in charge.  

The DDM Holding Group paid the below fees (including expenses) to its external independent 
auditors. The non-audit fees relate to tax consultancy fees. 

For the year ended 31 December   
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 

   Audit   
       Audit assignments 412 324 

 Total audit expenses 412 324 
 

For the year ended 31 December   
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 

   Non-audit   
       Tax assignments 29 35 
       Other assignments 7 - 

 Total non-audit expenses 36 35 
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
DDM HOLDING AG IS PLEASED TO 
PRESENT THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 
THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2022 

This report is dated 28 April 2023 and is signed on behalf of the 
Board of DDM Holding AG by 

Andreas Tuczka Fredrik Olsson 
Chairman Cfo 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ended 31 December 
Amounts in EUR ‘000s Notes 2022 2021* 
    
Interest income on invested assets  19,128 16,599 

   Revaluation and impairment of invested assets  2,241  5,001 

Revenue on invested assets 6, 7 21,369  21,600 
    
Share of net profits of associate and joint venture 16 8,321  3,631 

Revenue from management fees 6, 7 605  100 

    

Personnel expenses 8 (5,344)  (4,119) 

Consulting expenses 9 (4,882)  (4,944) 

Other operating expenses 10 (2,082)  (2,212) 

Amortization and depreciation of tangible and intangible assets 20, 21, 23 (662)  (392) 

Operating profit   17,325  12,666 
    

Financial income 11 280  81 

Financial expenses 11 (22,979)  (21,511) 

Unrealized exchange profit / (loss) 11 671  271 

Realized exchange loss 11 (558)  (76) 

Net financial expenses  (22,586)  (21,235)  
(Loss) / profit before income tax  (5,261)  (7,571) 
    

Tax income / (expense) 12 238  743 

Net (loss) / profit for the year    (5,023) (6,828) 
    
    
Net (loss) / profit for the year attributable to:    

Owners of the Parent Company 

Non-controlling interest   

(5,102)  

79 

(6,828) 

– 

    
Earnings per share before and after dilution (EUR) 13 (0.38) (0.50) 

    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 
Amounts in EUR ‘000s Notes 2022 2021 

Net (loss) / profit for the year  (5,023)  (6,828) 
    
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year    
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:    
Actuarial gain / (loss) on post-employment benefit commitments  663  155 

Deferred tax on post-employment benefit commitments  (60)  (9) 

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss:    
Currency translation differences  281 (26) 

Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the equity method  – 313 

Recycling of share of other comprehensive income of associates to the income statement  –  (3,011) 

    

Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year, net of tax  884  (2,578) 
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year  (4,139)  (9,406) 
    
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year attributable to:    
Owners of the Parent Company  (4,301)  (9,406) 

Non-controlling interest  162 – 
 

* The amount of EUR 998k has been reclassified from Financial income to Interest income on invested assets as  
   relating to interest income towards Omnio on investment under the financial assets held at fair value (see note 18)  
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
As at 31 December 
Amounts in EUR ‘000s Notes 2022 2021 

ASSETS    
   Non-current assets    
   Goodwill 22 15,183  4,160 

   Intangible assets 23 1,440  782 

   Tangible assets 20 242  68 

   Right-of-use assets 21 603  146 

   Distressed asset portfolios 17 71,103  81,594 

   Other long-term receivables from investments 19 6,338 – 

   Financial assets at fair value 18 68,743 51,547 

   Investment in joint venture 16 21,546  31,819 

   Deferred tax assets 30 3,383  2,269 

   Other non-current assets 24 1,117  1,356 

   Total non-current assets  189,698 173,741 
    

   Current assets    

   Accounts receivable 15 513  1,711 

   Tax assets 15 197 82 

   Other receivables 15 4,504 4,218 

   Prepaid expenses and accrued income 15 6,149  2,957 

   Cash and cash equivalents 14 52,605  65,485 

   Total current assets  63,968 74,453 
    

TOTAL ASSETS  253,666  248,194 

    
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

   Shareholders’ equity    

   Share capital 32 11,780  11,780 

   Share premium 32 21,030  21,030 

   Other reserves 32 (432)  (570) 

   Retained earnings including net (loss) / profit for the year  (2,770)  1,669 

   Total shareholders’ equity attributable to Parent Company’ shareholders  29,608  33,909 
   Shareholders’ equity attributable to non-controlling interest  3,160 – 

   Total shareholders’ equity  32,768 33,909 
    

   Long-term liabilities    

   Loans 27, 27 198,950 183,452 

   Lease liabilities  26 364  83 

   Provisions 36 – – 

   Post-employment benefit commitments 29 882  1,389 

   Deferred tax liabilities 30 1,232  629 

   Total long-term liabilities  201,428  185,553 
    

   Current liabilities    

   Accounts payable 25 2,677  1,990 

   Tax liabilities 25 249  569 

   Accrued interest 25 4,621  5,548 

   Accrued expenses and deferred income 25 2,461  2,697 

   Lease liabilities  25, 26 287  86 

   Loans 25, 27, 28 9,175  17,842 

   Total current liabilities  19,470  28,732 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  253,666  248,194 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
For the year ended 31 December 
Amounts in EUR ‘000s Notes 2022 2021* 

Cash flow from operating activities    
Net profit / (loss) for the period  (5,023)  (6,828) 

Cash distribution from associate and joint venture 16 19,666  10,214 

Adjustments for non-cash items:    
   Amortization of invested assets 17, 19 24,604  23,293 

   Revaluation and impairment of invested assets 17, 19 (2,241)  (5,001) 

   Interest income   (3,393) (998) 

   Share of net profits of joint ventures and associates 16 (8,321)  (3,631) 

   Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 20, 21, 23 662  392 

   Financial income   (280) (81) 

   Financial expenses   22,979 21,511 

   Unrealized exchange profit / (loss)   (671) (271) 

   Tax income / (expense)   (238) (743) 

   Other items not affecting cash  (178) 635 

Interest paid  (20,265)  (13,738) 

Interest received  346 – 

Call premium paid  –  (2,408) 

Tax paid  (693)  (167) 

Cash flow from operating activities before working capital changes  26,954 22,179 
    

Working capital adjustments    

(Increase) / decrease in accounts receivable  602 (5,029) 

(Increase) / decrease in other receivables  (4,691) (2,912) 

Increase / (decrease) in accounts payable  176 611 

Increase / (decrease) in other current liabilities  (3,128) (1,270) 

Net cash flow from operating activities  19,913  13,579 
    

Cash flow from investing activities    

Purchases of distressed asset portfolios and other long-term receivables from 

investments 
17 (11,364)  (17,527) 

Purchases of investment of joint ventures and associates 16 –  (8,521) 

Purchases of financial assets at fair value 18 (17,757)  (13,416) 

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 35 (5,979)  – 

Purchases of non-current assets 24, 33 – – 

Purchases of tangible assets 20  (267)  (9) 

Net cash flow received / (used) in investing activities  (35,367)  (39,473) 
    
Cash flow from financing activities    

Proceeds from issuance of loans 27, 28 11,070  182,756 

Repayment of loans 27, 28 (9,365)  (122,590) 

Principal elements of lease payments 26 (85)  (75) 

Net cash flow received / (used) in financing activities  1,620  60,091 
    
Cash flow for the year  (13,834)  34,197 
    

Cash and cash equivalents less bank overdrafts at beginning of the year  65,485  31,416 

Foreign exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents  954  (128) 
    

Cash and cash equivalents less bank overdrafts at end of the year 14 52,605  65,485 
 
* The amount of EUR 998k has been reclassified from Financial income to Interest income on invested assets as  
   relating to interest income towards Omnio on investment under the financial assets held at fair value (see note 18) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
    

 
Amounts in EUR ‘000s 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
reserves 

Retained earnings 
including net loss 

for the period 
Total 

Equity 
Non-controlling 

interest 
Total  

equity  

Balance at 1 January 2021 11,780 21,030 2,163 8,342 43,315 
– 

43,315 

        

Net loss for the period – –                 – (6,828) (6,828) – (6,828) 

Other comprehensive income / 
(loss)      –  

Actuarial gain on defined benefit 
commitment – – – 155 155  155 

Currency translation differences – – (26) – (26) – (26) 

Deferred tax on post-employment 
benefit commitments   (9)  (9)  (9) 

Share of other comprehensive 
income of associates accounted for 
using the equity method 

– – 313 – 313 – 313 

Recycling of share of other 
comprehensive income of associates 
to the income statement 

  (3,011)  (3,011)  (3,011) 

Total comprehensive income / 
(loss) 

– – (2,733) (6,673) (9,406) – (9,406) 

Transactions with owners – – – – – – – 

Total transactions with owners – – – – – – – 

Balance at 31 December 2021* 11,780 21,030 (570) 1,669 33,909 – 33,909 

        

Balance at 1 January 2022 11,780 21,030 (570) 1,669 33,909 – 33,909 

        

Net loss for the period – – – (5,102) (5,102) 79 (5,023) 

Other comprehensive loss        

Actuarial gain on defined benefit 
commitment – – – 663 663 – 663 

Currency translation differences – – 198 – 198 83 281 
Deferred tax on post-employment 
benefit commitments – – (60) – (60) – (60) 

Total comprehensive loss 

 

– – 138 (4,439) (4,301) 162 (4,139) 

Transactions with owners        

Non-controlling interest on acquisition 
of subsidiary – – – – – 2,998 2,998 

Total transactions with owners – – – – – 2,998 2,998 

Balance at 31 December 2022 11,780 21,030 (432) (2,770) 29,608 3,160 32,768 
 

At 31 December 2022 and at 31 December 2021 the number of outstanding shares in DDM Holding AG amounted to 13,560,447 shares. 
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f NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION  
 
DDM Holding AG and its subsidiaries (together “DDM” or the “Company”) 
is a specialized multinational investor in situations arising out of the general 
strategic challenges in the European banking markets. DDM primarily buys 
portfolios from financial institutions and international banks with lending 
operations in Southern, Central and Eastern Europe. This enables the 
lenders to continue providing loans to companies and individuals, DDM 
then assists the debtors to restructure their overdue debt. The Company 
is headquartered in the canton of Zug in Switzerland with its registered 
office in Landis + Gyr-Strasse 1, 6300 Zug, Switzerland. The Company 
was founded in 2007 and is listed on Nasdaq First North Growth Market, 
Stockholm since September 2014, under the ticker DDM. 
 
These financial statements were authorized for publication by the Board of 
Directors on 28 April 2023. 
 

 
NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
The consolidated financial statements of DDM Holding AG have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. In accordance with Article 962 of the 
Swiss Code of Obligation (CO), DDM Holding AG has to prepare financial 
statements in accordance with a recognized financial reporting standard. 
The Swiss Federal Council has issued an ordinance defining IFRS as 
approved by the IASB as a recognized financial reporting standard.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost 
modified with the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss. Distressed asset portfolios, other long-term 
receivables from investments and borrowings are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method, adjusted for revaluation and 
impairment. The investments in joint ventures are accounted for under the 
equity method. 
The functional currency of DDM Holding AG is the Euro (EUR). The DDM 
consolidated financial statements are presented in EUR and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand (EUR’000) except when otherwise 
indicated. 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 

 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are as follows: 
 
3.1 Consolidation principles 
The financial statements consolidate the accounts of DDM Holding AG and 
its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are all entities over which DDM Holding AG 
has control.  
Specifically, DDM Holding AG controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of 
the entity.  
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the group and are de-consolidated from the date on which 
control ceases. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 
the Group are eliminated in full upon consolidation. 
 

Entities included  
in the scope of 
consolidation 

Consolidation  
method 

Domicile 31 Dec  
2022 

31 Dec 
2021  

DDM Group AG Fully consolidated Switzerland 100% 100% 
DDM Invest III AG Fully consolidated Switzerland 100% 100% 
DDM Mergeco AG Fully consolidated Switzerland 100% 100% 
DDM Finance AB Fully consolidated Sweden 100% 100% 
DDM Debt AB Fully consolidated Sweden 100% 100% 
DDM Invest V d.o.o. Fully consolidated Slovenia 100% 100% 
DDM Invest VII d.o.o Fully consolidated Slovenia 100% 100% 
DDM Debt 
Management d.o.o 
Beograd Fully consolidated Serbia 

100% 100% 

DDM Debt Romania 
S.R.L Fully consolidated Romania 100% 100% 

DDM REO Adria d.o.o. Fully consolidated Croatia 100% 100% 
Finalp Zrt. Fully consolidated Hungary 100% 100% 
AxFina Holding S.A Fully consolidated Luxembourg 50.2% – 
AxFina Romania S.R.L Fully consolidated Romania 50.2% – 
AxFina Austria GmbH Fully consolidated Austria 50.2% – 
AxFina Croatia d.o.o. Fully consolidated Croatia 50.2% – 
AxFina d.o.o. Fully consolidated Slovenia 50.2% – 
AxFina Hungary Zrt. Fully consolidated Hungary 50.7% 1% 
Lombard Ingatlan 
Lízing Zrt. Fully consolidated Hungary 50.7% 1% 

AxFina Servicing Kft. Fully consolidated Hungary 50.7% 1% 
Raport S.A. Fully consolidated Poland 50.2% – 

 
 

3.2 Business combinations and goodwill 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business 
combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are 
acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 
comprises the: 
 
a)  fair values of the assets transferred; 
b)  liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business; 
c)  equity interests issued by the group; 
d)  fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent  

consideration arrangement; and 
e)  fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. 
 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Company 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net 
identifiable assets. 
 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the 
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at 
the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental 
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be 
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and 
conditions. 
 
The excess of the: 
a) consideration transferred; 
b) amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; and 
c) acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired 

entity 
over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the 
income statement as a bargain purchase within the line “other operating 
income”. 
 
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU), or groups 
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of 
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units. Goodwill is tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired, by 
comparing the carrying amount of the CGU, including goodwill, with the 
recoverable amount of the CGU.  
The Group calculates the recoverable amount of the CGU by determining 
the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. The key 
assumption for the value in use calculation is the forecasted cash flows 
during the forecast period, WACC and growth rate. If the recoverable 
amount of the CGU is less than the carrying value of the unit, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is recognised immediately in the 
consolidated income statement and is not reversed in a subsequent period.  
 
On disposal of an operating unit within a CGU to which goodwill has been 
allocated, the goodwill associated with that operation is included in the 
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
disposal. 
 
3.3 Investments in joint ventures  
The Company applies IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, where DDM, together 
with one or several parties have joint control over an arrangement in 
accordance with a shareholder agreement. The equity method is applied 
when accounting for the Joint Venture. Under the equity method of 
accounting the investment is recognised at cost and subsequently adjusted 
to DDM’s share of the change in the net assets of the Joint Venture since 
the acquisition date.  
The consolidated income statement includes DDM’s share of earnings, and 
this is reported under Share of net profits of joint venture. Distributions 
received from the joint venture are not recognised in the income statement 
and instead reduce the carrying value of the investment. The equity 
method is applied from the date joint control arises until the time it ceases, 
or if the joint venture becomes a subsidiary. Upon loss of joint control over 
the joint venture, and as such the equity method ceases, the Company 
measures and recognises any difference between the carrying amount of 
the investment in the joint venture with the fair value of the remaining 
investment and/or proceeds from disposal which is recognised as gain or 
loss directly in the income statement. The financial statements of the Joint 
Venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company.  
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  NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
DDM Holding AG and its subsidiaries (together “DDM” or the “Company”) 
is an investor in portfolios of distressed assets and other long-term 
receivables from investments. DDM primarily buys portfolios from 
international banks with lending operations in Southern, Central and 
Eastern Europe, and the majority of the assets in which DDM has invested 
originate in Greece, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Slovenia, Romania, 
Hungary and Serbia. The Company is based in the canton of Zug in 
Switzerland where the majority of its staff is located. The address of DDM’s 
registered office is Schochenmühlestrasse 4, 6340 Baar, Switzerland. The 
Company was founded in 2007 and is listed on Nasdaq First North, 
Stockholm since September 2014, under the ticker DDM. 
 
These financial statements were authorized for publication by the Board of 
Directors on 27 March 2020. 
 
NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
The consolidated financial statements of DDM Holding AG have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. In accordance 
with Article 962 of the Swiss Code of Obligation (CO), DDM Holding AG 
has to prepare financial statements in accordance with a recognized 
financial reporting standard. The Swiss Federal Council has issued an 
ordinance defining IFRS as approved by the IASB as a recognized 
financial reporting standard. DDM Holding AG has evaluated the 
differences between the IFRS as adopted by the EU and the IFRS 
approved by the IASB with influence on the DDM group's financial 
statements, and concluded that there are no material differences. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost 
modified with the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss. Distressed asset portfolios, other long-term 
receivables from investments and borrowings are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method, adjusted for revaluation and 
impairment. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are as follows: 
 
Consolidation 
The financial statements consolidate the accounts of DDM Holding AG and 
its subsidiaries.  
 
Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which DDM Holding AG has control. DDM 
Holding AG controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the group and are de-consolidated from the date on which 
control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances, and unrealized 
gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. 
 

Entities included  
in the scope of 
consolidation 

Consolidation  
method Domicile 

31 Dec  
2019 

31 Dec 
2018 

DDM Group AG Fully consolidated Switzerland 100% 100% 
DDM Invest I AG Fully consolidated Switzerland – 100% 
DDM Invest II AG Fully consolidated Switzerland – 100% 
DDM Invest III AG Fully consolidated Switzerland 100% 100% 
DDM Invest IV AG Fully consolidated Switzerland – 100% 
DDM Invest VII AG Fully consolidated Switzerland – 100% 
DDM Invest X AG Fully consolidated Switzerland – 100% 
DDM Invest XX AG Fully consolidated Switzerland – 100% 
DDM Treasury Sweden AB Fully consolidated Sweden 100% 100% 
DDM Finance AB Fully consolidated Sweden 100% 100% 
DDM Debt AB Fully consolidated Sweden 100% 100% 
DDM Facility Finance AB Fully consolidated Sweden – 100% 
DDM Facility Debt AB Fully consolidated Sweden – 100% 
DDM Invest V d.o.o. Fully consolidated Slovenia 100% 100% 
DDM Invest VII d.o.o Fully consolidated Slovenia 100% 100% 
DDM Debt Management 
d.o.o Beograd Fully consolidated Serbia 100% 100% 
DDM Debt Romania S.R.L Fully consolidated Romania 100% 100% 
Finalp Zrt. Fully consolidated Hungary 100% 100% 
aXs GmbH Fully consolidated Hungary 70% 100% 

 
Associates 
Associates are all entities over which DDM Holding AG has significant 
influence but do not control or jointly control. This is generally the case 
where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Interests 
in associates are accounted for using the equity method. The carrying 
amount (including goodwill) of equity accounted investments is tested for 
impairment in accordance with the policy described in note 3.   
 
 

 
 

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT… continued 
 
3.4 Financial assets at fair value 
Equity-traded instruments and other investments that do not meet the 
criteria under IFRS 9 of cash flows consisting solely of payments of 
principle and interest (SPPI) and Hold to collect for being measured at 
amortised cost nor elected at FVTOCI are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL). 
 

Financial assets held at FVTPL are initially recognised and subsequently 
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair 
value gains or losses recognised through financial income or expenses 
respectively in the consolidated income statement.  
Dividends are included within financial income and interest income from 
financial assets held at FVTPL is included within Interest income on 
invested assets. 
 
Financial assets held at FVTPL include investments in other entities in 
which the Company has a significant influence (but not control or joint 
control), providing that: 
- its value is (or will be) a marketable value 
- the investee aims to generate growth in a medium term, following an exit 
strategy of the Company, and 
- the object of the investment is not related to the Company core business. 
 
.5 Foreign currencies 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro which is 
DDM’s functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than an entities’ functional currency will give rise to 
realised and unrealised exchange rates differences that are recognized in 
the income statement in “net financial expenses”. 
The following exchange rates were applied at the balance sheet dates 
(spot rates) and for the income statement (average rates): 
 

Exchange rates  
31 Dec 

2022 
31 Dec 

2021 
Balance sheet  EUR/CHF 0.9847 1.0331 
Income statement  EUR/CHF 1.0086 1.0847 
Balance sheet EUR/CZK 24.1161 24.858 
Income statement  EUR/CZK 24.6395 25.734 
Balance sheet  EUR/HRK 7.5345 7.5156 
Income statement  EUR/HRK 7.533 7.5309 
Balance sheet  EUR/HUF 400.80 369.14 
Income statement  EUR/HUF 386.54 357.79 
Balance sheet  EUR/PLN 4.6808 4.5969 
Income statement  EUR/PLN 4.677 4.5530 
Balance sheet  EUR/RON 4.9495 4.9490 
Income statement  EUR/RON 4.9337 4.9139 
Balance sheet  EUR/RSD 117.3158 117.578 
Income statement  EUR/RSD 117.4812 117.586 
Balance sheet  EUR/SEK 11.1217 10.2503 
Income statement  EUR/SEK 10.5616 10.1363 

 
 
3.6 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash deposits held with banks and 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less. Overdrafts are disclosed separately under liabilities and 
presented as “Liabilities to credit institutions”. Please see note 14. 
 
3.7 Financial instruments 
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” addresses the classification, measurement 
and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, and 
impairment model for financial assets. Distressed asset portfolios, other 
long-term receivables, accounts receivables and other receivables from 
investments are financial instruments that are accounted for under IFRS 9 
and are measured at amortized cost using the EIR method.  

The Company’s investments consist of portfolios of non-performing loans 
and debt, under IFRS 9 these portfolios are defined as purchase or 
originated credit-impaired (POCI), as these portfolios are purchased at 
prices significantly below the nominal amount of the receivables and 
therefore impairments are already included at the point of initial 
recognition. 
 
The IFRS 9 impairment model is based on a forward-looking ‘expected 
credit loss’ (“ECL”) model. The impairment model applies to financial 
assets classified at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied 
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and 
involves a three-stage approach whereby financial assets move through 
the three stages as their credit quality changes. 
 
 

 
Under IFRS 9 with regard to financial assets held at amortised cost that 
are considered to have low credit risk, the relevant impairment provision 
that has been applied is to recognize a 12-month ECL. The 12-month ECL 
is the portion of lifetime ECLs that results from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
origination or the Company acquires POCI portfolio the allowance will be 
based on the lifetime ECL.  

Loans, accounts payable, other payables and lease liabilities are financial 
liabilities that are accounted for under IFRS 9 and are measured at 
amortized cost using the EIR method.  

The DDM Group’s business model is to invest in distressed assets and 
collect the contractual cash flows. The invested assets only consist of cash 
flows payments of principal and interest (solely payments of principal and 
interest, “SPPI”). In exceptional cases, portfolios might be sold.  
 
The table below shows the measurement of DDM’s financial instruments 
according to IFRS 9: 
 

  Valuation under 
IFRS 9 

Assets   
Account receivables  Amortised cost 
Other receivables  Amortised cost 
Distressed asset portfolios  Amortised cost 
Other long-term receivables from 
investments 

 Amortised cost 

Financial investments  FVTPL 
Liabilities   
Accounts payable  Amortised cost 
Other payables  Amortised cost 
Lease liabilities  Amortised cost 
Short-term loans  Amortised cost 
Long-term loans  Amortised cost 

 
In line with IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” financial assets and liabilities 
are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the Company has, for all intents and purposes, transferred 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are 
derecognized when the contractual commitment is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.  
 
 
Financial assets carried at amortized cost are non-derivative financial 
assets, with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. The Company’s financial assets carried at amortized cost  
comprise distressed asset portfolios, other long-term receivables from 
investments, receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Financial assets 
carried at amortized cost are recognized initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.  
 
Offsetting financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in 
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and 
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of 
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty. 
 
Impairment of financial assets  
The impairment regulations contained in IFRS 9, are based on the 
expected credit loss model (ECL model). Distressed asset portfolios and 
other long-term receivables from investments are considered credit-
impaired under IFRS 9. As such lifetime expected credit losses are 
included in the recovery of the estimated cash flows when calculating the 
effective interest rate on initial recognition of such assets. The Company 
applies the simplified method to apply lifetime expected credit losses to 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
On each reporting date the Company assesses on a forward looking basis 
the expected credit losses associated with its collection estimates for 
financial assets held at amortised cost. A change in the estimated 
cashflows would result in a revaluation and/or impairment of the invested 
asset. The assessment applied depends on whether has been a change in 
credit risk determined by the following factors: 
 
a) level of financial difficulty of the obligor; 
b) delinquencies in interest or principal payments; and 
c) it is likely that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganization. 
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 NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT… continued 
 
 
3.8 Distressed asset portfolios and other long-term receivables from 
investments  
DDM invests in distressed asset portfolios, where the receivables are 
directly against the debtor, and in other long-term receivables from 
investments, where the receivables are against the local legal entities 
holding the portfolios of loans.  
 
Distressed asset portfolios and other long-term receivables from 
investments  
Distressed asset portfolios and other long-term receivables from 
investments are purchased at prices significantly below the nominal 
amount of the receivables. The Company determines the carrying value by 
calculating the present value of estimated future cash flows of each 
investment using its effective interest rate at initial recognition by DDM. 
The original effective interest rate is determined on the date the portfolio / 
receivable was acquired based on the relationship between the purchase  
price of the portfolio / receivable and the projected future cash flows as per 
the acquisition date. Changes in the carrying value of the portfolios / 
receivables include interest income on invested assets before revaluation 
and impairment for the period, as well as changes to the estimated 
projected future cash flows, and are recognized in the income statement 
under “Revenue on invested assets”. 
 
If the fair value of the investment at the acquisition date exceeds the 
purchase price for a distressed asset portfolio not acquired as part of a 
business combination, the difference results in a “gain on bargain 
purchase” in the income statement within the line “interest income on 
invested assets”. The gain on bargain  purchase relates to the fair value 
measurement of the investment (purchase price allocation). Please see 
note 5 for further information. 
 
Cash flow projections are made at the portfolio / receivable level. 
Assumptions must be made at each reporting date as to the expected 
timing and amount of future cash flows. Cash flows include the nominal 
amount, reminder fees, collection fees and late interest that are expected 
to be received from debtors less forecasted collection costs. These 
projections are updated at each reporting date based on actual collection 
information, planned collection actions as well as macroeconomic 
scenarios and the specific features of the assets concerned. Changes in 
cash flow forecasts are treated symmetrically i.e. both increases and 
decreases in forecast cash flows affect the portfolios’ book value and as a 
result “revenue on invested assets”. If there is a significant change in the 
credit risk estimated in relation to the amount of future cash flows of the 
portfolio / receivable and this can be estimated reliably then this is recorded 
within the line “Impairment of invested assets”. If there is objective 
evidence that one or more events have taken place that will have a positive 
impact on the timing or amount of future cash flows, or a negative impact 
on the timing of future cash flows then this is recorded within the line 
“Revaluation of invested assets”.   
 
If the Company sells a portfolio / receivable for a higher or lower amount 
than its carrying value, the resulting gain or loss on disposal is recognized 
in the consolidated income statement (within the line “Interest income on 
invested assets”). 
 
 

 
3.9 Tangible assets 
Tangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset 
as appropriate only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost can be 
measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the 
income statement during the period in which they are incurred. 
 
The major categories of tangible assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis as follows: 
 
Furniture   5 years 
Computer hardware   5 years 
 
The Company distributes the amount initially recognized for a tangible 
asset between its significant components and depreciates each 
component separately. The carrying amount for a replaced component is 
derecognized when replaced. The residual value method of amortization 
and the useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and adjusted if 
appropriate. Impairment and gains and losses recognized in connection 
with disposals of tangible assets are included among administration 
expenses (within the line “other operating expenses”). 
 
3.10 Intangible assets 
Intangible assets include purchase of software and intangible assets 
acquired separately or in a business combination. Internal expenses for IT 
development and internal and external maintenance expenses are 
expensed as incurred.  
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition 
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.  
 
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a straightline basis over 
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  
 
The intangible assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. The amortisation expense 
on intangible assets with finite lives is presented in the income statement 
as part of “Depreciation and amortisation”.  
 
Intangible assets also include customers-related servicing contracts which 
the Company may directly acquire or with the acquisition of servicing 
entities. These are accounted in line with IFRS 3 and IAS 38. Contracts 
that satisfy the contractual-legal criterion are valued by applying the 
Comparative Income Differential Method (CIDM). The FV of these 
intangible assets is assessed based on i) profit margin, ii) remaining 
duration of the contracts and iii) possibility of renewal, amendment, 
cancellation of contracts. The intangible asset is amortized based on the 
assumed cash flow profile of the servicing contract 
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   NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT… continued 
 

3.11 Non-controlling interest 
Non-controlling interest arises in cases where the Company acquires less 
than 100% of the shares in the subsidiary that the Company controls. For 
each business combination, the Company elects whether to measure the 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
 
3.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or at any time if an indication 
of impairment exists. Management monitors goodwill for internal purposes 
based on its Cash Generating Units (“CGU”) which are its operating 
segment.  
 
The Company evaluates impairment losses other than goodwill impairment 
for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant such 
consideration. Accordingly, goodwill is assessed for impairment together 
with the assets and liabilities of the related segment. The Company has 
only one CGU, which corresponds to the activities of the entire Group. 
 
Tangible and intangible assets are tested for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash generating units or “CGUs”). 
 
The recoverable amount is an asset’s fair value less costs to sell or its 
value in use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of 
the relevant asset or CGU as determined by management), whichever is 
higher. 
 
3.13 Post-employment benefit commitments  
DDM employees located in Switzerland have entitlements under the 
Company’s pension plans which are defined benefit pension plans. For 
defined benefit plans, the level of benefit provided is based on the length 
of service and the earnings of the individual concerned.  
 
The cost of defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit 
credit method. The related post-employment benefit commitment 
recognized in the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit 
commitment at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan 
assets. Actuarial valuations for defined benefit plans are carried out 
annually. The discount rate applied in arriving at the present value of the 
defined benefit commitment represents the yield on high quality corporate 
bonds denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and 
that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related defined 
benefit commitment. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which they 
occur in other comprehensive income without recycling to the income 
statement in subsequent periods. Amounts recognized in other 
comprehensive income are recognized immediately in retained earnings. 
Current service cost, the recognized element of any past service cost and 
the interest expense arising on the post-employment benefit commitment 
are included in the “Personnel expenses” line item in the income statement 
as the related compensation cost. Past service costs are recognized 
immediately to the extent the benefits are vested and are otherwise 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits 
become vested. 
 
3.14 Provisions 
(i) Termination benefits 
The Company recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably 
committed to either terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or 
providing benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
termination. Benefits falling due more than twelve months after the end of 
the reporting period are discounted to their present value. 
 
(ii) Provisions 
Provisions for restructuring costs, warranties and legal claims are 
recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive 
commitment as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the commitment; and the 
amount can be reliably estimated. 
 
Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the commitment at the end of the reporting 
period and are discounted where the effect is material. 
 
3.15 Borrowings 
Borrowings from credit institutions and other long-term payables are 
initially reported at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is reported  
 

in the income statement over the period of the borrowings, using the 
effective interest method for long-term borrowings and the straight-line 
method for borrowings with a total contract length of less than 12 months.  
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the balance sheet date.  
 
Costs to secure financing are amortized across the term of the loan as 
financial expenses in the consolidated income statement. The amount is 
recognized in the balance sheet as a deduction to the loan liability. All other 
borrowing costs (interest expenses and transaction costs) are reported in 
the income statement in the period to which they refer. 
 
3.14 Leases  
IFRS 16 Leases requires recognition of an asset (the right to use the leased 
item) and a financial liability to pay rentals for virtually all lease contracts. 
An optional exemption exists for short-term and low-value leases.  
 
Lease liabilities 
Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. 
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance expense. The 
finance expense is recognised as an expense in the consolidated income 
statement (within the line “Financial expenses”) over the lease period 
under the amortised cost method. 
 
Right-of-use assets 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost with an initial measurement 
amount equal to the lease liability adjusted by the amount of any previously 
recognized prepaid or accrued lease payments less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on 
a straight-line basis. 
 
Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value 
assets are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income 
statement (within the line “Other operating expenses”). Short-term leases 
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets 
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture. 
 
3.15 Current and deferred income tax 
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized 
in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in other comprehensive income or directly in equity in 
which case the income tax is also recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income or equity respectively. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. In 
general deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  
 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on 
investments in subsidiaries and associates. Deferred income tax is 
determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted as per the balance sheet date and 
are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset is realized or the liability 
is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are presented as non-current. 
 
3.16 Revenue on invested assets and revenue from management 
fees 
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” establishes a 
comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognised. IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to identify 
and account for revenue streams arising from contracts with customers.  
 
Revenue on invested assets is the result of the application of the amortized 
cost method (please see note 5 and note 6). Revenue from management 
fees relates to revenue received from co-investors where DDM manages 
the operations of the invested assets on the co-investors’ behalf. In 
accordance with IFRS 15, revenue is recognized only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and these benefits can 
be measured reliably. The revenues recognized from management fees 
are based on the service obligations specified in the contracts that are 
delivered over a period, since the benefit to the client is continually 
transferred with the provision of the service. Accordingly, the revenues 
obtained from management fees are recognised over the period the 
service is provided and it is ensured there is no uncertainty and no 
significant cancellation of the revenues will occur.  
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT… continued 
 
3.17 Equity 
Share capital is stated at the nominal value of the shares that have been 
issued.  
 
Other paid-in capital consists of any premiums received in connection with 
the initial issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with the 
issuing of shares are deducted from other paid-in capital, net of any related 
income tax benefits. 
 
The effects of exchange differences on translation of foreign currency are 
included as a separate component of equity. 
 
Other equity includes current and prior period results as disclosed in the 
consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income. 
 
3.18 Dividend distribution 
Dividends on common shares are recognized in the Company’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Board 
of Directors. 
 
3.19 Related parties 
Parties are defined as related parties if one party has the ability, directly or 
indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over 
the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also 
related if they are subject to common control or common significant 
influence. All transactions between the related parties are based on the 
principle of ‘arm’s length’ (estimated market value). 
 
3.20 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted in 2022 
There were no new accounting standards and interpretations adopted in 
2022 that had a material impact on DDM’s financial statements. Certain 
new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that 
are not mandatory for 31 December 2022 reporting periods and have not 
been early adopted by DDM. These standards are not expected to have a 
material impact on DDM in the current or future reporting periods. 
 
There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective 
that would be expected to have a material impact on the Company. 
 
NOTE 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Risk management is handled by employees and the Executive 
Management Committee who report to the Board on the basis of the policy 
adopted by the Board. The Company identifies, evaluates and mitigates 
financial risks relating to the operating activities of the Company. The 
Board determines and adopts an overall internal policy for risk 
management. The Company reports to the Board on compliance with and 
status of the risk policy in terms of the different financial risks. 
 
The Company defines risk as all factors which could have a negative 
impact on the ability of the Company to achieve its business objectives. All 
business activity is associated with risk. In order to manage risk in a 
balanced way it must first be identified and assessed.  
 
The following summary offers examples of risk factors which are 
considered to be especially important for the Company’s future 
development, but is by no means comprehensive. 
 
(i) Economic fluctuations 
The debt collection industry is negatively affected by a weakened 
economy. However, the Company’s assessment is that, historically, it has 
been less affected by economic fluctuations than many other sectors. 
Risks associated with changes in economic conditions are managed 
through ongoing monitoring of each country’s economic situation and 
development.  
 
(ii) Changes in regulations 
With regard to risks associated with changes in regulations in its markets, 
the Company continuously monitors the regulatory efforts to be able to 
indicate potentially negative effects and to work for favorable regulatory 
changes. 
 
Changes to the regulatory or political environments in which the DDM 
Group operates, a failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations, 
licenses and codes of practice or failure of any employees to comply with  
internal policies and procedures may negatively affect the DDM Group’s 
business. 
 
a) i) Transaction exposure 
In terms of currency risk, in each country where the Company invests, 
revenues and most collection costs are denominated in local currencies. 
DDM does not use any hedging instruments. As part of cash management 
DDM is striving to maintain the required amount of cash in the different 
local currencies.  
 
a) ii) Translation exposure 
When the balance sheet positions of subsidiaries denominated in foreign 
currencies are recalculated to DDM’s presentational currency in euro, a 
translation exposure arises that affects investor value. 
 

 

 
(b) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risks relate primarily to DDM’s interest-bearing debt, which 
consists of senior secured bonds and senior secured notes. Borrowings 
issued using the floating reference rate EURIBOR expose DDM to interest 
rate risk and borrowings issued at fixed rates expose DDM to fair value 
interest rate risk. 
 
(iii) Liquidity risk 
The Company has deposited its liquid assets with established financial 
institutions where the risk of loss is considered remote. The Company’s 
cash and cash equivalents consist solely of bank balances. The Company 
prepares regular liquidity forecasts with the purpose of optimizing liquid 
funds so that the net interest expense and currency exchanges are 
minimized without incurring difficulties in meeting external commitments. 
 
(iv) Credit risks inherent of distressed assets 
To minimize the risks in this business, caution is exercised in investment 
decisions. Invested assets are usually purchased at prices significantly 
below the nominal value of the receivables and DDM retains the entire 
amount it collects, including interest and fees, after deducting costs directly 
relating to debt collection. 

 
The Company places return requirements on acquired invested assets. 
Before every acquisition, a careful assessment is made based on a 
projection of future cash flows (collected amounts) from the invested asset.  
 
To facilitate the purchase of larger portfolios at attractive risk levels, the 
Company works in cooperation with other institutions. Risks are further 
diversified by acquiring distressed assets from clients in different countries. 
 
(v) Other credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a financial transaction will not 
fulfil its obligations on the maturity date. Credit risk is managed on a group 
basis and arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks 
and financial institutions.  
 
A second source of credit risk arises in connection to funds collected during 
the ordinary course of business. Funds are mainly collected directly on 
DDM’s bank accounts, or are paid in to client fund accounts held by the 
respective debt collection agencies to separate DDM’s funds from the 
general funds of the agency. In the second instance, every month there is 
a reconciliation-process, and based on this received and allocated funds 
are transferred from the client fund accounts. Should a debt collection 
agency become insolvent between such reconciliation events monies 
collected and not yet reconciled could be frozen on the account pending 
the outcome of the insolvency. In selecting debt collection partners DDM 
makes efforts to control and monitor the financial standing of its partners 
and also to maintain a balance of the work allocated between agencies to 
minimize the potential risk of such a situation. Amounts expected to be 
recovered from a solvent counterparty are recognized as accounts 
receivable in the balance sheet.  
  
(vi) Financing risk 
DDM’s borrowings contain a number of financial covenants, including limits 
on certain financial indicators. The Company’s management carefully 
monitors these key financial indicators so that it can quickly take measures 
if there is a risk that one or more limits may be exceeded. 
 
(vii) Capital management 
The Company’s objective when managing its capital structure is to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust 
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
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NOTE 5. CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS IN APPLYING 
THE COMPANY’S ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES  
  
The Company undertakes estimates and assumptions concerning future 
developments. The resulting accounting estimates will by definition seldom 
equal actual results. The estimates and assumptions entailing a significant 
risk of a material adjustment to the book values of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are outlined below. 
 
5.1 Revenue recognition and measurement of acquired portfolios and 
other long-term receivables from investments 
Distressed asset portfolios are financial instruments that are accounted for 
under IFRS 9 and are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method (“EIR”). The effective interest rate method is a method 
of calculating the amortized cost of a distressed asset portfolio and of 
allocating interest income over the expressed life of the portfolio; the 
allocated interest income is recorded within revenue on invested assets, in 
the financial statements. 
 
The EIR is the rate that discounts estimated future purchased portfolio 
cash receipts through the expected life of the purchased portfolio. The EIR 
is determined at the time of purchase of the portfolio. The estimation of 
cash flow forecasts is a key estimation uncertainty fundamental within this 
critical accounting policy. 
 
If the fair value of the investment at the acquisition date exceeds the 
purchase price, as in some cases DDM owns the economic benefit of net 
collections from the cut-off date, the difference results in a “gain on bargain 
purchase” in the income statement within the line “interest income on 
invested assets”. The gain on bargain purchase relates to the fair value 
measurement of the investment (purchase price allocation). If the 
acquisition is settled on a net basis this results in an impact to the “other 
items not affecting cash” line in the cash flow statement, as the economic 
benefit is offset against the cash purchase price. 
 
Upward revaluations are recognized as revenue. Subsequent reversals of 
such upward revaluations are recorded in the revenue line.  
 
The portfolio are assessed on a forward looking basis for the expected 
credit losses associated with its collection estimates for financial assets 
held at amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9. An expected credit loss 
for a portfolio is recognised if there is a significant change in the credit risk 
estimated in relation to the amount of future cash flows of the portfolio and 
can be estimated reliably, an adjustment is recorded to the carrying value. 
If the forecasted collections exceed initial estimates, an adjustment is 
recorded as an increase to the carrying value and is included in revenue 
on invested assets. The estimation of cash flow forecasts is a key 
estimation uncertainty fundamental within this critical accounting policy. 
Estimates of cash flows that determine the EIR are established for each 
purchased portfolio and are based on actual collection information, 
planned collection actions as well as macroeconomic scenarios and the 
specific features of the assets concerned. Revaluations of portfolios are 
based on the rolling 120-month ERC (“Estimated remaining collections”) 
at the revaluation date. The ERC is updated quarterly using a proprietary 
model. ERC refers to the sum of future, undiscounted projected cash 
collections before commission and fees from acquired portfolios and future 
reasonably expected dividends, distributions or other payments from 
investments, in each case for the next following 120 months, either directly 
or as a result of any rights to collect or any rights to participate in amounts 
generated from portfolios or investments. This includes the Group's share 
of proceeds on all portfolios purchased or other investments made, 
however adjusted for any profit-sharing arrangements entered into by any 
member of the Group and where available the market value of any portfolio 
acquired or investment made. 
 
5.2 Valuation of goodwill 
Goodwill is tested at least on an annual basis for impairment. If a loss in 
value is indicated, the recoverable amount is the cash-generating unit’s 
(CGU’s) fair value less the cost of disposal or its value in use. When testing 
goodwill for impairment, Management defines the recoverable amount as 
the estimated value in use. The value in use is the net present value of the 
estimated cash flows before tax.  
Estimating the financial assets’ recoverable amount is based on 
Management’s judgements related to estimates of future performance and 
cash flows, the interest income generating capacity of the assets and 
assumptions related to future market conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
5.3 Deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
losses can be recognized. Significant management judgment is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that will be recognized, based 
upon the reliable evidence as to the estimated timing and amount of the 
future taxable profits. 
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NOTE 6. RECONCILIATION OF REVENUE ON INVESTED ASSETS AND  REVENUE FROM MANAGEMENT FEES  
 
Revenue on invested assets is the net amount of net collections (net of third-party commission and collection fees), amortization, revaluation and 
impairment.  
 

Net collections is comprised of gross collections from the invested assets held by DDM, less commission and collection fees to third parties. The net 
amount of cash collected is recorded as “Net collections” within the line “Interest income on invested assets” in the consolidated income statement. DDM 
discloses the alternative performance measure “Net collections” in notes separately, as it is an important measurement for DDM to monitor the 
performance of the portfolios and measure the cash available for operating expenses and to service its debt. DDM believes that disclosing net collections 
as a separate performance measure in the notes improves the transparency and understanding of DDM's financial statements and performance, meeting 
the expectations of its investors.  
Collection costs are comprised of all third-party expenses directly attributable to the collection of distressed asset portfolios, other long-term receivables 
from investments, investment in joint venture and associate, such as collection fees, commission, transaction costs, non-recoverable VAT on amounts 
collected and Swiss VAT where applicable. The collection costs differ from portfolio to portfolio depending on the country/jurisdiction and the specific 
features of the assets concerned.  
 
The table below presents an overview net collections  by country. 
 

EUR ‘000s 2022 2021* 
Gross collections 45,715 45,185 
Collection and commission expenses (5,376) (6,291) 
Net collections by country:   
Croatia 23,318 18,104 
Slovenia 3,233 3,837 
Hungary 5,478 6,304 
Romania 3,602 5,068 
Poland  2,749 481 
Czech Republic 906 3,430 
Serbia  316 330 
Bosnia 242 354 
Slovakia 19 34 
Greece 476 952 
Net collections 40,339 38,894 
Interest income 3,393 998 
Amortization of invested assets (24,604) (23,293) 
Interest income on invested assets before revaluation and impairment 19,128 16,599 
Revaluation of invested assets 2,241 5,001 
Revenue on invested assets 21,369 21,600 
Share of net profits of associate and joint venture  8,321 3,631 
Revenue from management fees and other services 605 100 

* The amount of EUR 998k has been reclassified from Financial income to Interest income on invested assets as  
   relating to interest income towards Omnio on investment under the financial assets held at fair value (see note 18) 
 
 
There were no impairments for the full year 2022 (2021:nil). 
 
 
NOTE 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
The Company represents a single reportable segment, which consists of one operating segment. The operational and investing activities of the Company 
are not divided according to geographical regions. The relevant reporting to allocate resources and assess the performance of the Company received on 
a regular basis by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) is based on information consistent with the IFRS reporting. The CODM is considered to 
be the Board of Directors collectively. Collection information is available for each portfolio and country where the Company acquired the invested assets.  
 
The table below presents an overview of revenue on invested assets and revenue from management fees by country. 
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 

 
2022 2021* 

Croatia Revenue on invested assets 7,220 4,793 
Luxembourg Revenue on invested assets 3,341 998 
Hungary  Revenue on invested assets 3,212 6,292 
Slovenia  Revenue on invested assets 2,693 2,907 
Poland Revenue on invested assets 2,048 91 
Poland Revenue from management fees 605 – 
Czech Republic Revenue on invested assets 794 311 
Italy Revenue on invested assets 349 – 
Greece Revenue on invested assets 476 952 
Greece Revenue from management fees – – 
Romania  Revenue on invested assets 583 3,870 
Romania  Revenue from management fees – – 
Serbia Revenue on invested assets 372 1,128 
Bosnia Revenue on invested assets 263 226 
Slovakia  Revenue on invested assets 18 32 
Liechtenstein Revenue from management fees – 100 

Total revenue on invested assets and revenue from management fees 21,974 21,700 
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 

 
2022 2021 

Croatia Share of net profits of joint venture  8,321 2,258 
Total share of net profits of joint venture 8,321 2,258 
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 

 
2022 2021 

Austria Share of net profits of associate  – 1,373 
Total share of net profits of associate – 1,373 
 
* The amount of EUR 998k has been reclassified from Financial income to Interest income on invested assets as  
   relating to interest income towards Omnio on investment under the financial assets held at fair value (see note 18) 
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The table below presents an overview of the carrying value of invested assets (distressed asset portfolios, investments in joint ventures and financial 
assets at fair value) by country: 
 

 
EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Croatia  66,803  83,096 
Luxembourg 38,080  23,711 
Austria 24,421 26,351 
Poland 10,070  5,781 
Italy  8,027  5,534 
Hungary 6,097  8,325 
Romania 5,011  6,926 
Sweden 4,553  – 
Slovenia 2,251  2,657 
Others (Czech Republic, Serbia, Slovakia, Bosnia) 2,417  2,579 

Total invested assets 167,730 164,960 
 
 
NOTE 8. PERSONNEL EXPENSES   
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 
Salary 4,383 3,378 
Social security expenses and other employment expenses 813 656 
Expenses related to post-employment benefit commitments 148 85 

Total personnel expenses 5,344 4,119 
 
Compensation (including personnel and consulting expenses) for the Board of Directors amounted to EUR 289k in 2022 (EUR 548k in 2021). Personnel 
expenses (including accrued variable compensation) for the Executive Management Committee amounted to EUR 1,068k in 2022 (EUR 1,684k in 2021).  
 
At the end of 2022, DDM employed 174 people (2021:11). The average number of employees during 2022 was 87 people (2021:31). The increase in the 
number of people employed by DDM relates to the consolidation of AxFina from 1 July 2022 (AxFina’s employees at the end of 2022 are 163).  
All of our staff are permanently employed The gender distribution at the end of  2022 was 44% male, 56% female (2021: 73% male, 27% female). The 
average age of DDM employees is 39 years (2021:42). The age distribution of employees is shown below: 
 

For the year ended 31 December  2022 2021 
Up to 30 years 25% – 
30 – 40 years  30% 27% 
41 – 50 years 28% 73% 
51 – 60 years 12% – 
60+ years 4% – 

 
 
NOTE 9. CONSULTING EXPENSES 
 
The Company uses third party suppliers for various services such as auditing and legal services. Consulting services are also used when the Company 
enters new markets and expert advice is needed. The Company’s shareholders have elected PwC as its external auditors in Switzerland, Sweden, 
Luxembourg and Hungary.  
 

For the year ended 31 December   
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 
Consultancy / Service fees 3,937 3,767 
Tax and legal services 564 853 
Audit fees 381 324 

 Total consulting expenses 4,882 4,944 
 
Consultancy / Service fees includes EUR 0.9m (2021: 1.5m) for services expensed under a brokerage contract with DDM Group Finance S.A. during the 
year ended 31 December 2022. Please refer to note 33 for further details.  
 
 
NOTE 10. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
Other operating expenses are expenditures that the Company incurs as a result of performing its normal business operations. 
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 
Non-deductible VAT 406 791 
Administrative expenses  595 690 
IT expenses 738 325 
Insurance 156 158 
Business travel expenses 117 108 
Rental expenses 51 10 
Other operating expenses 19 130 

Total other operating expenses 2,082 2,212 
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NOTE 11. NET FINANCIAL EXPENSES  
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021* 
Interest expense  19,557  15,239 
Amortization of transaction costs  1,155  2,926 
Call premium EUR 100M & EUR 33.5M senior secured bonds  – 2,408 
Fair value loss on financial assets  1,931  687 
Bank charges  334 222 
Realized exchange loss   1,202 76 
Other financial expenses  2 29 

Total financial expenses 24,181  21,587 
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021* 
   
Unrealized exchange profit 671  271 
Realized exchange profit 644 – 
Fair value gain on financial assets 205 – 
Interest income 75 81 
Gain on bonds repurchased – – 

Total financial income 1,595 352 
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021* 
Total financial expenses 24,181  21,587 
Total financial income (1,595)  (352) 

Net financial expenses 22,586  21,235  
* The amount of EUR 998k has been reclassified from Financial income to Interest income on invested assets as  
   relating to interest income towards Omnio on investment under the financial assets held at fair value (see note 18) 
 
The increase in interest expense is explained in the table below and in note 27:  
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 
Interest on senior secured bonds 9% (19 Apr 2021 – 19 Apr 2026) 16,951  9,922 
Interest on senior secured bonds 9.25% (8 Apr 2019 – 6 May 2021) – 2,278 
Interest on senior secured notes (7 Nov 2018 – 30 Jun 2022) 1,741  2,088 
Interest on loan from DDM Group Finance SA 642 – 
Interest on senior secured bonds 8% (11 Dec 2017 – 6 May 2021) – 847 
Interest on bonds 3m Wibor + 4% margin (due June 2031) 190 – 
Revolving credit facility  – 80 
Interest on other loans 33  24 

Total interest expense 19,557 15,239 
 
NOTE 12. TAX EXPENSE  
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 
Current tax    
Current tax on profit for the year (222)  (338) 
Adjustment in respect of prior years (42)  (6) 
Total current tax (264)  (344) 
   
Deferred tax   
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 53  (299) 
Adjustment in deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward 449  1,386 
Total deferred tax 502  1,087 

Tax income / (expense) in income statement 238  743 
 
The tax on the Company’s (loss) / profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise by applying the tax rate for the Swiss domiciled 
companies (as a significant portion of the group companies are domiciled in Switzerland) to the profit / (loss) of the consolidated entities as follows: 
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 
(Loss) / profit before tax  (5,261)  (7,571) 
Tax calculated at 11.85% (Swiss) tax rate (prior year 11.85%) 624  897 
Tax effects of:   
Effect of different tax rates  86  (1) 
Adjustments for tax losses carried forward  (679)  395 
Deferred income tax assets recognized relating to tax losses carried forward 504  202 
Adjustments for previous years and other (297)  (750) 
Tax income / (expense) in income statement 238  743 

 
The Group’s effective tax rate was 11.85% at 31 December 2022 (11.85% at 31 December 2021). The adjustments for tax losses carried forward principally 
relate to change in deferred tax assets and is reflected under deferred income tax assets recognized relating to tax losses carried forward. Adjustments 
for previous years and other mainly refers to charges for deferred tax liabilities and provisions for current taxes in other local jurisdictions. 
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NOTE 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net (loss) / profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the year. The Company has no ordinary shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares. The Company 
has no convertible preference shares which may be exchanged for ordinary shares.  
 

For the year ended 31 December  
EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 
Net (loss) / profit from continuing operations attributable to owners of the Parent Company (5,102)  (6,828) 

Total (5,102) (6,828) 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 13,560,447 13,560,447 
Earnings per share before dilution (EUR) (0.38)  (0.50) 
   
Total potential dilutive shares – – 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – fully diluted 13,560,447 13,560,447 
Diluted earnings per share (EUR) (0.38)  (0.50) 

 
The Board of Directors proposes that no dividend be paid for the 2022 financial year (2021: nil). 
 
 
NOTE 14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement: 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Cash and cash equivalents  52,605 65,485 

Total 52,605 65,485 
 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents did not include any restricted cash payable to third parties (2021: nil). 
 
 
NOTE 15. CURRENT RECEIVABLES 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Accounts receivable  513 1,711 
Tax assets  197 82 
Other receivables  4,504 4,218 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income  6,149 2,957 

Total current receivables 11,363 8,968 
 
The fair value of current receivables approximates their respective carrying value. 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Accounts receivable < 30 days  503 1,650 
Accounts receivable 31-60 days 10 1 
Accounts receivable 61-90 days - 45 
Accounts receivable > 91 days - 15 

Total accounts receivable 513 1,711 
 
A provision of EUR 2k (2021: EUR 2k) was made for impairment of accounts receivables in 2022, under the simplified approach permitted under IFRS 9. 
 
Trade and other receivables are presented in the following currencies:  
 

EUR ‘000s Currency 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Accounts receivable EUR 347 1,161 

HUF - 474 
RON - 56 

 Other (HRK, CZK) 166 20 
Total accounts receivable  513 1,711 
    
Tax assets EUR 197 82 
 SEK - – 
Total tax assets  197 82 
    
Other receivables EUR 1,641 1,717 
 HRK 1,886 1,626 
 CHF 917 875 
 SEK 60 – 
Total other receivables  4,504 4,218 
    
Prepaid expenses and accrued income EUR 5,082 2,124 

CHF 1,029 636 
SEK 3 163 
HUF 24 24 

   Other (CZK, USD) 10 10 
Total prepaid expenses and accrued income 6,149 2,957 

Total current receivables 11,363 8,968 
 
The Group’s overall foreign exchange risk is explained in note 31 “Financial Instruments”. 
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  NOTE 16. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE 
 
On 31 May 2019, DDM acquired a distressed asset portfolio containing secured corporate receivables in Croatia through a 50/50 joint venture with 
B2Holding. As part of the co-investment structure with B2Holding, DDM became 50% owner of the share capital and voting rights of CE Partner S.à r.l. 
and CE Holding Invest S.C.S. (the “Joint Venture”) registered in Luxembourg.  
 

  % of ownership interest Nature of Measurement  Carrying amount ( EUR’000) 
Name of entity Domicile 2022 2021   relationship method 2022 2021 
CE Partner S.à r.l. Luxembourg 50% 50% Joint-Venture Equity method 6 6 
CE Holding Invest S.C.S Luxembourg 50% 50% Joint-Venture Equity method 21,540 31,813 

 
The investment is accounted for under the equity method in accordance with IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and has changed as follows during the year: 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Opening net book value 31,819 25,691 
Additions – 8,521 
Share of net profits of joint venture 8,321  2,258 
Incremental net distribution from joint venture* (18,594)  (4,651) 

Closing net book value 21,546 31,819 
 
* the incremental net distribution from the joint venture includes EUR 19.7m (FY 2021: EUR 5.6m) that has been received as a cash distribution during the full year 2022, of which EUR 1.1m relates 
to 2021 and EUR 18.6m relates to 2022. 
 
The Joint Venture is subject, by agreement, to joint control shared equally by DDM and B2Holding. The Joint Venture has invested in a non-performing 
secured portfolio acquired from HETA Asset Resolution in Croatia. Summarised financial information of the Joint Venture is set out below. The summarized 
financial information shown below represents amounts from the Joint Venture’s financial statements that were prepared in accordance with IFRS: 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Summarised balance sheet   
Non-current assets   
     Portfolio investments 58,635 63,541 
Current assets   
     Cash and cash equivalents 172 3,371 
     Other current assets 732 – 
Total assets 59,540 66,912 
Current liabilities   
     Other current liabilities 407 2,145 
Total liabilities 407 2,145 
Equity 59,133 64,767 
Total liabilities & equity 59,540 66,912 
   
Summarised income statement   
Interest income 33,759 4,570 
Operating expenses (62) (54) 
Operating profit 33,697 4,516 
Financial expenses – – 
Profit before tax 33,697 4,516 
Taxation – – 
Profit for the year 33,697 4,516 
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  NOTE 17. DISTRESSED ASSET PORTFOLIOS  
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Opening accumulated acquisition cost 319,670  292,614 
Acquisitions 10,944  20,198 
Acquisitions through business combinations 5,517 – 
Reclassification from other long-term receivables from 
Investments   (4,973)  – 

Disposals – – 
Revaluation (including forex differences) 2,241  6,858 
Closing accumulated acquisition cost 333,399 319,670 
    
Opening accumulated amortization and impairment (238,076)  (213,362) 
Amortization for the year (including forex differences) (24,220)  (24,714) 
Impairment – – 
Closing accumulated amortization and impairment (262,296)  (238,076) 
   

Closing net book value 71,103  81,594 
 
The acquisitions through business combinations relate to the AxFina acquisition during the year. Please see note 35. 
The acquisitions during the year relate to the investments in distressed assets portfolios in Croatia, for EUR 10.4m and in Romania for EUR 0.5m. 
 
Distressed asset portfolios by currency: 
 

Currency  
EUR ‘000s  31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
HRK  45,160  51,179 

PLN  10,070  5,781 

EUR  3,737  9,155 

HUF  6,097  8,325 

RON  4,347  5,279 

RSD  1,508  1,591 

CZK  184  284 

Total 71,103  81,594 
 
Included within distressed asset portfolios are approximately EUR 4.5m (2021: 7m) of real estate assets which have been repossessed as part of the 
management of secured non-performing loan portfolios. This collateral relating to real estate is considered when determining the recoverability and carrying 
amount of the portfolio / receivable held at amortised cost. Any collateral received during the life of the portfolio is disposed of on an on-going basis to limit 
the amount of collateral held.  
 
 
NOTE 18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
 
Equity-traded instruments and other investments that do not meet the criteria under IFRS 9 of cash flows consisting solely of payments of principle and 
interest (SPPI) and Hold to collect for being measured at amortised cost nor elected at FVTOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 
Financial assets held at FVTPL are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised through financial income or expenses respectively in the consolidated income statement.  
Dividends are included within financial income and interest income from financial assets held at FVTPL is included within Interest income on invested 
assets. 
 
The investments in financial assets held at FVTPL are summarized in the table below: 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Balance at beginning of the year 51,547 – 
Reclassification from investment in associates at fair 
value – 26,351 

Additions 17,757  13,416 
Fair value gains/losses (1,725) – 
Capitalized interests 1,119 – 
Reclassification from accounts receivable – 11,780 
Forex exchange differences 45 – 
Balance at end of the year 68,743 51,547 

 
During 2021 DDM made the following investments: 
On 3 December 2021, DDM acquired a 5% stake in Borgosesia S.p.A. (“Borgosesia”), an Italian investment platform specialized in secured non-performing 
loans and special situations for approximately EUR 1.4m financed by cash on hand.  
During 2021, DDM has invested into a total of EUR 15.8m of pre-IPO convertible bonds in Omnione S.A (“Omnio”), a leading innovator in Banking-as-a-
Service. In addition, EUR 3.9m was invested in Omnio on 6 October and EUR 4.0m was invested in Omnio Group Limited (“Omnio Group”) on 30 
November.  
On 17 December 2021, the investment in Addiko Bank was reclassified from investment in associates and measured at a closing share price of EUR 
12.65/share (13.65/share on 31 December 2021). 

 
During 2022, DDM made the following investments in Financial assets ,  
On 14 January 2022 , DDM invested  EUR 4.5m in Water By Nordic AB, which is a special purpose vehicle (SPV) located in Sweden. The purpose of this 
SPV  is to invest in a listed Special Purpose Acquisition Company (SPAC). The Company has classified this investment as a financial asset at fair value, 
as DDM determined that they do not have control over the investee consistent with IFRS 10.  
During the year 2022, DDM further invested a total EUR 13.3m in the Omnio investment, these increases were in line with the investment strategy adopted 
in 2021, which is to further support Omnio’s growth plans. 

 
Both Water By Nordic AB and the Omnio investments are classified as Level 3 financial, since they have unobservable inputs. The are further valued at 
fair value also because the underlying invested assets do not meet the criteria under IFRS 9 of cash flows consisting solely of payments of principle and 
interest (SPPI). 
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NOTE 19. OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES FROM INVESTMENTS 
 
In December 2021, a bridge loan was granted by DDM to Borgosesia in order to acquire a secured non-performing loan in Italy for EUR 4.5m. The 
receivable was booked as distressed asset portfolio as at 31 December 2021.  
On 22 April 2022, upon completion of the transaction, DDM subscribed EUR 4.5m of notes issued by an Italian Securitization vehicle (BGS Securites Srl) 
owned by Borgosesia Spa and reclassified the amount to Other long-term receivables.  
A further investment of EUR 1.5m was made on 12 December 2022 in additional notes issued by BGS Securities Srl.  
Both investments are part of the strategic, industrial and financial partnership between Borgosesia Spa and DDM, aimed at developing investments in real 
estate assets deriving from special situations and non-performing loans secured by mortgages in Italy. 
 
DDM and Borgosesia Spa are co-investors in the notes issued by BGS Securities at 90% and 10% respectively. As part of the partnership, BGS Securities 
Srl will exclusively entrust, Borgosesia Spa and its subsidiaries with the servicing activities connected to the collection of the distressed asset portfolio. 
 
During 2022 the Group has reclassified its investment in the Italian portfolio from distressed asset portfolio to other long-term receivable from investments 
(see note 18), being the investment in argument represented by assets-backed notes (ABS) issued by an Italian  securitization vehicle. 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Opening accumulated acquisition cost – – 
Reclassification from distressed asset portfolios 4,973  – 
Acquisitions 1,500  
Revaluation (including forex differences) – – 
Closing accumulated acquisition cost 6,473  – 
    
Opening accumulated amortization and impairment – – 

Amortization for the year (including forex differences) (135)  – 
 

Closing accumulated amortization and impairment (135)  – 
   

Closing net book value 6,338  – 
 
Other long-term receivables from investments by currency: 
 

Currency  
EUR ‘000s  31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
EUR  6,338  – 

Total 6,338  – 
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NOTE 20. TANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

EUR ‘000s 
Furniture Computer 

hardware Total 
Year ended 31 December 2022    
at 1 January 2022 48 20 68 
Additions – 115  115 
Acquired through Bus. Comb. - Cost – 136 136 
Acqu. through Bus. Comb. - Accum Depr. – (21) (21) 
Disposals – – – 
Depreciation (19)  (37)  (56)  
Impairment – – – 
at 31 December 2022 29  213  242  
    
At cost 126  497  623  
Accumulated depreciation (97)  (284)  (381)  
Net book value at 31 December 2022 29  213  242  
    
Year ended 31 December 2021    
at 1 January 2021 67 21 88 
Additions – 9 9 
Disposals – – – 
Depreciation (19) (10) (29) 
Impairment – – – 
at 31 December 2021 48 20 68 
    
At cost 126 246 372 
Accumulated depreciation (78) (226) (304) 
Net book value at 31 December 2021 48 20 68 

 
The acquisitions through business combinations relate to the AxFina acquisition during the year. Please see note 35. 
 
 
NOTE 21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 
 

EUR ‘000s Office premises Motor vehicles Office equipment Total 
Year ended 31 December 2022     
at 1 January 2022 145 – 1 146 
Additions – 48 – 48  
Acquired through Bus. Comb. - Cost 710 – – 710 
Acqu. through Bus. Comb. - Accum Depr. (109) – – (109) 
Disposals – – – – 
Depreciation (178)   (14)   (1) (193)  
Forex exchange differences and others 1 – – 1 
at 31 December 2022 569  34  – 603  
     
At cost 1,078  108  7  1,193  
Accumulated depreciation (509)  (74)  (7)  (590)  
Net book value at 31 December 2022 569  34  – 603  

 
Year ended 31 December 2021     
at 1 January 2021 245 6 3 254 
Additions – – – – 
Disposals (6) – – (6) 
Depreciation (94) (6) (2) (102) 
Impairment – – – – 
at 31 December 2021 145 – 1 146 
     
At cost 367 60 7 434 
Accumulated depreciation (222) (60) (6) (288) 
Net book value at 31 December 2021 145 – 1 146 

 
The acquisitions through business combinations relate to the AxFina acquisition during the year. Please see note 35. 
 
The majority of the underlying right-of-use assets in DDM’s operating leases are office buildings, the majority of which located in Austria, Hungary and 
Romania, following  AxFina acquisition. 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost with an initial measurement amount equal to the lease liability see note 26.  
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NOTE 22. GOODWILL  
 
The Company tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. Goodwill is allocated to 
the two cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The goodwill relates to the acquisition of 50% of DDM Group AG in the year 2012 (EUR 4.2m), 
and to the acquisition of the 50.16% AxFina during 2022 (EUR 11m) (see note 35).  
 
The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined from value in use calculations and no impairment has been identified. Value in use is based on pre-
tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period, discounted to present value by using a pre-
tax, market-determined rate that reflects the current assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the cash-flow 
estimates have not been adjusted. 
 
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding terminal growth rate, gross collections minus commissions, fees and operating 
expenses. The expected amounts of gross collections minus commissions and fees are determined based on management’s past experience along with 
external sources of information. The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from this CGU is 12.2% (prior year 11%). A terminal growth rate 
of 2% (prior year 2%) has been applied. 
 
In projected net cash flow collections, the recoverable amount calculated based on value in use exceeded the carrying value in 2022 (exceeded the 
carrying value in 2021). The goodwill impairment assessment is sensitive to changes in estimates.  
The value-in-use estimates are most sensitive to changes in projected net cash flows or a decrease in the assumed terminal growth rates. The projected 
net cash flows will need to decrease by c.50%  for AxFina and by 21% (2021: 25%) for DDM; or the terminal growth rate will need to decrease to c.-50% 
for AxFina and -2.5% (2021 -3%) for DDM (each change taken in isolation), to erase the headroom and result in an impairment loss. 
 
At the beginning and end of the financial year the recoverable amount of the CGU was in excess of its book value and therefore management deem it 
reasonable not to recognize any impairment in the carrying amount for goodwill. 
 

EUR ‘000s Goodwill 
Year ended 31 December 2022  
at 1 January 2022 4,160 
Additions 11,022 
Disposals – 
Impairment  
Foreign exchange differences  1 
at 31 December 2022 15,183 
  
At cost 15,183 
Accumulated impairment – 
Net book value at 31 December 2022 15,183 
  
Year ended 31 December 2021  
at 1 January 2021 4,160 
Additions – 
Disposals – 
Impairment  – 
at 31 December 2021 4,160 
  
At cost 4,160 
Accumulated impairment – 

Net book value at 31 December 2021 4,160 
 
 
NOTE 23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
 

EUR ‘000s IT software Others  Total 
Year ended 31 December 2022    
at 1 January 2022 782 – 782 
Additions 151  – 151 
Acquired through Bus. Comb. - Cost 643 362 1,005 
Acqu. through Bus. Comb. - Accum Depr. (85) – (85) 
Disposals – – – 
Amortization (326)  (87) (413) 
Impairment  – – – 
at 31 December 2022 1,165  275 1,440 
    
At cost 3,019  362 3,381 
Accumulated amortization (1,854)  (87) (1,941) 

Net book value at 31 December 2022 1,165  275 1,440 
    
Year ended 31 December 2021    

at 1 January 2021 1,043 – 1,043 
Additions – – – 
Disposals – – – 
Amortization (261) – (261) 
Impairment  – – – 
at 31 December 2021 782 – 782 
    
At cost 2,225 – 2,225 
Accumulated amortization (1,443) – (1,443) 

Net book value at 31 December 2021 782 – 782 
 
Prior to 1 January 2020, each significant addition to the FUSION system was amortized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over its expected 
useful life of 20 years. On 1 January 2020 the expected remaining useful life of this asset was reassessed to 5 years and the average remaining 
amortization period of the FUSION software at 31 December 2022 is 2 years.  
The acquisitions through business combinations relate to the AxFina acquisition during the year. Please see note 35. 
The item “Others” refers to customers related servicing contracts (see note 5). 
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  NOTE 24. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 

Other non-current assets by currency:  
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
EUR  816  1,315 
CHF  – 41 
PLN  301 – 

Total 1,117  1,356 
 

 
 
NOTE 25. CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

EUR ‘000s  Less than 3 months 3 - 12 months Total 
at 31 December 2022     
Accounts payable  532 2,145 2,677 
Tax liabilities  20 229 249 
Accrued interest  – 4,621 4,621 
Accrued expenses and deferred income  914 1,547 2,461 
Lease liabilities  26 261 287 
Loans  – 9,175 9,175 

Total current liabilities  1,492 17,978 19,470 
 
at 31 December 2021 

 
  

 

Accounts payable  1,990 – 1,990 
Tax liabilities  153 416 569 
Accrued interest  – 5,548 5,548 
Accrued expenses and deferred income  492 2,205 2,697 
Lease liabilities  20 66 86 
Loans  – 17,842 17,842 

Total current liabilities  2,655 26,077 28,732 
 
Current liabilities are presented in the following currencies: 

EUR ‘000s Currency 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
    
Accounts payable CHF 958 1,175 

EUR 724 693 

 CZK 7 24 

 Other (RON, HRK, SEK) 988 98 
Total accounts payable  2,677 1,990 
    
Tax liabilities EUR 189 256 
 HRK – 158 
 CHF 21 155 
 RSD 39 – 
Total tax liabilities  249 569 
    
Accrued interest EUR 4,621 5,548 
Total accrued interest  4,621 5,548 
    
Accrued expenses and deferred income CHF 761 1,477 

EUR 823 976 
HRK 376 106 
SEK – 5 
HUF 278 – 
Other (RSD, CZK) 223 133 

Total accrued expenses and deferred income 2,461 2,697 
   
Lease liabilities CHF 79 86 
 EUR 46 – 
 HRK 20 – 
 RON 61 – 
 HUF 67 – 
 PLN 14 – 
Total lease liabilities 287 86 
   
Loans EUR 9,175 17,842 
Total loans 9,175 17,842 

Total current liabilities 19,470 28,732 
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 NOTE 26. LEASE LIABILITIES 
 

Amounts in EUR ‘000s 
 Current 

lease liabilities 
Non-current 

lease liabilities 
Total 

Year ended 31 December 2022  86 83 169 

At 1 January 2022     

Additions  – – – 

Acquired through Bus. Combniations  140 420 560 

Reclassifications  70 (70) – 

Disposals  –  – – 

Cash flow  (10)  (96)  (106)  

Interest expense  1  27  28  

At 31 December 2022  287  364  651  
 

Year ended 31 December 2021     

At 1 January 2021  123 166 289 

Additions  – – – 

Disposals  (12) (33) (45) 

Cash flow  (35) (64) (99) 

Interest expense  10 14  24 

At 31 December 2021  86 83 169 
 
 
The acquisitions through business combinations relate to the AxFina acquisition during the year. Please see note 35. 
Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.  
 
 
NOTE 27. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 
 

EUR ‘000s 
Less than 

1 year 
Between  

1 and 2 years 
Between  

2 and 3 years 
Between  

3 and 4 years 
Between  

4 and 5 years 
Beyond  
5 years Total 

at 31 December 2022        
Bond loan, 9% – – – 184,449 – – 184,449 
Senior secured notes 8,809 – – – – – 8,809 
Borrowing, DDM Group 
Finance S.A. – 11,070 – – – – 11,070 
Bond Loan 366 559 505 457 465 1,445 3,797 
Total 9,175 11,629 505 184,906 465 1,445 208,125 
 
at 31 December 2021 

 
   

   

Bond loan, 9% – – – – 183,452 – 183,452 
Senior secured notes 17,842 – – – – – 17,842 

Total 17,842 – – – 183,452 – 201,294 
  
 
Bond loan EUR 200m 
On 19 April 2021, DDM Debt AB (publ) (“DDM Debt”) issued EUR 150m of senior secured fixed rate bonds at 9% within a total framework amount of EUR 
300m. The bonds with ISIN number SE0015797683 have a final maturity date of 19 April 2026 and are listed on the Corporate Bond list at Nasdaq 
Stockholm. The proceeds from the new bond issue were mainly employed towards refinancing the existing EUR 100m and EUR 33.5m bonds (of which 
EUR 23m of the EUR 100m bonds were already held by DDM Debt) and for investments and acquisitions.  
 
On 21 September 2021, DDM Debt successfully completed a EUR 50m tap issue under the EUR 300m senior secured bond framework. The bond tap 
issue was placed at a price of 102.0%. Following the tap issue the total outstanding amount of DDM Debt’s bond loan is EUR 200 million. 
 
DDM Debt’s financial instruments contain a number of financial covenants, including limits on certain financial indicators. The financial covenants 
according to the terms and conditions of the senior secured bonds are: an equity ratio of at least 20.00% and net interest bearing debt to ERC below 
75.00%. The financial covenants must be complied with on an incurrence test basis. DDM’s management carefully monitors these key financial indicators, 
so that it can quickly take measures if there is a risk that one or more limits may be exceeded. Please also refer to the financial statements of DDM Debt.  
 
DDM Debt has pledged the shares in its material wholly-owned subsidiaries as security under the terms and conditions. DDM Finance AB is a guarantor 
of the bonds. In addition, the investors receive a first ranking share pledge over the shares of DDM Debt. The terms and conditions of DDM Debt’s senior 
secured bonds contain a number of restrictions, including relating to distributions, the nature of the business, financial indebtedness, disposals of assets, 
dealings with related parties, negative pledges, new market loans, mergers and demergers and local credits. The terms and conditions of the senior 
secured bonds are available in their entirety on our website. 
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  NOTE 27. LOANS AND BORROWINGS… continued 
 
 
Senior secured notes EUR 18m 
In 2017-2019 DDM Finance AB (“DDM Finance”) issued EUR 18m in total of senior secured notes. DDM Finance used the majority of the net proceeds 
to provide a shareholder loan to DDM Finance’s wholly owned direct subsidiary DDM Debt, which thereby qualifies as equity under the current DDM Debt 
senior secured bond terms. Under the terms and conditions investors receive a share pledge over the shares of DDM Finance, and any downstream loans 
to DDM Finance’s direct subsidiary are pledged to investors as intercompany loans. The maturity date of the senior secured notes was originally 30 June 
2022, but was extended to 31 March 2023, with a partial repayment of EUR 12.5m including accrued interest made on 7 July 2022.  
 
 
Bond loan EUR 6m 
The bond loan of EUR 3,797k is a non-interest bearing loan which was taken on as part of the acquisition of AxFina, which in its turn took over the financial 
liability when acquiring its Polish subsidiary, Raport S.A. The bond loan is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Since the bond 
as per restructuring agreement does not have an interest component a reference interest rate was applied.  
 
 
Borrowing, DDM Group Finance S.A. EUR 11.1m 
During the year DDM Finance AB entered into a loan agreement with DDM Group Finance S.A. for an amount of EUR 11.1m, at an annual interest rate 
of 12% (see note 35). 
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 NOTE 28. CASH FLOW AND NET DEBT 
 
The movements in cash and cash equivalents and borrowings during the year were as follows: 

Amounts in EUR ‘000s 
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
Current 

borrowings 
Non-current 
borrowings 

Total 

Year ended 31 December 2022     

At 1 January 2022 65,485 (17,842)  (183,452)  (135,809)  

Cash flow (21,371) 9,365  (11,070)  (23,076) 

Items acquired from purchase of subsidiary 7,537 (162) (3,538) 3,837 

Reallocation from non-current to current borrowings – (378)  378 – 

Discount value of finance expense – – (195) (195) 

Amortization of transaction costs (non-cash) – (158)  (996)  (1,154)  

Exchange movements 954 – (77) 877 

At 31 December 2022 52,605  (9,175)  (198,950)  (155,520)  
     

Year ended 31 December 2021     

At 1 January 2021 31,416 (45,362) (92,840) (106,786) 
Cash flow 34,197 45,890 (106,056) (25,969) 
Amortization of transaction costs (non-cash) – (17,689) 17,689 – 
Other non-cash movements – (681) (2,245) (2,926) 
Exchange movements (128) – – (128) 

At 31 December 2021 65,485 (17,842) (183,452) (135,809) 

 
 
A reconciliation of cash flow to movement in net debt is shown below:  

Amounts in EUR ‘000s 2022 2021 

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (21,371) 34,197 

Cash acquired from purchase of subsidiary 7,537 – 

Borrowing acquired from purchase of subsidiary (3,700) – 

Increase in external borrowings (11,070)  (182,756) 

Capitalized written procedure costs – – 

Repayment of external borrowings 9,365  122,590 

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows (19,239) (25,969) 

Amortization of transaction costs (non-cash) (1,154)  (2,926) 

Discount value of finance expense – – 

Other non-cash movements (195)  – 

Exchange movements  877 (128) 

Movement in net debt during the year (19,711)  (29,023) 

Opening net debt (135,809)  (106,786) 

Closing net debt (155,520)  (135,809) 

 
 
 
NOTE 29. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS 
 
The Company sponsors a pension plan according to the national regulations in Switzerland. The Swiss plan is outsourced to and operated through a 
collective foundation with an insurance company which is legally independent. The pension plan is funded by employees’ and employers’ contributions. 
Swiss pension schemes have certain characteristics of defined benefit plans and the pension plan is therefore regarded as a defined benefit plan in line 
with IAS 19. The post-employment benefit commitment is measured based on the projected unit credit method.  
 
In 2022, 9 employees and in 2021, 10 employees participated in the defined benefit plans. Employees are insured for death, disability and for retirement 
benefits. The table below provides where the Company’s post-employment benefit amounts and activity are included in the financial statements. 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Balance sheet commitments for:   
– Post-employment benefit commitments (882) (1,389) 
   
Income statement charge for:   

– Post-employment benefit commitments (148) (85) 
 
The amounts recognized in the balance sheet are determined as follows: 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Defined benefit obligation (2,754)  (2,981) 
Fair value of plan assets 1,872  1,592 
Deficit of funded plans (882)  (1,389) 

Post-employment benefit commitments (882)  (1,389) 
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NOTE 26. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS  
 
The Company sponsors a pension plan according to the national regulations in Switzerland. The Swiss plan is outsourced to and operated through a 
collective foundation with an insurance company which is legally independent. The pension plan is funded by employees’ and employers’ contributions. 
Swiss pension schemes have certain characteristics of defined benefit plans and the pension plan is therefore regarded as a defined benefit plan in line 
with IAS 19. The post-employment benefit commitment is measured based on the projected unit credit method.  
 
In 2018, XX employees and in 2017, 22 employees participated in the defined benefit plans. Employees are insured for death, disability and for retirement 
benefits. The table below provides where the Company’s post-employment benefit amounts and activity are included in the financial statements. 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Balance sheet commitments for:   
– Post-employment benefit commitments  (913) 
   
Income statement charge for:   

– Post-employment benefit commitments  (312) 
 
The amounts recognized in the balance sheet are determined as follows: 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
Defined benefit obligation  (1,817) 
Fair value of plan assets  905 
Deficit of funded plans  (913) 

Post-employment benefit commitments  (913) 
  
The movement in the post-employment benefit commitments during the year is as follows: 
 

EUR ‘000s 
Defined benefit 

obligation 
Fair value of  
plan assets Total 

at 1 January 2017 (1,199) 725 (474) 
Current service cost (197) – (197) 
Past service cost - plan amendments (205) – (205) 
Interest (expense) / income (10) 6 (4) 
 (412) 6 (406) 
Re-measurements:    
– Return on plan assets greater / (less) than the discount rate – 44 44 
– Gain / (loss) from change in financial assumptions (34) – (34) 
– Experience gains / (losses) (194) – (194) 
 (228) 44 (184) 
Contributions:    
– Employer – 95 95 
– Plan participants (95) 95 – 
Payments from plans:    
– Benefit payments (12) 12 – 
    
Translation differences 129 (72) 57 
     
at 31 December 2017 (1,817) 905 (913) 
    
at 1 January 2018 (1,817) 905 (913) 
Current service cost    
Past service cost - plan amendments    
Interest (expense) / income    
    
Re-measurements:    
– Return on plan assets greater / (less) than the discount rate    
– Gain / (loss) from change in financial assumptions    
– Experience gains / (losses)    
    
Contributions:    
– Employer    
– Plan participants    
Payments from plans:    
– Benefit payments    
    
Translation differences    
     
at 31 December 2018    

 
Methods and Assumptions Used in Sensitivity Analysis 
The discount rate sensitivity includes a corresponding change in the interest crediting rate as well as the BVG minimum interest crediting rate assumptions. 
 
The following significant actuarial assumptions were used at 31 December 2018: 
 

  Sensitivity analysis Effect on DBO, EUR ‘000s 
Discount rate 0.75% 0.25% increase (73) 
Discount rate 0.75% 0.25% decrease 76 

Mortality BVG 2015 Generational tables 
Increase of 1 year in expected lifetime of 

plan participants at age 65 26 

Mortality BVG 2015 Generational tables 
Decrease of 1 year in expected lifetime of 

plan participants at age 65 (26) 
 

NOTE 29. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS... continued 
 

The movement in the post-employment benefit commitments during the year is as follows: 

EUR ‘000s 
Defined benefit 

obligation 
Fair value of  
plan assets Total 

at 1 January 2022 (2,981) 1,592 (1,389) 
Current service cost (332) – (332) 
Past service cost - plan amendments – – – 
Interest (expense) / income (3) 2 (1) 
 (335) 2 (333) 
Re-measurements:    
– Return on plan assets greater / (less) than the discount rate – (101) (101) 
– Gain / (loss) from change in demographic assumptions – – – 
– Gain / (loss) from change in financial assumptions 1,049 – 1,049 
– Experience gains / (losses) (217) – (217) 
 832 (101) 731 
Contributions:    
– Employer – 166 166 
– Plan participants (166) 166 – 
Payments from plans:    
– Benefit payments 38 (38) – 
    
Past service cost    
– Plan amendments 15 - 15 
    

Translation differences (157) 85 (72) 
     

at 31 December 2022 (2,754) 1,872 (882) 
 
at 1 January 2021 (2,582) 1,123 (1,459) 

Current service cost (253) – (253) 
Past service cost - plan amendments – – – 
Interest (expense) / income (3) 1 (2) 
 (256) 1 (255) 
Re-measurements:    
– Return on plan assets greater / (less) than the discount rate – 169 169 
– Gain / (loss) from change in demographic assumptions – – – 
– Gain / (loss) from change in financial assumptions 379 – 379 
– Experience gains / (losses) (323) – (323) 
 56 169 225 
Contributions:    
– Employer –    150 150 
– Plan participants (150) 150 – 
Payments from plans:    
– Benefit payments 65 (64) 1 
    

Past service cost    

– Plan amendments 19 - 19 
    

Translation differences (133) 63 (70) 
     

at 31 December 2021 (2,981) 1,592 (1,389) 
 

Methods and Assumptions Used in Sensitivity Analysis 
The discount rate sensitivity includes a corresponding change in the interest crediting rate as well as the BVG minimum interest crediting rate assumptions. 
 

The following significant actuarial assumptions were used at 31 December 2022: 

  Sensitivity analysis 
Effect on DBO, EUR ‘000s 

31 December 2022 
Effect on DBO, EUR ‘000s 

31 December 2021 
Discount rate 0.25% 0.25% increase (76)  (154) 
Discount rate 0.25% 0.25% decrease 76 167 

Mortality 
BVG 2020 Generational tables 

with CMI 2018 
Increase of 1 year in expected lifetime of 

plan participants at age 65 15  30 

Mortality 
BVG 2020 Generational tables 

with CMI 2018 
Decrease of 1 year in expected lifetime of 

plan participants at age 65 (14)  (29) 
 

Mortality 
The mortality tables are the Swiss BVG 2020 generational mortality tables for males and females. 
The expected lifetime of a participant who is aged 65 and the expected lifetime (from age 65) of a participant who will be age 65 in 15 years are shown in 
years below based on the above mortality tables. 
Age Males Females 
65 21.80 23.54 
65 in 15 years 23.04 24.75 

 

Retirement 
100% of males retire at age 65. 100% of females retire at age 64. 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:  

 2022 2021 
Discount rate 2.20% 0.10% 
Price inflation 1.25% 1.00% 
Salary increases 3.25% 3.00% 
Future increases in social security 1.50% 1.25% 
Assumed pension increases 0.00% 0.00% 

 

Description of pension plan characteristics and associated risks 
DDM Group AG meets its commitments under Switzerland’s mandatory company-provided second pillar pension system to provide contribution-based 
cash balance retirement and risk benefits to employees via a contract with a collective foundation. The Company retains overall responsibility for deciding 
on such fundamental aspects as the level and structure of plan benefits at each contract renewal and remains responsible for providing the benefits to 
members if the collective foundation contract is cancelled or the collective foundation is unable to meet its commitments. 
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 NOTE 29. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS... continued 
 
Companies within the Swiss regulatory environment have substantial freedom to define their pension plan design (e.g. with regards to the salary covered, 
level of retirement credits, or even overall plan design) provided the benefits are always at least equal to the minimum requirements as defined by the law 
(second pillar mandatory minimum benefits). Most employers provide higher benefits than those required by law. The minimum level of retirement benefit  
is expressed by a cash balance formula with age-related contribution rates (or “retirement credits”) on an insured salary defined by law and a required 
interest crediting rate, which is set by the government (1.00% in 2022 and 2021). There are a number of guarantees provided within the plan which 
potentially expose the Company to risks which may require them to provide additional financing (if the collective foundation fails or the Company chooses 
to discontinue the insurance arrangements). The main risks that they are exposed to include: 
•  Investment risk: there is a guaranteed return on account balances of at least 0% per annum on the total account balance as well as the rate set by the 

government (1.00% in 2022 and 2021) on the mandatory minimum benefits. 
•  Pensioner longevity and investment risk: the pension plan offers a lifelong pension in lieu of the cash balance lump sum upon retirement. The plan has 

defined rates for converting the lump sum to a pension and there is the risk that the members live longer than implied by these conversion rates and 
that the pension assets fail to achieve the investment return implied by these conversion rates. 

 
Determination of economic benefit available 
No determination of the economic benefit available has been made since the plan has a funded status deficit. 
 
Description of asset-liability matching strategies 
DDM Group AG invests in a collective foundation in which assets are selected to match pension plan liabilities. 
DDM Group AG does not have flexibility in the choice of investment. 
The expected contributions for the year ending 31 December 2022 are: 
1)  Employer EUR 164k 
2)  Plan participants EUR 164k 
The weighted average duration of post-employment benefit commitments is 17.5 years. 
Maturity profile of post-employment benefit commitments: 
 

Expected benefit payments during the fiscal year ending: EUR ‘000s 
31 December 2023 129 
31 December 2024 137 
31 December 2025 146 
31 December 2026 151 
31 December 2028  155 
31 December 2028 through 31 December 2032 826 

Analysis of post-employment benefit commitments by participant category: 
1) Active participants: EUR 2,754k 
2) Deferred participants: EUR - 
3) Pensioners: EUR - 
Plan asset information:  
 

 
Allocation percentage 

31 December 2022 
Allocation percentage 

31 December 2021 
Equity securities 33.00% 30.37% 
Debt securities 32.00% 30.35% 
Real estate-property 15.00% 15.62% 
Cash and cash equivalents 1.00% 0.40% 
Derivatives – – 
Other 19.00% 23.26% 

Total 100.00% 100.00% 
The majority of the plan assets are fair valued at 31 December 2022 based on quoted prices in active markets. 
 
NOTE 30. DEFERRED TAXES  
                
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:  
 

Deferred tax assets 
EUR ‘000s 

Loss carried 
forward 

Post-employment 
benefit 

Software 
amortization Total 

at 1 January 2022 2,025 163 81 2,269 
Acquired through Business Combination 550 – – 550 
(Charged) / credited to the Income statement 449 – 24 473 
(Charged) / credited to Other comprehensive income – (60) – (60) 
Foreign exchange differences and other movements 151 – – 151 
at 31 December 2022 3,175 103 105 3,383 
     

   at 1 January 2021 639 172 59 870 
(Charged) / credited to the Income statement 1,386 – 22 1,408 
(Charged) / credited to Other comprehensive income – (9) – (9) 
at 31 December 2021 2,025 163 81 2,269 

 
Deferred tax liabilities 
EUR ‘000s 

Invested assets Total 

at 1 January 2022 (629) (629) 
Acquired through Business Combination (661) (661) 
(Charged) / credited to the Income statement 29 29 
(Charged) / credited to Other comprehensive income – – 
Foreign exchange differences and other movements 29 29 
at 31 December 2022 (1,232) (1,232) 
   

   at 1 January 2021 (308) (308) 
(Charged) / credited to the Income statement (321) (321) 
(Charged) / credited to Other comprehensive income – – 
Foreign exchange differences – – 
at 31 December 2021 (629) (629) 

 
The Company’s deferred tax assets have been recognized in accordance with IAS 12, based on historical performance and future budgets, the Board of 
Directors believe that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which the assets will be reversed.  Under Swiss law, net operating 
losses can be carried forward for a period of up to seven years. 
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NOTE 27. DEFERRED TAXES  
                
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:  
 

Deferred tax assets 
EUR ‘000s 

Loss carried 
forward 

Post-employment 
benefit 

Software 
amortization Other Total 

   at 1 January 2017 1,233 47 8 – 1,289 
(Charged) / credited to the Income statement 137 – 8 – 145 
(Charged) / credited to Other comprehensive income – 44 – – 44 
Foreign exchange differences (75) – – – (75) 
at 31 December 2017 1,295 91 16 – 1,403 
      
at 1 January 2018 1,295 91 16 – 1,403 
(Charged) / credited to the Income statement      
(Charged) / credited to Other comprehensive income      
Foreign exchange differences      
at 31 December 2018      

 
 

Deferred tax liabilities 
EUR ‘000s 

Goodwill 
                  

Invested assets Software 
amortization 

Others Total 

   at 1 January 2017 – (231) – – (231)   
(Charged) / credited to the Income statement – (259) – – (259) 
(Charged) / credited to Other comprehensive income – – – – – 
Foreign exchange differences – – – – – 
at 31 December 2017 – (490) – – (490) 
      
at 1 January 2018 – (490) – – (490) 
(Charged) / credited to the Income statement      
(Charged) / credited to Other comprehensive income      
Foreign exchange differences      
at 31 December 2018      

 
 
The Group’s deferred tax assets have been recognized in accordance with IAS 12 as, based on historical performance and future budgets, the Board of 
Directors believe that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which the assets will be reversed. 
 
 

NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The key risks and uncertainties faced by the Company are managed within an established risk management framework. The Company’s day-to-day 
working capital is funded by its cash and cash equivalents. The key risks identified for the Company are discussed below. The Company has exposure to 
credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk, which arises throughout the normal course of the Company’s business. 
Fair values 
The Company considers there to be no material differences between the financial asset values in the consolidated balance sheet and their fair value. 
Invested assets are classified as financial assets carried at amortised cost and recognized at amortized cost according to the effective interest rate method. 
The Company determines the carrying value by calculating the present value of estimated future cash flows at the invested assets’ original effective 
interest rate. Adjustments are recognized in the income statement. In the Company’s opinion, the market’s yield requirements in the form of effective 
interest rates on new invested assets have varied depending on the profile of receivables, underlying collateral and geographical locations of the portfolios 
acquired. With this valuation method, the carrying value is the best estimate of the fair value of invested assets.  
The table below shows the financial assets and financial liabilities where the carrying values are considered to be materially in line with their fair values: 
 

EUR ‘000s IFRS 9 category Fair value category 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Assets Fair value and carrying value of financial instruments 
Accounts receivable  Financial assets at amortized cost Level 2 513  1,711 
Other receivables Financial assets at amortized cost Level 2 4,505  4,218 
Distressed asset portfolios and other long-term 
receivables from investments: Financial assets at amortized cost Level 3 77,441 81,594 
Financial assets at fair value Financial assets at fair value Level 1 26,119 27,835 
Financial assets at fair value Financial assets at fair value Level 3 42,633 23,712 
Liabilities Fair value and carrying value of financial instruments 
Accounts payable Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 2,677  1,990 
Other payables Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 7,331 8,814 
Lease liabilities Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 651 169 

 
For the Company’s revolving credit facility, short-term and long-term senior secured bonds, the fair value is considered to be materially different to the 
carrying value, as shown in the table below: 
 

EUR ‘000s IFRS 9 category Fair value category Fair value Carrying value 
At 31 December 2022  
Senior secured notes Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 8,809 8,809 
Borrowing, DDM Group Finance S.A. Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 11,070 11,070 
Bond loan Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 5,896 3,797 
Bond loan, 9% Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 114,990 184,449 
At 31 December 2021  
Senior secured notes Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 18,000 17,842 
Bond loan, 9% Financial liabilities at amortized cost Level 2 189,304 183,452 

 
The table below shows the movement in the carrying values of all financial assets at fair value level 3, refer to note 18 distressed asset porfolios for further 
information regarding financial at amortized cost level 3: 
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Balance at beginning of the year 23,712 – 
Additions 17,803 11,932 
Interest capitalized 1,118 – 
Reclassification from accounts receivable – 11,780 

Balance at end of the year 42,633 23,712 
 
Level 1 financial assets at fair value 
On 3 December 2021, DDM acquired a 5% stake in Borgosesia S.p.A. (“Borgosesia”), an Italian investment platform specialized in secured non-performing 
loans and special situations for approximately EUR 1.4m financed by cash on hand measured at a closing share price of EUR 0.708/share on 31 December 
2022 (EUR 0.66/share on 31 December 2021). The Addiko Bank shares, which were was reclassified from investment in associates and measured on 17 
December 2021, were accounted at a closing price of EUR 12.65/share on 31 December 2022 (EUR 12.65/share on 31 December 2021). 

Level 3 financial assets at fair value 
During 2021, DDM has invested into a total of EUR 15.8m of pre-IPO convertible bonds in Omnione S.A (“Omnio”), a leading innovator in Banking-as-a-
Service of which EUR 3.0m was paid on 12 May, EUR 1.0m was paid on 18 November EUR 11.8m was reclassified from accounts receivables. This has 
been recognized and measured at cost within financial assets at fair value level 3, which are due to mature in accordance with the terms of the pre-IPO 
convertible bonds on 31 December 2024 accruing at an annual rate of 2% cash interest and 6% Payment-in-Kind (“PIK”), including convertibility rights 
into ordinary shares of Omnio. In addition, EUR 3.9m was invested in Omnio on 6 October and EUR 4.0m was invested in Omnio Group Limited (“Omnio 
Group”) on 30 November. This has been recognized and measured at cost within Financial assets at fair value level 3. 
During 2022 DDM further invested in Omnio total EUR 13.3m, to further support Omnio’s growth plans. 
 
Management has reviewed during the year the valuation methodology for all financial assets at fair value that have been have been classified as level 3 
as at 31 December 2022. The fair value of unquoted level 3 financial assets has been estimated using valuation techniques based on assumptions that 
are not supported by observable market prices. This has been calculated by discounting to present value the projected net cash flow collections to maturity 
that are expected to be received including the convertibility rights into ordinary shares of Omnio; additionally, an independent expert was appointed to 
appraise and support the enterprise value of Omnio. 
 
In early 2023, Omnione SA finalized a funding round in the form of a capital increase of EUR 9m, whch involved for the largest part third party investors, 
In parallel with this funding round the capital setup of Omnione was restructured by converting the outstanding Convertible Bonds as well as most of the 
outstanding loan into shares of Omnione S.A. 
The EUR 9m fundraising was priced at EUR 26.39 per share, which is equivalent to a pre-capital increase (but post debt conversion) equity value of 
Omnione of EUR 60m: The valuation has been also supported by the appraisal of an independent expert. 
 
On 14 January 2022 , DDM EUR 4.5m to an investment in Water By Nordic AB, a special purpose vehicle located in Sweden, which is investing in a listed 
SPAC. The Company has qualified the investment as financial assets at fair value, assessed the substance of a “pass through vehicle”, with no control, 
over the investee. The Management performed analysis around the probabilities of a successful business combination of the SPAC, as key valuation 
parameter, taking into consideration, amongst others, the market scenarios for analogue type of transactions. 
 
The levels in the hierarchy are: 
•  Level 1 – Quoted prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
•  Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (such as prices) or indirectly 

(such as derived from prices). The fair value of the senior secured bonds is calculated based on the bid price for a trade occurring close to the balance 
sheet date. 

•  Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is unobservable inputs). The valuation technique for invested 
assets, as well as valuation sensitivity for changes in material data are described in the accounting principles and in note 5. 
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 NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS… continued 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk consists of the risk that counterparties of the Company are unable to meet their commitments. The credit risk is considered upon the acquisition 
of a financial asset by assessing the expected return. The Company manages this risk by monitoring the performance of the financial asset throughout its 
economic life. Cash collections are continually monitored, and the carrying value of the asset is impaired where it is deemed that, based on collections 
profiles, the asset is underperforming compared to the initial expected return determined at the acquisition date. The financial assets subjected to credit 
risk are cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and distressed asset portfolios. Depending on the distressed asset portfolio, the loans in the 
portfolio may contain underlying assets such as cars and houses as collateral for the loans. However it is always the Company’s intention to recover the 
debt if possible, rather than the collateral. This collateral is considered when determining the recoverability and carrying amount of the portfolio. Any 
collateral received during the life of the portfolio is disposed of on an on-going basis to limit the amount of collateral held. 
 
The maximum credit exposure for each class of financial assets therefore corresponds to the carrying amount, which is shown in the table below:  
 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Cash and cash equivalents 52,605 65,485 
Accounts receivable 513 1,711 
Distressed asset portfolios and other long-term receivables from investments 77,441 81,594 
Financial assets at fair value 68,743 51,547 

Total 199,302 200,337 
 
At 31 December 2022 the majority of the DDM group bank accounts were held with banks with credit ratings ranging from A+ to BB- (at 31 December 2021: 
A+ to BB-) as rated by Standard and Poor’s. No credit ratings are available for the other financial assets held by DDM.  
 
Liquidity risk / Financing risk 
The Company actively monitors its liquidity and cash flow position to ensure that it has sufficient cash and distressed asset portfolio financing in order to 
fund its activities. The Executive Management Committee monitors cash through monthly reporting, the management accounts and periodic review 
meetings. 
 
The undiscounted cash flows arising from the Company’s loans and borrowings (see note 27) in the form of financial instruments, based on the remaining 
period to the earliest contractual maturity date as at the balance sheet date, are specified in the table below: 
 

EUR ‘000s 
Less than  

1 year 
Between  

1 and 2 years 
Between  

2 and 3 years 
Between  

3 and 5 years 
Over  

5 years Total 
At 31 December 2022 27,115  32,008  17,640  194,218  3,461  274,442 
At 31 December 2021 38,203 16,956 16,956 210,490 – 282,605 

 
 
Amounts in foreign currencies and amounts that are to be paid based on floating interest rates are estimated using the exchange and interest rates 
applicable on the balance sheet date. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is defined as the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market 
risk principally comprises currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk considered further below. 
 
As the Company has no variable interest-bearing assets or liabilities, its income and operating cash flows are predominantly independent of any changes 
in market interest rate. For further information, refer to note 28 “Loans and borrowings”. 
 
Foreign exchange rate risk 
Foreign exchange rate risk is the risk that fluctuations in exchange rates will negatively affect the Company’s income statement, balance sheet and/or cash 
flows. The most important currencies for the Company, other than Euro (EUR), are Croatian kuna (HRK), Swiss franc (CHF), Czech koruna (CZK), 
Hungarian forint (HUF), Polish Zloty (PLN), Romanian leu (RON) and Serbian dinar (RSD). 
 
Foreign exchange rate risk can be divided into transaction exposure and translation exposure. Transaction exposure consists of net operating and financial 
receipts and disbursements in different currencies. Translation exposure consists of the effects from the translation of the financial reports of foreign 
subsidiaries into EUR. 
 
Transaction exposure 
In each country, the majority of income and collection costs are denominated in local currencies, and thus currency fluctuations have only a limited impact 
on the Company’s operating earnings in local currency. Income and expenses in local currency are thereby hedged in a natural way, which limits transaction 
exposure. The currency exposure that arises within the operating activities is limited to the extent by which it pertains to international collection operations. 
DDM is monitoring its currency exposure to be able to take actions if necessary. As part of cash management DDM is striving to maintain the required 
amount of cash in the different local currencies. The Company does not have a hedging program in place. 
Translation exposure 
The results and financial position of subsidiaries are reported in the relevant foreign currencies and later translated into EUR for inclusion in the consolidated 
financial statements. Consequently, fluctuations in the EUR exchange rate against these currencies represent currency translation differences on the 
translation of foreign operations recognised in other comprehensive income and other reserves in the financial statements. 
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NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS… continued 
 
 
Foreign exchange exposure table  
The table below shows the impact on the income statement when the EUR appreciates or depreciates against the respective foreign currency:  

             

  31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Currency EUR ‘000s  Actual 

Amount 
10%  

appreciation 
10%  

depreciation 
Actual 

Amount 
10%  

appreciation 
10%  

depreciation 

CHF 
Assets 39,453 (3,945) 3,945 3,145 (315) 315 
Liabilities (2,488) 249 (249) (4,995) 500 (500) 
Net 36,965 (3,696) 3,696 (1,850) 185 (185) 

          

CZK 
Assets 214 (21) 21 1,494 (149) 149 
Liabilities (7) 1 (1) (24) 2 (2) 
Net 207 (20) 20 1,470 (147) 147 

        

HRK* 
Assets 48,184 –  – 59,475 (5,948) 5,948 
Liabilities (496) – –  (118) 12 (12) 
Net 47,688 –  – 59,357 (5,936) 5,936 

          

HUF 
Assets 6,514 (651) 651 10,882 (1,088) 1,088 
Liabilities (462) 46 (46) – – – 
Net 6,052 (605) 605 10,882 (1,088) 1,088 

          

PLN 
Assets 10,253 (1,025) 1,025 6,511 (651) 651 
Liabilities (1,309) 131 (131) (106) 11 (11) 
Net 8,944 (894) 894 6,405 (640) 640 

        

RON 
Assets 4,633 (463) 463 7,803 (780) 780 
Liabilities (264) 26 (26) (11) 1 (1) 
Net 4,369 (437) 437 7,792 (779) 779 

        

RSD 
Assets 1,659 (166) 166 2,326 (233) 233 
Liabilities (265) 27 (27) (27) 3 (3) 
Net 1,394 (139) 139 2,299 (230) 230 

        

RUB 
Assets 10 (1) 1 9 (1) 1 
Liabilities (1) – – – – – 
Net 9 (1) 1 9 (1) 1 

          

SEK 
Assets 4,641 (464) 464 175 (18) 18 
Liabilities – – – (91) 9 (9) 
Net 4,641 (464) 464 84 (9) 9 

        
 Assets 3 – – 21 (2) 2 
USD Liabilities (7) 1 (1) (10) 1 (1) 
 Net (4) 1 (1) 11 (1) 1 

 
* as at 1 January 2023 Croatia adopted the EUR as national currency at a determined conversion rate of 7.53450 HRK for 1 EUR. 
 
Equity price risk 
 
Exposure 
DDM’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investments held by DDM classified in the balance sheet at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVPL). For further information, refer to note 18 “Financial assets at fair value”.  
 
DDM’s equity investments are publicly traded on various European stock exchanges and therefore the STOXX Europe 600 Index is a benchmark for the 
overall performance of European equity prices. On 3 December 2021, DDM acquired a 5% stake in Borgosesia S.p.A. (“Borgosesia”), an Italian investment 
platform specialized in secured non-performing loans and special situations for approximately EUR 1.4m financed by cash on hand measured at a closing 
share price of EUR 0.62/share on 31 December 2021. On 17 December 2021, the investment in Addiko Bank was reclassified from investment in associates 
and measured at a closing share price of EUR 13.65/share on 31 December 2021.  
 
Sensitivity   
The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of STOXX Europe 600 Index on DDM’s net (loss) / profit after tax and shareholders equity 
for the full year 2022. The analysis is based on the performance of the STOXX Europe 600 Index that decreased by 13% during the full year 2022, with all 
other variables held constant, and assumes that all of the group’s equity instruments moved in line with the indexes. 
 

Impact on net (loss) / profit after tax & shareholders’ equity 
EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
STOXX Europe 600 Index – increase 13% (2021: 21%) 3,410 6,030 
STOXX Europe 600 Index – decrease 13% (2021: 21%) (3,410) (6,030) 

 
(Loss) / profit after tax for the year would increase/decrease as a result of gains/losses on equity securities classified as at FVPL. The amounts recognised 
in profit or loss in relation to the equity investments held by DDM are disclosed further in note 11 “Net financial expenses”. 
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  NOTE 32. EQUITY 
 

EUR ‘000s 
Number of shares 

(quantity) Share capital 
Share 

premium Total 
at 1 January 2021 13,560,447 11,780 21,030 32,810 
Issue of additional shares – – – – 
at 31 December 2021 13,560,447 11,780 21,030 32,810 
Issue of additional shares – – – – 
at 31 December 2022 13,560,447 11,780 21,030 32,810 

 
All shares have been issued and fully paid.  
 
The Annual General Meeting on 27 May 2015 resolved to amend DDM Holding AG’s articles of association for the purpose of increasing the authorized  
capital by 3,550,000 shares. There was a two year expiry period associated with the increase. The Company issued 1,940,298 shares in 2016, leaving 
an open capital amount of 1,609,702 shares, which expired on 27 May 2017. At the same time, the shareholders authorized a conditional capital 
increase of 500,000 shares. The conditional capital has no time restriction.  
 
The Annual General Meeting on 31 May 2017 resolved to amend DDM Holding AG’s articles of association for the purpose of increasing the authorized 
capital and the conditional capital. The shareholders approved authorized capital of 6,780,223 shares, which could be issued until 31 May 2019. The 
Board of Directors was authorized to restrict or deny pre-emptive subscription rights of shareholders or to allocate such rights to third parties in the 
extent of up to 3,390,111 shares in specific cases outlined in the articles of association. In addition, 1,500,000 shares of conditional capital (new Article 
3ter) were authorized for capital increases by exercising conversion or option rights in connection with the issuance of loans, bonds or similar debt 
instruments, equity-linked instruments or other financial market instruments. The conversion rights may be exercisable during a maximum of 15 years 
and option rights during a maximum of 7 years from the time of the respective issue, whilst contingent conversion features may remain in place 
indefinitely. There is no time restriction on the existing conditional capital (article 3quater). 
 
The Annual General Meeting on 23 May 2018 resolved to amend DDM Holding AG’s articles of association for the purpose of increasing the conditional 
share capital (article 3quater) from the 500,000 shares of existing conditional capital (article 3quater) created on 27 May 2015. The shareholders approved 
an increase in the conditional share capital (article 3quater) to a maximum aggregate amount of CHF 1,000,000.00 through the issuance of a maximum 
of 1,000,000 registered shares, which shall be fully paid-in, with a nominal value of CHF 1.00 per share by either the issuance of shares to employees 
or members of the Board of Directors of the Company or of group companies or the exercise of option rights which are granted to employees or 
members of the Board of Directors of the Company or of group companies, both according to one or more plan(s) to be drawn up by the board of 
directors, taking into account performance, functions, levels of responsibility and profitability criteria. Such shares or subscription rights may be issued 
at a price lower than that quoted on the stock exchange. The advance subscription rights and the pre-emptive subscription rights of the shareholders 
are excluded. The acquisition of registered shares through the exercise of option rights and each subsequent transfer of the shares shall be subject to 
the provisions of Art. 5 of the Articles of Association.  
 
The Annual General Meeting on 18 June 2019 resolved to amend DDM Holding AG’s articles of association for the purpose of increasing the authorized 
share capital in an amount not to exceed CHF 6,780,223.00 through the issuance of up to 6,780,223 fully paid-in registered shares with a nominal 
value of CHF 1.00 per share by not later than 31 May 2021. The new Authorized Share Capital is a replacement of the previously existing, equivalent 
mandate in the same amount of CHF 6,780,223.00 (article 3bis) which expired on 31 May 2019 and serves the purpose of maintaining an adequate 
flexibility for the Board of Directors to resolve on capital increases if deemed to be in the best interest of the Company. 
 
The Annual General Meeting on 17 September 2020 resolved to amend DDM Holding AG’s articles of association for the purpose of extending and 
modifying the authorized share capital in an amount not to exceed CHF 6,780,223.00 through the issuance of up to 6,780,223 fully paid-in registered 
shares with a nominal value of CHF 1.00 per share by not later than 17 September 2022. The Board of Directors was further authorized to restrict or 
deny pre-emptive subscription rights of shareholders or to allocate such rights to third parties in the extent of up to 6,780,223 shares in specific cases 
outlined in the articles of association.The extension of the Authorized Share Capital is a replacement of the previously existing, equivalent mandate in 
the same amount of CHF 6,780,223.00 (article 3bis) expiring on 31 May 2021 and serves the purpose of maintaining an adequate flexibility for the Board 
of Directors to resolve on capital increases if deemed to be in the best interest of the Company. The increase of the authorized capital for which pre-
emptive subscription rights can be excluded of up to 6,780,223 shares serves the purposes of extending the Board’s flexibility to use the full Authorized 
Share Capital. 
 
No amendments were made to DDM Holding AG’s articles of association at the Annual General Meeting on 22 June 2021. The Annual General Meeting 
on 23 June 2022 resolved to amend DDM Holding AG’s articles of association for the purpose of extending the authorized share capital in an amount 
not to exceed CHF 6,780,223.00 through the issuance of up to 6,780,223 fully paid-in registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 1.00 per share 
by not later than 22 June 2024. The new Authorized Share Capital is a replacement of the previously existing, equivalent mandate in the same amount 
of CHF 6,780,223.00 (article 3bis) which expired on 17 September 2022 and serves the purpose of maintaining an adequate flexibility for the Board of 
Directors to resolve on capital increases if deemed to be in the best interest of the Company. 
 

 

Authorized capital 
(number of shares) 

Article 3bis 

Conditional capital 
(number of shares) 

Article 3quater 

Conditional capital 
(number of shares) 

Article 3ter 
Number of shares created on 27 May 2015 3,550,000 500,000 – 
Issued (1,940,298) – – 
Expired (1,609,702) – – 
Number of shares created on 31 May 2017 6,780,223 – 1,500,000 
Issued – – – 
Expired – – – 
Number of shares created on 23 May 2018 – 500,000 – 
Issued – – – 
Expired (6,780,223) – – 
Number of shares created on 18 June 2019 6,780,223 – – 
Issued – – – 
Expired – – – 
Number of shares extended on 17 September 
2020 6,780,223 – – 

Issued – – – 
Expired – – – 
Open capital at 31 December 2022 6,780,223 1,000,000 1,500,000 

 
Other reserves are comprised of share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the equity method, recycling of share of other 
comprehensive income of associates to the income statement, exchange differences arising through translation of foreign operations and deferred tax 
on post-employment benefit commitments. 
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NOTE 33. RELATED PARTIES 
 
The Company has defined its Executive Management Committee, Board of Directors and owners of the Company, including the companies associated 
with them, as related parties. Amounts in foreign currencies are estimated using the exchange rates applicable on the balance sheet date. 
 
The following transactions were carried out with related parties (excluding board member fees):  
 

For the year ended 31 December     
EUR ‘000s Type of transaction Name 2022 2021 
Income 
Statement Consulting expenses 

Erik Fällström and Andreas Tuczka (and owned companies) (912) (1,101) 
Florian Nowotny (and owned companies) (125) (110) 

 Financial expenses Erik Fällström and Andreas Tuczka (and owned companies) – (1,010) 

Income Statement, Total  (1,037) (2,221) 
 
 

For the year ended 31 December     
EUR ‘000s Type of transaction Name 2022 2021 
Balance Sheet Capitalized transaction costs Erik Fällström and Andreas Tuczka (and owned companies) (3,978) (3,130) 

Balance Sheet, Total  (3,978) (3,130) 
 
In 2019, DDM Group Finance S.A. entered into an agreement with the DDM Group where DDM Group Finance S.A. provides services under a brokerage 
contract. In relation to this agreement an amount of EUR 1.8m (FY 2021: EUR 4.2m) of brokerage fees were charged during the year of 2022. 
 
During 2020, NFE Unternehmensberatungs GmbH (“NFE”), a company related to Florian Nowotny, entered into an agreement with DDM where NFE 
provided services under an advisory agreement. Advisory services from NFE to DDM amounted to EUR 0.1m (2021: EUR 0.1m) which have been 
recognized in consultancy expenses in 2022. 
 
During 2020 DDM restructured its investment in the Greek NPL transaction which resulted in accelerated collections of EUR 59.8m being received in H2 
2020 and the entire carrying value remaining of EUR 43.8m prior to the restructuring was recognized as amortization. DDM assessed the transaction 
and concluded that it retains the same contractual rights to future cashflows in the distressed asset portfolio as prior to the restructuring and therefore 
has not derecognized the asset under IFRS 9 amortized cost. During 2022 DDM released EUR 0.5m (31 December 2021: EUR 1.6m) of accrued 
expenses and deferred income recognized during 2020 following the restructured investment in the Greek NPL transaction, of which EUR 0.5m (FY 
2021: 1.0m) was recognized to net collections. 
Transactions between DDM Group companies (fully consolidated) and Artemis Finance Holding (and its subsidiaries) were as follows: 
 

  31 December  31 December 
EUR ‘000s  2022 2021 
Income Statement Net collections 476 952 

 
  31 December  31 December 
EUR ‘000s  2022 2021 
Balance sheet Accounts receivable – – 
 Accrued expenses and deferred income – (476) 

Balance sheet, Total – (476) 
 
 
On 6 July 2022, DDM Debt AB (publ), a 100% indirect subsidiary of DDM Holding AG, acquired 50.16% of the issued share capital of AxFina Holding 
SA from DDM Group Finance S.A. (see note 35). 
 
During 2022 the DDM Group invested a total of EUR 13.3m (2021: 7.9m) into Omnione S.A., which lead to a total exposure to Omnio as of 31 
December 2022 of EUR 41.0m (2021: 24.8m). 
In early 2023, Omnione SA finalized a funding round in the form of a capital increase of EUR 9m, which involved for the largest part third party 
investors.In parallel with this funding round the capital setup of Omnione was restructured by converting the outstanding Convertible Bonds as well 
as most of the outstanding loan into shares of Omnione S.A. 
The EUR 9m fundraising was priced at EUR 26.39 per share, which is equivalent to a pre-capital increase (but post debt conversion) equity value 
of Omnione of EUR 60m. See also note 32. 
 
During the year DDM Finance AB entered into a loan agreement as borrower with DDM Group Finance S.A. (as lender) for an amount of EUR 
11.1m, for which EUR 0.6m of finance expense were recognized during 2022 (2021: nil). 
 
In December 2022 the Company entered into an agreement with Zalent Co. Limited in connection with a short-term secured shares loan agreement 
of 400,000 ordinary shares of Addiko Bank AG; the shares were lent to an interest rate on 15% on the EUR equivalent value of the shares on the 
closing price on 6 December 2022 of EUR 11.45. 
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NOTE 34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS  
 
The Company has entered into operational leases for office premises, motor vehicles and office equipment in Switzerland, Sweden, Slovenia and 
Hungary. The group has recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases, except for short term and low-value leases, see notes 21 
and 27 for further information.  
 
The undiscounted cash flows arising from the contractually bound leasing commitments, based on the remaining period to the earliest contractual maturity 
date as at the balance sheet date, are specified in the table below: 
 

EUR ‘000s 
Less than  

1 year 
Between  

1 and 5 years 
Over  

5 years Total 
At 31 December 2022 319 232 151 702 
At 31 December 2021 92 109 – 201 

 
Amounts in foreign currencies are estimated using the exchange rates applicable on the balance sheet date. 
 
There were no commitments related to capital expenditure as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.  
 
 
NOTE 35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS   

On 5 May 2021, DDM transferred 99% of its ownership in Lombard Pénzügyi és Lízing Zrt, Lombard Ingatlan Lízing Zrt. and Lombard Bérlet Kft 
(“Lombard”), which resulted in the loss of control and deconsolidation of the the collections platform in Hungary that was previously acquired during 2020, 
to AxFina Holding S.A. (“AxFina”) as servicer for a nominal consideration and as DDM retains the economic rights to the future cashflows in Lombard 
the receivable from AxFina has been recognised as a distressed asset portfolio. 
 
On 27 February 2020, DDM acquired and obtained 100% control of the economic rights to a distressed asset portfolio located in Hungary, resulting in 
the consolidation of Clipper Holding III S.à r.l., Lombard Pénzügyi és Lízing Zrt, Lombard Ingatlan Lízing Zrt. and Lombard Bérlet Kft (“Lombard”). The 
total investment amounted to approximately EUR 3m. Prior to the acquisition DDM owned the rights to 30 percent of the portfolio and 100 percent of the 
equity in Lombard which has been reclassified from other long-term receivables from investments to distressed asset portfolios. 
 

Acquired net assets EUR ‘000s 
Distressed asset portfolios 8,283 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,038 
Other receivables 116 
Acquired assets 10,437 
Provisions (2,752) 
Accruals (1,616) 
Assumed liabilities (4,368) 
Acquired net assets 6,069 
Cash consideration (3,216) 
Other long-term receivables from investments (2,853) 
Goodwill  – 

 

Acquired assets 
The fair value of the assets acquired include the present value of future cash flows of the performing and non-performing loans discounted at the initial 
rate of return under amortized cost and the cash and cash equivalents held at bank at acquisition.  
 
Acquired liabilities  
The fair value of the liabilities assumed at acquisition includes a provision for restricted cash payable to third parties as part of a previous settlement. 
 
Purchase consideration 
The total purchase price amounted to EUR 6.1m as at 27 February 2020. This sum includes a net cash consideration of EUR 3.2m and the NBV of the 
existing 30 percent of the portfolio held prior to acquisition of EUR 2.9m. The costs relating to the acquisition amounted to EUR 30k and were recognized 
directly in the income statement under consulting expenses. 
 
Revenue and profit contribution 
If the business combination had occurred as at 1 January 2020, Lombard would have contributed a further EUR 1.9m to net collections and EUR 1.7m 
to net profit for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
 
On 6 July 2022, DDM Debt AB (publ) (“DDM”), a 100% subsidiary of DDM Holding AG, acquired 50.16% of the issued share capital of AxFina Holding 
S.A. (“AxFina”), a pan European debt servicing provider. AxFina is a key partner for DDM’s loan portfolios. In addition to its core debt servicing solutions, 
AxFina is also providing business outsourcing services and digital debt management solutions to multiple industries. The acquisition of AxFina allows 
DDM to profit from the intended growth of the service revenues of AxFina, both in (third party) debt servicing as well as in digital solutions, which 
complement the asset intensive business of DDM. AxFina will also facilitate new market entries for DDM (e.g. in Poland, where AxFina has recently 
established a presence).  
 
By taking a direct stake in its key debt servicing partner, DDM is following a well-established industry practice and expects its core NPL business to 
benefit from a closer collaboration between DDM and AxFina. 
 
The goodwill of EUR 11,022 thousand is therefore attributable to the access to new markets, workforce and the expected future profitability of the acquired 
business. 
The fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities recognized as a result of the acquisition are as follows: 
  



 

 
DDM Holding AG   |   CHE-115906312   |   Annual Report 2022    61 

Acquired net assets EUR'000 
Fixed assets  1,036  
Distressed asset portfolios  5,606  
Cash and cash equivalent  7,537  
Other assets  2,556  

Fair value of total assets             16,735  
Financial liabilities (6,415) 
Trade payables (511) 
Other liabilities (3,792) 
Fair value of total liabilities (10,718) 
Fair value of total net assets 6,017 
Fair value of acquired net assets (50,16%) 3,018 
Goodwill on acquisition 11,022 
Total purchase consideration 14,040 

 
The goodwill on acquisition was consolidated using provisional values allocated by management to their respective identifiable assets and liabilities 
based on currently available data as at the date of acquisition. Considering that the date of the transaction is 6 July 2022, the reference date used for 
the PPA is the financial position as at 30 June 2022. 
The fair value of the assets acquired mainly includes: i) the cash and cash equivalents held at bank at acquisition; ii) distressed asset portfolios relating 
to unsecured portfolios acquired in Hungary, Poland and Romania; and iii) fixed assets which mainly relate to customer list acquired by AxFina in Poland. 
The fair value of the liabilities assumed at acquisition includes amounts payable to banks leasing companies and loans for an amount of EUR 6,415k. 
The fair value of the other liabilities assumed at acquisition principally relates to accrued expenses & deferred income of EUR 3,792k and trade payables 
of EUR 511k. 
The cash consideration at the date of acquisition amounted to EUR 13,515k. An amount of EUR 525k was settled on a non-cash basis. Acquisition-
related costs were not material and were recognized directly in the income statement under consulting expenses and in operating cash flows in the 
statement of cash flows. 
 

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary,  
net of cash acquired 

EUR'000 

Cash paid               (13,515) 
Less cash & cash equivalents acquired                  7,536 
Net outflow of cash – investing activities (5,979) 

 
 
 
NOTE 36. PROVISIONS  

Provisions for restructuring costs, warranties and legal claims were recognized following the acquisition of Lombard during the year ended 31 December 
2020, which are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the commitment at the end of the year. 

EUR ‘000s 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 
Opening balance – 704 
Provisions acquired  – – 
Unutilised amounts reversed – – 
Deconsolidation –  (704) 
Closing balance – – 

 
 
 
NOTE 37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 

Employee Stock Option Plan (“ESOP 2021”) 

In July 2021, DDM Group Finance S.A., the parent company of DDM Holding AG, established an Employee Stock Option Plan (“ESOP 2021”). The 
ESOP 2021 is a share-based compensation plan where employees and certain members of the Executive Management of the wider DDM Group 
receive additional compensation in the form of share-based payments, whereby they render services as consideration for DDM Group Finance S.A’s 
equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). The ESOP is designed to provide long-term incentives for employees and members of the Executive 
Management to deliver long-term shareholder returns. 

Based on a current number of shares outstanding of DDM Group Finance S.A 13,560,447, the maximum number of shares that can be delivered 
under the ESOP 2021 shall not exceed 2,207,515 Shares (corresponding to 14% of the total number of shares outstanding following the exercise 
of the options). The amount of options that will vest for the option term exercisable until 30 April 2024 depends on fair market value of DDM Group 
Finance S.A’s share price with a performance hurdle of EUR 7.37 per share equivalent to a minimum equity value of EUR 100M for 100% of the 
DDM Group Finance Group: 

< EUR 7.37: 0% of the total Shares are available 

≥ EUR 7.37: 8.0% of the total Shares are available 

> EUR 7.37 and < EUR 36.87: Linear Interpolation 

≥ EUR 36.87: 14.0% of the total Shares are available  

Once vested, the options remain exercisable until 30 April 2024. Options are granted under the plan for no consideration and carry no dividend or 
voting rights. The exercise price of options in DDM Group Finance S.A is EUR 3.98 per share equivalent to an equity value of EUR 54.0M for 100% 
of the DDM Group Finance Group. Options are exercisable if the shares are listed, in case of an exit event, which is a change of control or Initial 
Public Offering (“IPO”) and otherwise determined by the Remuneration Committee. According to the terms of the plan, the exercise price may not 
be lower than the fair market value of a share on the grant date, but it may be equal to or higher than such fair market value.  
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Fair value of options at initial grant date 

The assessed fair value at the grant date of options granted on 1 August 2021 was EUR 1.99 per option equivalent to an equity value of EUR 27.0M 
for 100% of the DDM Group Finance Group. The fair market value of DDM Group Finance Group at the initial grant date was independently 
determined by a third-party valuer. 

Fair value of options at vesting date 

The assessed fair value at the vesting date of options on 30 April 2024 is below the minimum valuation threshold needed for the exercise of the 
option. The Management assessed 0% probability of the market condition to be reached in all reasonable scenarios, as described below. 

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 

Nil employee benefit expenses have been recognised arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the financial year ended 
31 December 2022 (FY 2021: nil), given that the fair market value of DDM Group Finance S.A is expected to remain significantly below the 
performance hurdle for the valuation of the DDM Group Finance Group throughout the remaining vesting period. 

Sensitivity 

The key assumptions to the fair market value of DDM Group Finance Group are those regarding the expected price volatility of the DDM Holding 
AG shares, future cashflows of AxFina and the pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows of 15% and a growth rate for the forecast cash 
flows of 2%. The fair market value assessment is highly sensitive to changes in estimates.  

Set out below are summaries of options outstanding under the plan: 

 1 January – 31 December 2022 1 January – 31 December 2021 

 

Average 
exercise 
price per 

share option 
(EUR) 

Number of  
options 

Average 
exercise 
price per 

share option 
(EUR) 

Number of 
options 

As at 1 January  3.98 518,760 – – 
Granted during the period – – 3.98 518,760 
Added from consolidation of AxFina 3.98 411,904 3.98 518,760 
Forfeited during the period – – – – 
Exercised during the period – – – – 
Expired during the period – – – – 
As at 31 December 3.98 930,664 3.98 518,760 
Exercisable at 31 December 3.98 – 3.98 – 

 

On 1 August 2021, 930,664 share options (at the maximum reachable level) were granted under the ESOP 2021 out of the maximum available 
2,207,515 shares that can be exercised at price of EUR 3.98 per share. The weighted average share price of DDM Group Finance S.A at the initial 
grant date was assessed at EUR 1.99 per share. As at 31 December 2022, a total of 713.270 share options have vested and 217.395 share options 
will vest for the remaining vesting period to 30 April 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the weighted average share price of DDM Group Finance S.A 
until the maximum exercise date (31 March 2024) was assessed to be below the performance hurdle of EUR 7.37 per share and therefore at 31 
December 2022 nil share options could be exercised. 

No compensation expense was recorded in DDM Holding AG consolidated financial statements for the year 2022 (2021: nil). 

 

NOTE 38. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

On 8 February, DDM agreed with Nordiska  Kreditmarknadsaktiebolaget (publ) ("Nordiska") a revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes at 
a variable interest rate equal to EURIBOR Plus a 3.5% margin with repayment date no later than 30 June 2025. The full amount was drawdown on the 
same date. 

On 13 February, DDM received from OmniOne S.A. the conversion notice in respect of the conversion of DDM’s outstanding bond in OmniOne, equal to 
EUR 17,334,464.00, in exchange of 685,426 shares in OmniOne. New Shares were issued and regularly registered on 26 January 

On 24 February OmniOne successfully concluded a capital increase of EUR 9m at a pre-money valuation of EUR60m. DDM contributed EUR 4m in 
exchange of 151,573 new shares. On the same date, as a further contribution to the stabilization and success of OmniOne S.A., DDM subscribed 473,949 
new shares converting the majority of its existing loan towards Omnione S.A. into equity. 

On 3 April, Florian Nowotny informed the Board that he has decided to step down from his position as CEO. The Board of Directors thanks Mr. Nowotny 
for his commitment and his valuable contribution to the Company. From the same date, Dr. Andreas Tuczka (Chairman of the Board of Directors) 
assumed the role of Executive Chairman on an interim basis and lead the company together with Fredrik Olsson, Chief Financial Officer, and Alessandro 
Pappalardo, Chief Investment Officer, until a permanent CEO-successor is announced. Florian Nowotny has agreed to ensure a smooth hand over of 
his role and will remain as an advisor during a transition period. 

On 6 April, DDM acquired an additional 25% of the share capital of AxFina Holding SA (“AxFina”), taking its total holding in AxFina to 75%. The seller of 
the stake in AxFina is DDM Group Finance S.A. 

On 7 April, DDM have been informed by Nordiska that it is aborting the process regarding a combination of Nordiska with Swiss Bankers and Omnio. As 
a result, also the intended acquisition of a minority stake in Nordiska by DDM is on hold.  

DDM considers all the subsequent events above as non-adjusting events after the end of the reporting period. 
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Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of DDM Holding AG  

Zug, Switzerland 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of DDM Holding AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), which com-
prise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended  
31 December 2022, the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity, the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 28 to 62) give a true and fair view of the consolidated finan-
cial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with 
Swiss law. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss Standards 
on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements' section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, as well as the 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsi-
bilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our audit approach 

Overview Overall Group materiality: EUR 2'530'000 

 

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of 
material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, 
we considered where subjective judgements were made; for example, in re-
spect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our au-
dits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, 
including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of 
bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

As key audit matters the following areas of focus have been identified: 

 Valuation of distressed assets and recognition of revenue on invested 
assets; 

 Valuation of Goodwill  
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Context of our audit 2022
The context of our audit is set by the Group’s major activities and business transactions which took place during the re-
porting period. We determined the valuation of the invested assets and revenue on invested assets have been signifi-
cant activities during the year. Additionally, we assessed the Goodwill balance which increased during the year as a re-
sult of a business combination as a significant event during the year. 

We therefore considered the valuation of distressed assets, the recognition of revenue on invested assets and the 
Goodwill valuation as key audit matters.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable 
assurance that the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due 
to fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influ-
ence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall 
Group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole.

Overall Group materiality EUR 2'530'000

Benchmark applied Total Assets 

Rationale for the materiality bench-
mark applied

We chose total assets as the benchmark because, in our view, the assets are a 
relevant metric used by the readers of the consolidated financial statements. 
Profit before tax is a more commonly applied benchmark, however, in our view, 
this would not have been an appropriate benchmark given that DDM is in a 
state of growth and the volatility observed in the income statements in recent 
years.

We agreed with the Board of Directors that we would report to them misstatements above EUR 242'000 identified during 
our audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consoli-
dated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and con-
trols, and the industry in which the Group operates.

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated 
financial statements. In particular, we considered where subjective judgements were made. Therefore, we focused on 
the entities which hold the significant portfolios of the distressed assets and which generate the revenue on invested 
assets. With the full scope audits that we performed on these entities, we addressed 90% of total assets and 92% of 
revenue of the Group.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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Valuation of distressed assets and recognition of revenue on invested assets

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As DDM is a specialized multinational investor in invest-
ments into assets and companies previously held by finan-
cial institutions, including performing and non-performing 
loans and special situations, the distressed assets are the 
most significant position in the financial statements. 

The distressed assets also represent the ability of the 
Group to generate cash flows and further profits in the 
coming periods. The distressed assets are considered as a 
key audit matter due to the size of the balance (EUR 71
million, representing 28% of the total assets) as well as 
considerable judgement with respect to the assumptions 
about the future cash flow forecasts.

DDM invests in distressed asset portfolios, where the re-
ceivables are directly from the debtor. The valuation of 
these distressed assets is based on the expected future 
cash flows (ERC, ‘Estimated Remaining Collections’). The 
procedures of the Group to determine the ERC is set out in 
note 5 Critical estimates and assumptions in applying the 
company’s accounting principles.

The revenue on invested assets represents the economical 
profit of the distressed assets for the period, applying the 
amortized cost method, including also the reassessment of 
future cash flows. The interest income on invested assets 
and the revenue on invested assets amount to EUR 19 mil-
lion and EUR 21 million respectively. The recognition of 
revenue on invested assets is disclosed in note 3 Summary 
of significant accounting policies and note 6 Reconciliation 
of revenue on invested assets and revenue from manage-
ment fees.

Our audit approach included, among others, an assess-
ment of the Group’s assumptions for the valuation of the 
distressed assets. This includes mainly the following proce-
dures:

•We checked the initial recognition by reviewing the con-
tractual basis for the initial measurement. We obtained 
supporting documents from the due diligence process and 
challenged the management assumptions of the expected 
future cash flows.

•We verified the calculations of the internal rates of return 
related to the expected future cash flows and the initial 
purchase price (underwriting). We also challenged the ap-
propriateness and reasonableness of the assumptions 
made by the management with market data.

•We performed back-testing analysis to validate that the 
cause of observed deviations of actual collections from 
previous forecasts are understood by management, and 
that forecasts have been appropriately revised in consid-
eration of new knowledge.

Based on our testing of the process and the method as well
as the range of valuation we independently performed, we 
found management’s assessment of the accounting of dis-
tressed assets appears acceptable.

The collection process is outsourced to local collection 
agencies, selected by DDM and suitable for the collection 
of a particular class of asset or performed by own DDM 
group companies. With a focus on collection, which is a 
key driver for reassessment of future cash flows and there-
fore revenue on invested assets, we performed the follow-
ing procedures:

•We tested the correct accounting treatment regarding 
recognition of revenue on the invested assets based on 
the methodology as set out in the notes 3 Summary of 
significant accounting policies and 6 Reconciliation of rev-
enue on invested assets and revenue from management 
fees.

•We performed testing on the control which ensures that 
the collection reports issued by the collection agencies 
were agreed between the collection agencies and DDM’s 
collection managers.

•We tested a sample of collections received to validate that 
collections are correctly recognized.

•We tested on a sample basis that cash settlements were 
in accordance with collection reports.
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•We performed testing of the IT environment. We focused 
on IT general controls, especially for the asset manage-
ment system (ITGC and application controls).

Based on our audit procedures, we agree with manage-
ment’s assessment the revenue on invested assets is in 
line with the Group’s accounting policy.

Valuation of Goodwill 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our focus for testing the Goodwill was due to the significant 
increase in the year as a result of the acquisition of 51% of 
AxFina Holding S.A. by DDM Debt AB, generating an addi-
tional EUR 11 million in Goodwill, leading to a total consoli-
dated Goodwill balance of EUR 15 million.

The Group discloses relevant Goodwill disclosures in note 
3 Summary of significant accounting policies and note 22
Goodwill.

Our audit approach included, among others, an assess-
ment of the Management’s assumptions for the valuation of 
the initial goodwill generated by the business combination 
and the assumptions used in the impairment test of the 
goodwill. This includes mainly the following procedures:

•We reviewed the initial recognition of the transaction by 
inspecting the acquisition documents, and reviewed the 
valuation support for the acquired shares.

•We challenged management through substantive review 
of the business plan, including budget and liquidity plan, 
as the valuation of the invested assets is highly depend-
ent on the business plan and the investing activities of the 
DDM group.

•We reviewed and challenged the valuation assessment 
prepared by management and performed our own inde-
pendent a market-based approach to assess for any indi-
cations of impairment. 

Based on our audit procedures performed, we agree with 
management’s assessment and judgement applied for the 
valuation of the Goodwill.

Other information
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements, the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Board of Directors' responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, which give a true and 
fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors 
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determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group's ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Swiss law, ISAs and SA-CH will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influ-
ence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment and maintain pro-
fessional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrep-
resentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropri-
ate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal 
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and re-
lated disclosures made.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty ex-
ists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evi-
dence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclo-
sures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a man-
ner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safe-
guards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
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our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists 
which has been designed for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the 
Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Valentin Studer Louise Packer

Licensed audit expert
Auditor in charge

Licensed audit expert

Luzern, 28 April 2023
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INCOME STATEMENT 
DDM HOLDING AG, ZUG 

For the year ended 31 December 
Amounts in ‘000s  

2022 
EUR 

2022 
CHF 

2021 
EUR 

2021 
CHF 

Operating income     650    656    650    705 
      
Consulting expenses  (302) (305) (356) (386) 

Personnel expenses  (289) (292) (469) (509) 

Other operating expenses  (163) (164) (169) (184) 

Operating loss  (104) (105) (344) (374) 
      

Financial income     106    107 19 21 

Financial expenses  (127) (128) (47) (51) 

Loss before taxes  (125) (126) (372) (404) 
      

Direct taxes  (46) (47) (26) (28) 

Net loss for the year  (171) (173) (398) (432) 
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BALANCE SHEET  
DDM HOLDING AG, ZUG 

As at 31 December 
Amounts in ‘000s 

2022 
EUR 

2022 
CHF 

2021 
EUR 

2021 
CHF 

ASSETS     
   Current assets     
   Cash and cash equivalents    9 9    23 24 

   Receivables from direct / indirect investments    15 15    195    202 

   Other current receivables ─ ─ ─ ─ 

   Accrued income and prepaid expenses     

      due from direct / indirect investments    217 213    163    168 

      due from third parties    516 508    503    519 

   Total current assets    757    745    884    913 
     
   Non-current assets     

   Financial assets     

      Loans to direct / indirect investments   1,857   1,828   2,475   2,556 

      Loans to direct / indirect investments (subordinated)   5,267   6,148   5,267   6,148 

   Investments    27,673   31,188   27,673   31,188 

   Total non-current assets   34,797   39,164   35,415     39,892 
     

TOTAL ASSETS   35,554   39,909   36,299     40,805 

     
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

   Short-term liabilities     

   Trade payables    86    85    110 114 

   Accrued expenses and deferred income     

      due to third parties    215    210    765    788 

   Total short-term liabilities    301    295    875    902 
     

   Total liabilities   875 902 
     

   Shareholders’ equity     

   Share capital   11,780   13,560   11,780   13,560 

   Legal reserves     

      Reserves from capital contribution   20,993   24,171   20,993   24,171 

   Statutory retained earnings    167    191    167 191 

   Exchange variation reserve ─ (1,002) ─ (886) 

   Profit brought forward   2,484   2,867   2,882   3,299 

   (Loss) for the year (171) (173) (398) (432) 

   Total shareholders’ equity     35,253   39,614   35,424     39,903 
     

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   35,554   39,909   36,299     40,805 
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NOTE 1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
DDM Holding AG is incorporated and domiciled in Switzerland. Its registered office is at Landis & Gyr Strasse 1, CH-6300 Zug, Switzerland. DDM Holding 
AG operates under the Swiss Code of Obligations (“CO”) as a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft). DDM Holding AG’s shares are admitted to trading on 
a multilateral trading facility, the Nasdaq First North Growth Market in Stockholm, Sweden. The purpose of the corporation is to acquire, hold, administrate, 
finance and sell participations in enterprises in Switzerland and abroad. The DDM group operates as a specialized multinational investor in situations arising 
out of the general strategic challenges in the European banking markets.  
 
 
NOTE 2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES APPLIED IN THE PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The DDM Holding AG standalone financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of commercial accounting as set out in the 
Swiss Code of Obligations (Art. 957 to 963b CO). Where not prescribed by law, the significant accounting and valuation principles applied are described 
below. 
 
Dispensations in the standalone financial statements 
As DDM Holding AG prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with a recognized financial reporting standard (International Financial 
Reporting Standard, IFRS) DDM Holding AG is exempt from various disclosures in the standalone financial statements and therefore dispensed with the 
requirement to present the additional information in the notes, the cash flow statement and the management report (article 961d para 2 Swiss CO). 
 
Foreign currencies 
As the majority of the business activities of DDM Holding AG is in euro, the functional currency is the euro. The exchange rates used for balance sheet 
items are the rates prevailing on 31 December; the exchange rates used for transactions conducted during the course of the year and for items in the profit 
and loss statement are average rates for the respective financial year. Equity, participations and subordinated loans are translated at historical rates.  
 
The following exchange rates were applied: 
  

Exchange rates  
31 December 

2022 
31 December 

2021 

Balance sheet (spot rate balance sheet date) EUR/CHF 0.9847 1.0331 

Income statement (average rate) EUR/CHF 1.0086 1.0847 
 
Financial assets 
Financial assets include loans to direct and indirect investments within the DDM group with a long-term holding period. Financial assets are measured at 
cost less impairment. 
On 31 March 2021 DDM Holding AG and its directly and indirectly held subsidiaries DDM Group AG, DDM Finance AB, DDM Debt AB (publ) and DDM 
Invest III AG entered into an agreement where the Loans to direct / indirect investments (subordinated) of EUR 20,861k were released and contributed to 
DDM Finance AB and, accordingly, reclassified under Investments. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are equity interests which are held for the purpose of DDM Holding AG’s business activities. They include all directly held 
subsidiaries through which DDM conducts its business. The investments are measured individually and carried at cost less impairment. 
 
Operating income 
Income relating to management services provided to its subsidiaries is recognized in operating income in the period in which it occurred. 
 
 
NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY PARTICIPATIONS 
 
Directly held equity participations as of 31 December: 

Company 
Corporate identity 
number 

 
Registered office Primary business 

2022 
Share capital 
(CHF ‘000s) 

2022 
Interest 

2021 
Share capital 
(CHF ‘000s) 

2021 
Interest 

DDM Group AG CHE 115.278.533 Zug (CH) Business operation 232 100% 232 100% 
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY PARTICIPATIONS… continued 
 
Indirectly held equity participations as of 31 December: 

Company 
Corporate identity 
number 

 
Registered office Primary business 

2022 
Share capital 
(CHF ‘000s) 

2022 
Interest 

2021 
Share capital 
(CHF ‘000s) 

2021 
Interest 

DDM Invest III AG CHE 115.238.947 Zug (CH) Investment activities 150 100% 150 100% 

DDM Finance AB 1) 559053-6214 Stockholm (SE) Holding company 6 100% 6 100% 

DDM Debt AB 2) 559053-6230 Stockholm (SE) Provision of funding 59 100% 59 100% 

DDM Invest V d.o.o. 3) 8297355000 Ljubljana (SL) Investment activities 8 100% 8 100% 

DDM Invest VII d.o.o. 4) 7109806000 Ljubljana (SL) Investment activities 8 100% 8 100% 
DDM Debt Management d.o.o 
Beograd 5) 

21313963 Belgrade (RS) Investment activities ─ 100% ─ 100% 

DDM Debt Romania S.R.L6) 39689815 Bucharest (RO) Investment activities 123 100% 123 100% 

DDM REO Adria d.o.o. 7) 05288215 Croatia (HR) Investment activities 3 100% 3 100% 

CE Partner S.a.r.l. 8) B230176 Luxembourg (LUX) Investment activities 14 50% 14 50% 

CE Holding Invest S.C.S 9) B230358 Luxembourg (LUX) Investment activities 29,825 49.99% 65,338 49.99% 

Finalp Zrt. 10) 06-10-000554 Szeged (HU) Leasing activities 355 100% 355 100% 

AxFina Hungary Zrt.. 11)  06-10-000062 Szeged (HU) Leasing activities 346 50.7% 346 1% 

Lombard Ingatlan Lízing Zrt. 11) 06-10-000319 Szeged (HU) Leasing activities 270 50.7% ─ 1% 

AxFina Servicing Kft. 11)  06-09-004809 Szeged (HU) Leasing activities 370 50.7% ─ 1% 

DDM Mergeco AG CHE-353.292.452 Zug (CH) Investment activities 100 100% 100 100% 

AxFina Holding S.A 12) B239375 Luxembourg (LUX) Holding company 39 50.2% ─ ─ 

AxFina Romania S.R.L 13) J40/15826/2021 Bucharest (RO) Investment activities 99 50.2% ─ ─ 

AxFina Austria GmbH 14) FN513105t Vienna (AT) Investment activities 34 50.2% ─ ─ 

AxFina Croatia d.o.o. 15) 81136498 Zagreb (HR) Investment activities 3 50.2% ─ ─ 

AxFina d.o.o.  16) 8458367000 Ljubljana (SL) Investment activities 7 50.2% ─ ─ 

Raport S.A. 171) 0000192029 Koszalin (PL) Investment activities 263 50.2% ─ ─ 
 

1) The share capital of DDM Finance AB is EUR 6k.  
2) The share capital of DDM Debt AB is EUR 54k.  
3) The share capital of DDM Invest V d.o.o. is EUR 8k. 
4) The share capital of DDM Invest VII d.o.o. is EUR 8k.  
5) The share capital of DDM Debt Management d.o.o Beograd is RSD 100.  
6) The share capital of DDM Debt Romania S.R.L is RON 500k. 
7) The share capital of DDM REO Adria d.o.o. is HRK 20k. 
8) The share capital of CE Partner S.a.r.l. is EUR 12k. 
9) The share capital of CE Holding Invest S.C.S was EUR 30,287k at 31 December 2022. 
10) The share capital of Finalp Zrt. is HUF 101,000k. 
11) The share capital of Lombard Pénzügyi és Lízing Zrt. is HUF 110,883k. Lombard Ingatlan  

Lízing Zrt. and Lombard Bérlet Kft. are 100% directly-held subsidiaries of Lombard Pénzügyi és Lízing Zrt. 
12) The share capital of AxFina Holding S.A is EUR 40k. 
13) The share capital of AxFina Romania S.R.L is RON 500k. 
14) The share capital of AxFina Austria GmbH is EUR 35k. 
15) The share capital of AxFina Croatia d.o.o is HRK 20k. 
16) The share capital of AxFina d.o.o. is EUR 7.5k. 
17) The share capital of Raport S.A is PLN 1,250k. 

 
 
NOTE 4. PERSONNEL 
DDM Holding AG had no employees as of and during the year ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 0). All employees of the consolidated DDM 
group were employed by subsidiaries of DDM Holding AG. 
 
 
NOTE 5. CONTINGENT LIABLITIES 
DDM Holding AG is jointly and severally liable for the value added tax (VAT) liability of the Swiss subsidiaries (DDM Group AG and DDM Invest III AG) that 
belong to its VAT group.  
 
 
NOTE 6. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
There were no significant events occurring after the balance sheet date. 
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PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF THE AVAILABLE EARNINGS 
The Board of Directors proposes the following appropriation to the shareholders: 

 2022 2021 
Amounts in ‘000s EUR CHF EUR CHF 

Net loss for the year (171) (173) (398) (432) 

Retained profit carried forward 2,484 2,867 2,882 3,299 

Amount at the disposal of the shareholders 2,313 2,694 2,484 2,867 

     
Proposal     

Allocation to statutory retained earnings  ─ ─ ─ ─ 

     

To be carried forward 2,313 2,694 2,484 2,867 
 
 
DDM Holding AG is in a phase in which exploring identified opportunities for growth is prioritized. Consequently, the Board of Directors proposes that no 
dividend be paid for the financial year 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

  
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Robert-Zünd-Strasse 2, Postfach, 6002 Luzern, Switzerland 
Telefon: +41 58 792 62 00, www.pwc.ch 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of DDM Holding AG  

Zug, Switzerland 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of DDM Holding AG (the Company), which comprise the income statement for 
the year ended 31 December 2022, the balance sheet as at 31 December 2022, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements (pg. 69 to 74) comply with Swiss law and the Company’s articles 
of incorporation.  

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities 
under those provisions and standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements' section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law 
and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our audit approach 

Overview Overall materiality: EUR 355'500 

 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable 
us to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into ac-
count the structure of the Company, the accounting processes and controls, 
and the industry in which the Company operates. 

As key audit matter the following area of focus has been identified: 

 Valuation of the investments, including loans 

Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or 
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error. They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative consider-
ations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to 
evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall materiality EUR 355'500

Benchmark applied Total assets

Rationale for the materiality bench-
mark applied

We chose total assets as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the most 
appropriate benchmark for a holding company which has limited operating ac-
tivities and which holds mainly investments in subsidiaries and intragroup 
loans.

We agreed with the Board of Directors that we would report to them misstatements above EUR 35'500 identified during 
our audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Audit scope
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial state-
ments. In particular, we considered where subjective judgements were made; for example, in respect of significant ac-
counting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in 
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the fi-
nancial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial state-
ments as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of the investments, including loans

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The purpose of DDM Holding AG is to hold the group com-
panies of DDM. The investments including loans contain 
the following positions in the balance sheet: 

Loans to direct/indirect investments, 
Loans to direct/indirect investments (subordinated), 
and 
Investments.

The direct and indirect investments held by DDM Holding 
AG are listed in note 3 to the financial statements. Invest-
ments including the loans are measured at cost less im-
pairment (carrying value) according to the accounting prin-
ciples disclosed in note 2. Impairment is recognized when 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 
Management uses judgement when determining the recov-
erable amount of the investment units. This judgement re-
lates to the estimation of the future cash flows of the in-
vested assets held by the investment units. As the invest-
ments basically only contain the invested assets, these are 
the relevant key drivers for the value of these investment 

Our focus for testing the investments including the loans 
was the invested assets held by the investment units, as 
the invested assets are the key driver for the value of the 
investments and include significant management judge-
ment. We therefore tested that the carrying value of the in-
vestments including loans does not exceed the values of 
the invested assets as determined in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements applying IFRS. We considered our audit
procedures performed concerning the valuation of the in-
vested assets in the consolidated financial statements to 
assess the recoverable amount of these invested assets.

In doing the above procedures we particularly challenged 
management through substantive review of the business 
plan, including business plan and liquidity plan, as the valu-
ation of the invested assets is highly dependent on the 
business plan and the investing activities of the DDM 
group.



4  DDM Holding AG  |  Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting

units. Due to the size and the applied management's’ 
judgement, the investments including the loans, are consid-
ered a key audit matter as the amount of EUR 35.4 million
represents 98% of the total assets.

Based on our audit procedures performed, we agree with 
management’s assessment and judgement applied for the 
valuation of the investments including loans.

Other information
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, financial statements and our auditor’s 
reports thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assur-
ance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge ob-
tained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Board of Directors' responsibilities for the financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to con-
tinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from ma-
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and 
SA-CH will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic de-
cisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgment and maintain profes-
sional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, de-
sign and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropri-
ate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropri-
ate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's in-
ternal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and re-
lated disclosures made.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
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significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence ob-
tained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safe-
guards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists 
which has been designed for the preparation of the financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of 
Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of the available earnings complies with Swiss law and the Company’s 
articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Valentin Studer Louise Packer

Licensed audit expert
Auditor in charge

Licensed audit expert

Luzern, 28 April 2023

L i P kValentin Studer



   
                                                                 

 
DDM Holding AG   |   CHE-115906312   |   Annual Report 2022    

79 
 

 

THREE-YEAR OVERVIEW 
For the year ended 31 December 
Amounts in EUR ‘000s 

2022 2021 2020 

Consolidated income statement summary    

Adjusted gross collections* 71,896 61,746 123,287 

Collection and commission expenses (9,569) (11,645) (8,594) 

Adjusted net collections** 62,327 50,101 114,693 

Other operating income – – – 

Revenue from management fees and other services 605 100 74 

Operating expenses*** (12,308) (11,275) (12,604) 

Adjusted cash EBITDA** 50,624 38,926 102,163 

Amortization, revaluation and impairment of invested assets (22,263) (18,292) (69,473) 

Operating profit  17,325 13,664 28,215 

Net (loss) / profit for the year**** (5,023) (6,828) 9,140 

Adjusted net (loss) / profit for the year**** (5,023) (2,917) 9,140 

    

Earnings per share before and after dilution (EUR) (0.37) (0.50) 0.67 

    

Consolidated balance sheet summary    

Total assets 253,666 248,194 195,525 

Net debt 155,520 135,809 106,786 
    

Selected key ratios    
Cash flow from operating activities before working capital changes 26,954 22,179 90,087 

Cash investments net of financing in invested assets (35,367) 39,464 33,310 

Gross ERC 120 months, EUR M 284 299 258 

Number of shares outstanding at end of the year 13,560,447 13,560,447 13,560,447 

Number of employees at end of the year 174 11 65 
 
*   Adjusted gross collections includes the incremental gross distribution from associate and joint venture and distributions from financial assets at fair value. 
See alternative performance measures on page 80. 
**    Adjusted net collections and adjusted cash EBITDA include the incremental net distribution from associate and joint venture and distributions from financial 

assets at fair value. See alternative performance measures on page 80. 
***  Operating expenses do not include depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets. 
****  The bond refinancing in 2021 resulting in total negative non-recurring items of approximately EUR 3.9M. See alternative performance measures on page 
80.  
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
Alternative performance measures – reconciliation to IFRS:  

For the year ended 31 December 
Amounts in EUR ‘000s 

 
 

2022 2021 

Gross collections   45,715 45,185 
Incremental gross distribution from associate and joint venture   22,788 15,563 
Distributions from financial assets at fair value   3,393 998 
Adjusted gross collections   71,896 61,746 
     
Net collections   40,339 38,894 
Incremental net distribution from associate and joint venture   18,595 10,209 
Distributions from financial assets at fair value   3,393 998 
Adjusted net collections   62,327 50,101 
 
Cash EBITDA   28,636 27,719 
Incremental net distribution from associate and joint venture   18,595 10,209 
Distributions from financial assets at fair value   3,393 998 
Adjusted cash EBITDA   50,624 38,926 
 
Net (loss) / profit for the year   (5,023) (6,828) 
Non-recurring items bond refinancing   – 3,911 
Adjusted net (loss) / profit for the year   (5,023) (2,917) 

 

The financial statements of DDM have been prepared in accordance with accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements 
comply with IFRS as adopted by the EU. In addition, DDM presents alternative performance measures (“APMs”). Adjusted key figures for gross collections, 
net collections, cash EBITDA and net (loss) / profit for the year provide a better understanding of the underlying business performance and enhance 
comparability from year to year, when the effect of items affecting comparability are adjusted for. Items affecting comparability can include one-time costs not 
affecting the Company’s run rate cost level, significant earnings effects from acquisitions and disposals of invested assets and incremental net distributions 
from joint ventures. 

These measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore are unlikely to be comparable to the calculation of similar measures 
used by other companies. The APMs are regularly reviewed by Management and their aim is to enhance stakeholders’ understanding of the Company’s 
performance and to enhance comparability between financial years. The APMs are reported in addition to but are not substitutes for the financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. The APMs provide a basis to evaluate operating profitability and performance trends, excluding the impact of items which 
in the opinion of Management, distort the evaluation of the performance of our operations. 

The APMs also provide measures commonly reported and widely used by investors as an indicator of the Company’s operating performance and as a 
valuation metric of debt purchasing companies. Furthermore, APMs are also relevant when assessing our ability to incur and service debt. APMs are defined 
consistently over time and are based on the financial data presented in accordance with IFRS. 
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GLOSSARY 
AGM 
Annual General Meeting 

BN 
Billion 

CAGR 
Compound annual growth rate 

Certified Adviser 
All companies with shares traded on 
Nasdaq First North Growth Market have a 
Certified Adviser that monitors the 
companies’ compliance with the rules and 
regulations of First North Growth Market 
concerning disclosure of information to the 
market and investors 

CHF 
Swiss franc, the currency of Switzerland 

Computershare Schweiz 
Swiss service provider, Computershare 
Schweiz AG, takes care of post-trade 
processes ranging from clearing and 
settlement through to securities custody, 
and maintains share registers and special 
registers 

CZK 
Czech koruna, the currency of the Czech 
Republic 
 

 
DCA 
Debt collection agency 

DDM, the Company or the Group 
DDM Holding AG, reg. no. CHE-
115906312, and its subsidiaries  

EUR 
Refer to the single currency of the 
participating member states in the Third 
Stage of European Economic and 
Monetary Union of the Treaty Establishing 
the European Community, as amended 
from time to time 

Euroclear 
Euroclear Sweden AB, reg. no. 556112-
8074 

First North Growth Market 
Nasdaq First North Growth Market, 
Stockholm 

FUSION 
DDM’s proprietary IT system, which 
integrates investment data, case data, 
payment data and activity data into one 
effective and comprehensive IT system 

HRK 
Croatian Kuna, the currency of Croatia 

 

 

HUF 
Hungarian forint, the currency of 
Hungary 

M 
Million 

NPL 
Non-performing loans 

PARENT COMPANY 
DDM Holding AG, CHE-115906312 

PLN 
Polish Zloty, the currency of Poland 

RON 
Romanian leu, the currency of Romania 

RSD 
Serbian dinar, the currency of Serbia 

SEK 
Swedish krona, the currency of Sweden 

Southern, Central and Eastern 
Europe (“SCEE”) 
The countries in EuroVoc’s definition of 
CEE, plus Greece, Italy and the Baltic 
states 

USD 
U.S. dollar, the currency of the United 
States 

FINANCIAL DEFINITIONS 
 

Amortization of invested assets  
The carrying value of invested assets are 
amortized over time according to the effective 
interest rate method 

Cash EBITDA 
Net collections and revenue from management 
fees, less operating expenses  

Earnings per share 
Net earnings for the period, attributable to the 
owners of the Parent Company, divided by  
the average number of shares during the period 

EBIT 
Earnings before interest and taxes 

EBITDA 
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation  
of fixed assets as well as amortization, 
revaluation and impairment of invested assets 

EBIT margin 
EBIT as a percentage of revenue on invested 
assets, revenue from management fees and 
share of net profits / (losses) of joint ventures 
and associates 

Estimated Remaining Collections / ERC 
The sum of future, undiscounted projected cash 
collections before commission and fees from 
acquired portfolios and future reasonably 
expected dividends, distributions or other 
payments from investments, in each case for 

 

the next following 120 months, either 
directly or as a result of any rights to 
collect or any rights to participate in 
amounts generated from portfolios or 
investments. This includes the Group's 
share of proceeds on all portfolios 
purchased or other investments made, 
however adjusted for any profit-sharing 
arrangements entered into by any 
member of the Group and where available 
the market value of any portfolio acquired 
or investment made. 

Equity 
Shareholders’ equity at the end of the 
period 

Equity ratio 
Equity as a percentage of total assets 

Impairment of invested assets  
Invested assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and impaired if there is 
objective evidence that one or more 
events have taken place that will have a 
negative impact on the amount of future 
cash flows 

Invested assets  
DDM’s invested assets consist of 
purchases of distressed asset portfolios, 
other long-term receivables from 
investments, investments in joint ventures 
and associates 

 

 
 
 
 

Net collections  
Gross collections from Portfolios held by 
the Group less commission and 
collection fees to third parties (but if 
such Portfolios are partly owned, only 
taking into consideration such Group 
Company's pro rata share of the gross 
collections and commission and fees) 

Net debt 
Long-term and short-term loans, 
liabilities to credit institutions (bank 
overdrafts) less cash and cash 
equivalents 

Non-recurring items 
One-time costs not affecting the 
Company’s run rate cost level 

Operating expenses 
Personnel, consulting and other 
operating expenses 

Revaluation of invested assets  
Invested assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and revalued if there is 
objective evidence that one or more 
events have taken place that will have a 
positive impact on the timing or amount 
of future cash flows, or a negative 
impact on the timing of future cash flows 
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SPECIALIZED MULTINATIONAL INVESTOR 
IN SITUATIONS ARISING OUT OF THE 

GENERAL STRATEGIC CHALLENGES IN 
THE EUROPEAN BANKING MARKETS 

DDM Holding AG 
Landis & Gyr Strasse 1 

CH-6300 Zug 
Switzerland 

Tel: +41 41766 1420 
www.ddm-group.ch 

DDM Holding AG (First North Growth Market: DDM) is a specialized 
multinational investor in situations arising out of the general strategic 
challenges in the European banking markets. This includes investments into 
assets and companies previously held by financial institutions, including 
performing and non-performing loans and special situations. DDM strives to 
create value for its stakeholders by combining significant expertise in financial 
services, credit underwriting and technology with a focus on operational 
excellence.  
 
DDM Holding AG, the Parent Company, is a company incorporated and 
domiciled in Zug, Switzerland, was founded in 2007 and has been listed on 
Nasdaq First North Growth Market in Stockholm, Sweden, since August 2014.  
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